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The cover design of this year's Comprehensive Annual
Financial Report is inspired by the City of San José’s
Clean Energy program (SJCE), which reached its first
anniversary during the fiscal year ended June 30,
2019. At the November 6, 2018 City Council meeting,
Council approved the launch of power services to San
José residents and businesses that included 45%
renewable power from wind, solar, geothermal, and
small hydroelectric facilities, and 35% carbon-free
power from large hydroelectric power plants, for a total
of 80% carbon-free power. Citywide services to homes
and businesses began in February 2019. To meet San
José customers’ increased demand for renewable
energy, reaching 2,000 GWh annually by 2022, SICE
currently buys power from existing power plants. In
August 2019, SJICE executed its first long-term power
purchasing agreement (PPA) to build new renewable
energy sources dedicated to serve SJCE customers.

The main photo features the City of San José Central
Service Yard with solar panels. The solar panels are
leased from SunEdison and generate approximately
1,250,000 kWh annually.

The featured facilities are as follows:

A— City of San José Central Service Yard solar
panels

B - Interim gates at the Mineta San José
International Airport

C - Second Street Studios — Project funded by a
unique private-public partnership between
nonprofits, government, and local
corporations. The project provides 134 units for
individuals transitioning from homelessness by
including additional support services, like case
management, medical care, and behavioral
health services. (photo taken by Bernard Andre)

D - City of San José Department of Transportation -
Street works and repairs

These facilities demonstrate the City’s commitment to
ensuring sustainable production of the renewable
energy, promoting low income housing and
maintenance of critical City infrastructure, which are all
essential components of San José’s vision.

More information about the City of San José is
available on the City’s website at the following URL:
http.//www.sanjoseca.gov
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November 14, 2019

HONORABLE MAYOR and CITY COUNCIL

THE COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL
REPORT OF THE CITY OF SAN JOSE

We are pleased to present the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (“CAFR”) of the City of San José
(“City”) for the fiscal year July 1, 2018 through June 30, 2019 as required by Sections 805(a) and 1215 of
the City Charter. Although submitted to the Mayor and City Council (“Council”’) for consideration, the
CAFR is also intended to provide relevant financial information to the residents of San José, taxpayers,
creditors, investors, and other interested parties.

This letter of transmittal provides a non-technical summary of City finances, services, achievements, and
economic prospects. We ask that readers who wish a more detailed discussion of the City’s financial
results refer to Management’s Discussion & Analysis contained in the Financial Section of the CAFR.

The City Administration is responsible for the accuracy of the information contained in this report, the
adequacy of its disclosures, and the fairness of its presentation. We believe this CAFR to be complete
and reliable in all material respects. To provide a reasonable basis for making this representation, we
have established a comprehensive system of internal controls designed to protect City assets from loss,
to identify and record transactions accurately, and to compile the information necessary to produce
financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

The City contracted with Macias Gini & O’Connell LLP, a firm of Certified Public Accountants licensed to
practice in the State of California, to perform the annual independent audit. The auditors expressed an
opinion that the City’s financial statements for Fiscal Year 2018-2019 are fairly stated in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. This is the most favorable conclusion and
is commonly known as an “unmodified” or “clean” opinion. The independent auditor's report is included in
the Financial Section of this report.

In addition, Macias Gini & O’Connell LLP performs an audit of the City’s major program expenditures of
federal funds for compliance with the requirements described in the U.S. Office of Management and
Budget’'s OMB Compliance Supplement, and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in
Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. The report of the
Single Audit is published separately from this CAFR, and when completed, can be obtained from the City
of San José’s website at http://www.sanjoseca.gov.

200 East Santa Clara Street San José, CA 95113 tel (408)535-8100 fax (408) 920-7007 www.sanjoseca.gov
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Letter of Transmittal

This CAFR is organized into three sections:

e The Introductory Section is intended to familiarize the reader with the organizational
structure of the City, the nature and scope of City services, and specifics of the City’s legal
operating environment.

e The Financial Section includes Management’s Discussion & Analysis, Basic Financial
Statements, Notes to Basic Financial Statements, Required Supplementary Information,
and other Supplemental Information. The Basic Financial Statements include the
government-wide financial statements that present an overview of the City’s entire financial
operations and the fund financial statements that present financial information for each of
the City’s major funds, governmental funds, as well as enterprise funds, internal service
funds, and fiduciary funds. This section also contains the independent auditor’s report on
the Basic Financial Statements.

o The Statistical Section presents up to ten years of detailed statistical data on the City’s
financial trends, revenue capacity, debt capacity, demographic and economic information,
and operating information as a context to the information presented in the financial
statements and note disclosures.

REPORTING ENTITY

San José is a charter city that has operated under a council-manager form of government since 1916.
Under the City Charter, the Mayor and Council form the legislative body that represents the community and
is empowered to formulate citywide policy. The Council consists of a Mayor and ten Council members. The
Mayor is elected at large for a four-year term and the Council members are elected by district for staggered
four-year terms. The Mayor and Council members are limited to two consecutive four-year terms. Under
the Charter, the Mayor recommends policy, program, and budget priorities to the Council, which in turn
approves policy direction for the City. The City Manager is appointed by the Council and serves as the chief
administrative officer of the organization responsible for the administration of City affairs, day-to-day
operations, and implementation of Council policies. In addition to the City Manager, the City Attorney, City
Clerk, City Auditor, and Independent Police Auditor are appointed by and report directly to the Council.

The City Charter provides that the boards of administration for each of the City’s retirement plans, the
Federated City Employees’ Retirement System and the Police and Fire Department Retirement Plan, hire
and prescribe the duties of the chief executive officer and chief investment officer within the Office of
Retirement Services who serve at the pleasure of the retirement boards. The City Charter also specifies
certain duties and obligations of each retirement board and authorizes the chief executive officer to hire
and oversee the Office of Retirement Services’ employees, subject to any applicable Civil Service Rules.

The City provides a range of municipal services, including police and fire protection, sanitation services,
environmental management, maintenance of streets and infrastructure, and the administration of library
services, recreational activities, cultural facilities, and San José Clean Energy (SJCE) program. The City
operates a parking program, a municipal water system, a wastewater treatment facility, the Mineta San
José International Airport, and three municipal golf courses. In addition, the City provides an oversight in
the management of convention, cultural event and hospitality facilities that include the San José McEnery
Convention Center, Center for the Performing Arts, California Theatre, Mexican Heritage Plaza, Ice Centre,
and the SAP Center at San José — home of the San Jose Sharks of the National Hockey League.
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The City organization is structured into six City Service Areas (“CSAs”) that integrate services provided by
separate departments and offices into key alignments from the community’s perspective. The CSAs are:

Community and Economic Development. The goal of the Community and Economic
Development CSA is to develop and strengthen the community’s economy, nurture a safe,
attractive, and vital community; and encourage a broad range of housing options.

Environmental and Utility Services: The Environmental and Utility Services CSA encompasses
a range of services and projects related to waste and recycling management; water supply
management including administering clean drinking water, recycled water, watershed protection,
and wastewater treatment; energy initiatives to protect the environment and quality of life in the
community, and the San José Clean Energy (SJCE), which is the newest enterprise established in
FY 2018 to account for the revenues from the sale of electricity and the costs associated with the
San José Clean Energy Program.

Neighborhood Services: The goal of the Neighborhood Services CSA is to provide services to
residents and neighborhoods with the common goal of fostering healthy, vibrant, engaged, and
secure neighborhoods. These connections build capable communities and the quality of life that
make San José a desirable place to live. This means that residents have access to nearby parks,
trails, sports fields, community centers, libraries, and a diverse range of recreational and learning
opportunities.

Public Safety: The goal of the Public Safety CSA is to maintain the safety of the residents
throughout the City by keeping crimes rates down, reducing and investigating crimes, continuing to
attract businesses, and maintaining a vibrant, safe community for residents. Although Police and
Fire services constitute the bulk of City’s investment in public safety, other departments and
programs also contribute to the safety of the community.

Transportation and Aviation Services: The Transportation and Aviation Services CSA supports
the planning, development, and operation of efficient transportation services that serve the people
and economy of San José and Silicon Valley. Transportation and aviation infrastructure and
services provide an important resource to support the community’s livability and economy, along
with the City’s economic development efforts.

Strategic Support. The overall ability of the City to provide quality and effective services depends

on strategic support services, such as finance, human resources, information technology, and
public works, to ensure consistency and efficiency throughout all City departments.
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San José is the oldest city in California, developing from a Spanish pueblo established in 1777. Situated
between the Diablo and Santa Cruz mountain ranges, San José encompasses approximately 181 square
miles at the south end of the San Francisco Bay and is the county seat of Santa Clara County. San José’s
central location between San Francisco to the north and Monterey/Carmel to the south makes the “Capital
of Silicon Valley” a gateway to adventures throughout California. With a 2019 estimated population of
1,043,058, it is the third most populous city in California and the tenth most populous in the United States.

The June 2019 employment level in the San José-Sunnyvale-Santa Clara Metropolitan Statistical Area (San
José MSA) of 1.17 million was 2.4% higher than the June 2018 level of 1.14 million, representing an
increase of 27,500 jobs. This includes 9,000 jobs in the information sector, 7,200 manufacturing jobs
(primarily computer and electronic product manufacturing), 2,800 government jobs, 2,700 jobs in
professional business services, and 2,500 private education and health services jobs.?

The City has transformed dramatically from the rich agricultural setting of its early years into the largest city
in the Silicon Valley. Silicon Valley is a region in the Southern San Francisco Bay Area of Northern
California which serves as a global center of high technology, innovation, and social media. It corresponds
roughly to the geographical Santa Clara Valley. The San José MSA in the Silicon Valley has a large
concentration of high-tech employment with 330,700 workers out of a total civilian employment level of 1.17
million.? Silicon Valley is home to many of the world’s largest technology companies and is a global center
of technology innovation. Commercial, retail, professional, high-tech manufacturing, electronic assembly,
and service businesses all have a presence in San José. On the international front, San José attracts
significant foreign investment from throughout the globe.

Service providers account for approximately 80 percent? of the employment in the San José MSA with the
majority of employment related to professional and business services, education and health services,
information technology, government, and retail. In addition, durable goods manufacturing, primarily
computer equipment, semiconductor components, and electronic instruments, account for approximately
20 percent? of the MSA employment.

The CAFR includes all funds of the City, as well as all governmental organizations and activities for which
the Council has financial accountability. These organizations include the San José-Santa Clara Clean
Water Financing Authority, the City of San José Financing Authority, and the Successor Agency to the
Redevelopment Agency of the City of San José.

1 State of California, Department of Finance, E-1 Population Estimates for Cities, Counties, and State with Annual Percentage
Change — January 1, 2018 and 2019 (Released May 2019).
2 State of California, Employment Development Department Labor Market Information Division Press Release, July 19, 2019.



Letter of Transmittal

ECONOMIC CONDITION AND FISCAL OUTLOOK

The local, regional and state economies are all performing well. According to the State of California
Employment Development Department, Labor Market Information Division, the unemployment rate at the
local level remains low.

The state and local economies continue to have a diverse and favorable mix of businesses. Combined with
a favorable location (Pacific Rim), both are well positioned to benefit from future national growth. With low
unemployment and the Silicon Valley geographically well positioned, San José has been at the epicenter
of growth that presents both opportunities and challenges. The San Francisco/Bay Area continues to face
the challenges of housing and transportation which will be impediments to growth.

The unemployment rates at the local, state, and national levels have all continued to decline compared to
prior year and remain at very low levels. In June 2019, the unemployment rate of 2.7 percent for the San
José MSA was below the 2.9 percent experienced in June 2018. The San José MSA’s June 2019
unemployment rate continued to be lower than the unadjusted unemployment for the State (4.1 percent)
and the nation (3.8 percent)'.

Construction valuation in San José was strong in FY 2019 at $1.74 billion and showed slight increase from
$1.67 billion in FY 2018. The number of new residential dwelling unit permits issued in FY 2019 totaled
2,985. Construction activity in the residential category was lower than the previous year, while commercial
and industrial activity increased. Private construction activity is a driver for several development related
taxes and fees and is an indicator of future activity for several other categories, such as storm and sanitary
sewer system fees.

After seven years of year-over-year home price growth, the local real estate market is beginning to slow
down. According to data from the Santa Clara County Association of Realtors, the single-family home price
peaked at $1.30 million in May 2018 (which represented a 30 percent increase from the May 2017 home
price), but then began steadily decreasing. In addition, year-over-year median prices have steadily
decreased each month since November 2018, with drops ranging from 3 percent to 13 percent compared
to the prior year level. In June 2019, the median single-family home price totaled $1.15 million, which
represents a 6.5 percent decrease from the June 2018 price of $1.23 million, but is approximately 15
percent above the June 2017 price of $996,000. In addition to the median home prices dropping, the
number of property transfers (sales) has also continued to steadily decline. The total number of property
transfers that occurred through June 2019 has dropped 10 percent compared to the prior year. Lastly,
while single-family and multi-family dwellings are continuing to sell quickly, they are on the market longer
than the prior year. The average days-on-market for single-family and multi-family dwellings in June 2019
totaled 30 days, which is twice as long than the extremely low 15 days experienced in June 2018.

' State of California Employment Development Department Labor Market Information Division Press Release, July 19, 2019.
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Due to continued economic performance and other contributing factors, such as the sale of surplus
properties and processing issues experienced by the California Department of Tax and Fee Administration
(CDTFA) that resulted in FY 2018 Sales Tax revenue being distributed in FY 2019, General Fund revenues
in FY 2019 totaled $1.068 billion were $89.4 million or 9.1 percent higher than FY 2018 revenues of $978.8
million. Taxes and special assessments revenues increased by $43.4 million or 7.6 percent. The increase
was attributed to an increase of Property Taxes ($38.2 million) and Sales Taxes ($37.2 million).

The revenue categories that experienced the largest increases included: Sales Tax, Property Tax,
Licenses and Permits, Business Taxes and Other Revenue. This continued revenue growth and sustained
economic performance, coupled with forecasting and budget monitoring, allowed the City to maintain
service levels and also provide limited enhancements to service delivery in priority areas during FY
2019. This financial performance for FY 2019 will also be factored into the development of the FY 2021-
2025 General Fund Five-Year Financial Forecast scheduled for release in February 2020.

The City is expected to see a major transformation over the next decade with initiatives including the largest
regional transportation projects in the City’s history that can fundamentally change the way our residents
move around the City, next phase of the Airport expansion, the expanding operations of the San José Clean
Energy, the major rehabilitation of the Regional Wastewater Facility, improvement in broadband and other
digital connections, the transformation of the Downtown, and the continued effort to create more affordable
housing.

To focus on a variety of interdepartmental efforts which will span over multiple years, the Administration
identified eight enterprise priorities that align key elements of Council priorities and department work plans,
including: Emergency Management and Preparedness; Creating Housing and Preventing Homelessness;
Safe, Vibrant, and Inclusive Neighborhoods and Public Life; The Future of Downtown; Building the San
José of Tomorrow — Private Development Services; Smart, Sustainable and Reliable City; 215t Century
Infrastructure; Strategic Fiscal Positioning and Resource Deployment; and Powered by People.

The FY 2020 Adopted Budget includes investments across multiple funds that support enterprise priorities
and long-term major initiatives. These initiatives are also in alignment with the investment priorities
identified in the Mayor’'s March Budget Message for FY 2020, as approved by the City Council:

Homelessness and Housing

Public Safety and Disaster Preparedness
Environment

Innovation and Technology

Education and Our Youth

Community Engagement

Saving and Improving Fiscal Sustainability

The Adopted Operating Budget incorporates budget actions to focus on these investments priorities with
funding identified to address the direction in the Mayor’'s March and June Budget Messages.

The City Council adopted a balanced FY 2020 Budget on June 18, 2019. This marks the eighth consecutive
year that the operating budget did not include significant reductions in services, staffing, and compensation
to achieve a balanced budget. Given the availability of one-time funding and the modest funding made
available, the Adopted FY 2020 Budget follows City Council direction to focus on targeted, strategic
spending as well as savings for the future. The budget takes a multi-year approach with one-time funding
set aside in FY 2020 to address the projected General Fund shortfall in FY 2021. The Adopted Budget also
maintains existing service levels, enhances service delivery in limited areas, and invests in infrastructure
and technology. With limited resources, it is imperative that the City continues to innovate and leverage
resources to achieve its service delivery goals.

vi
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The City’s current general obligation credit ratings are Aa1/AA+/AA+ from Moody’s Investors Service
(“Moody’s”), Standard & Poor's (“S&P”), and Fitch Ratings (“Fitch”), respectively. These credit ratings have
remained the same from the prior year, and the third highest among the nation’s ten largest cities. The
ratings continue to reflect the diversity of the local economy anchored by a strong technology presence,
sound financial management, and prudent budgetary practice.

Moody's credit rating for the City of San José Financing Authority, lease revenue bond Series 2003A,
2006A, 2013A, and 2013B is Aaa. Moody’s rated the Series 2007A and 2011A lease revenue bonds at
Aa3. S&P and Fitch both have an underlying rating of AA for these bond series. The outlook from all the
three agencies is stable.

For the City of San José Airport Revenue Bonds, S&P currently has an underlying rating of A with stable
outlook, Moody’s currently has an underlying rating of A2 with stable outlook. Fitch upgraded the underlying
rating on Airport Revenue Bonds from A- with stable outlook, to A with a stable outlook on September 27,
2019.

Sewer revenue bonds issued by the San José-Santa Clara Clean Water Financing Authority have current
underlying ratings of AAA by S&P and Fitch, and a rating of Aa2 by Moody's. The outlook for all three
agencies is stable.

Successor Agency to the Redevelopment Agency of the City of San José (SARA)

Beginning July 1, 2018, pursuant to Health and Safety Code section 34179(j), the individual oversight
boards within Santa Clara County were combined into one county-wide oversight board (“Oversight
Board”). The Oversight Board as of July 1, 2018 is comprised of seven member representatives with one
member appointed by each of the following: County Board of Supervisors, the city selection committee
established pursuant to Section 50270 of the Government Code, the independent special district selection
committee established pursuant to Section 56332 of the Government Code, the County Superintendent of
Education, the Chancellor of the California Community Colleges, a public appointment made by the County
Board of Supervisors, and the recognized employee organization representing the largest number of
successor agency employees in the County. The Oversight Board is staffed by the County of Santa Clara
Auditor-Controller and tasks have been delegated among the County Finance Agency, the Office of the
County Executive, the Clerk of the Board of Supervisors, and Office of the County Counsel.

Total RPTTF revenue distributed by the County to the SARA in FY 2019 was $190,334,000 which was used
to pay debt service and debt related expenses on the Successor Agency Senior and Subordinate Tax
Allocation Bonds and other enforceable obligations. During the year ended June 30, 2019, the County
withheld $36,410,000 in RPTTF for payments of its current year’s pass-through payments.
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SIGNIFICANT COMMUNITY EVENTS AND SERVICE DELIVERY ACCOMPLISHMENTS

Community events and service delivery accomplishments for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, included
the following:

City of San José Clean Energy (SJCE)

In May 2017, City Council approved proceeding with the establishment of a San José Clean Energy (SJCE),
under a single jurisdiction model as a separate City department. At the August 8, 2017 City Council
meeting, Council approved Ordinance Number 29978 establishing San José Clean Energy and amending
Title 2 of the San José Municipal Code to add the Community Energy Department to the City of San José.
SJCE launched electric generation services to City accounts in September 2018.

On November 6, 2018, Council approved launching service to residents and businesses with 45%
renewable power from wind, solar, geothermal, and small hydroelectric facilities and 35% carbon-free
power from large hydroelectric power plants, for a total of 80% carbon-free power. Citywide service to
homes and business began in February 2019. To meet San José customers’ increased demand for
renewable energy, totaling 2,000 GWh annually by 2022, SJCE currently buys power from existing power
plants. SICE is currently negotiating its first long-term power purchasing agreement (PPA) to build new
renewable energy resources dedicated for SUCE customers.

Purchase of the San José Convention Center — South Hall

On October 10, 2018, through a competitive solicitation process, the SARA sold the South Hall Convention
Center property to the City for $47,000,000. The 4.4-acre site is located at 435 S. Market St. and is
distinctive for a huge blue tent that is the South Hall of the San José McEnery Convention Center. The
property had a net book value of $14,558,000 and the SARA recognized a gain of $32,428,000 after
transaction costs of $14,000. A portion of the proceeds were used to pay off the HUD loans totaling
$16,310,000 principal plus $82,000 of accrued interest. At the close of escrow, the remaining net sale
proceeds of $30,594,000 were remitted to the County Auditor-Controller and were subsequently distributed
to the appropriate local taxing entities per the Health and Safety Code. The City is in exploration phase of
a potential expansion of the existing convention center and other compatible uses on the site.

City of San José General Obligation (GO) Bonds

On November 6, 2018, the voters of San José approved ballot Measure T that authorized the issuance of
$650 million of GO bonds for disaster preparedness, public safety, and infrastructure projects. GO bonds
are secured by a pledge of the City to levy ad valorem property taxes without limitation of rate or amount
(except certain personal property which is taxable at limited rates). The ad valorem property tax levy is
calculated for each fiscal year to generate sufficient revenue to pay 100% of annual debt service net of
other available funding sources.

As of June 30, 2019, the City had issued $590 million GO bonds under prior voter authorizations Measure
O (2000), Measure P (2000) and Measure O (2002) with $323 million outstanding.

On July 25, 2019, after the close of the FY 2019, the City of San José issued $502 million of General
Obligation Bonds (“2019 GO Bonds”), to finance new projects and to refund all outstanding GO Bonds
under four separate authorizations:

e Measure T (approved by the voters on November 6, 2018 in the not-to-exceed amount of $650
million for the purpose of acquiring property for and constructing improvements in order to improve
emergency and disaster response, repair deteriorating bridges vulnerable to earthquakes, repave
streets and potholes in the worst condition, prevent flooding and water contamination including the
acquisition of land in the Coyote Valley for these purposes, and repair critical infrastructure);
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e Measure O (approved by the voters on November 7, 2000 in the not-to-exceed amount of
$211,790,000 for library projects);

e Measure P (approved by the voters on November 7, 2000 and in the not-to-exceed amount of
$228,030,000 for parks projects); and

e Measure O (approved by the voters on March 5, 2002 in the not-to-exceed amount of $159 million
for public safety projects).

The series 2019 GO Bonds, with range in various principal maturities from September 1, 2019 to September
1, 2042, are rated “Aa1” from Moody’s, “AA+” from S&P, and “AA+” from Fitch.

City/Google Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) for the Diridon Station Area

On December 4, 2018, the City Council approved a Memorandum of Understanding and property sale
agreements with Google. The Memorandum of Understanding reflects the City’s and Google’s vision and
shared goals for the Diridon Station area and will guide the formal project planning and approval process.
The MOU affirms the City and Google’s intent to negotiate a Development Agreement as part of the project
approval process. The Development Agreement will include a Community Benefits Plan that would include
a negotiated payment to support community investments over and above City project requirements. Major
categories of community priorities would be considered, based on input received to-date as part of the
City’s extensive Civic Engagement efforts.

Anticipated benefits to San José from potential development of the Diridon Station Area are numerous,
including; at least 20,000 permanent jobs and 1,500 construction jobs during construction build-out;
thousands of new homes, including affordable homes; new tax revenue for City services and schools; new
parks, public spaces and infrastructure upgrades; and ongoing benefits from increased transit use such as
shorter commutes, reduced congestion, and pollution prevention.

Sale of Hayes Mansion

On August 17, 2018, the City of San José Financing Authority signed a Purchase and Sale
Agreement (PSA) with 200 Edenvale Avenue Hotel Investors LLC (Purchaser), a Delaware limited liability
company, to sell and transfer certain improved real property commonly known as the Hayes Mansion
and Conference Center (“Hayes Mansion”) and related rights, personal property, and intangible property.
The sale of Hayes Mansion on February 5, 2019, allowed the City to eliminate all outstanding long-term
bond debt against the property and eliminate the ongoing General Fund subsidy for debt service, which
ranged from $1.0 million to $9.1 million per year since 2003.

Mineta San José International Airport

On June 13, 2019, the Airport commissioned its newly-constructed Interim Gates 31-36 Facility, connected
at the south end of Terminal B. The Interim Gates Facility, which was designed and constructed to support
current and near-term passenger increases will continue to provide service and amenities that have helped
drive the Airport’s unprecedented growth over the last two years. Additionally, in May 2019, the Airport
deployed the largest fleet of electric buses at any airport in the country. The brand-new fleet of ten zero-
emission buses and charging systems were designed and manufactured locally by Proterra.
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Second Street Studios

Second Street Studios consists of 135-unit permanent supportive housing project encompassing four
residential floors as well as a ground floor retail and support service space. There are 128 studios and six
one-bedroom units, in addition to the building manager’s unit. Second Street Studios embraces the
“Housing First” philosophy: a nationally recognized, evidence-based approach to provide permanent homes
for people transitioning from homelessness as quickly as possible and additional support services, like case
management, medical care and behavioral health services. This project was funded by a unique private-
public partnership between nonprofits, government, and local corporations. Local nonprofit housing
developer First Community Housing collaborated with the City of San José to create what would be the
City’s first dedicated, permanent supportive housing project.

The County’s Office of Supportive Housing is providing ongoing funding for supportive services for clients,
while the Santa Clara County Housing Authority provided rental subsidies for all 134 units, allowing
residents to stay as long as necessary. And, finally, Abode Services and the John Stewart Company have
committed to locate staff onsite to provide wraparound support to ensure that residents are able to maintain
their housing.

FIVE-YEAR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM

The City publishes a five-year Capital Improvement Program (“CIP”) that guides the City in the planning,
scheduling, and budgeting of capital improvement projects. The CIP is updated annually and approved by
the City Council. The CIP maintains critical investment to sustain, enhance, and develop a wide array of
public infrastructure to improve system reliability, enhance recreational experience, advance public safety,
and ensure that San José is well-positioned for further economic growth and opportunity while building on
the efforts of the last several years of making targeted investments that align with the City’s economic
development and community livability goals contained within the Envision San José 2040 General Plan.

The City’s 2019-2020 Adopted Capital Budget totals $1.5 billion and the 2020-2024 Adopted CIP totals
$4.0 billion. The 2019-2020 Adopted Capital Budget reflects a 53.9% increase from the 2018-2019 Adopted
Capital Budget of $988.0 million, and from a five-year perspective, the 2020-2024 Adopted CIP is 19.7%
higher than the $3.3 billion 2019-2023 Adopted CIP. The significant CIP increase is due in large part to
San José residents passing the Measure T — Disaster Preparedness, Public Safety, and Infrastructure
Bond. Approved in November 2018, the measure authorized the City to issue up to $650 million in general
obligation bonds for investments in city infrastructure, including upgrades to emergency and disaster
response facilities, road reconstruction, flood protection, water quality protection, and improvements to
other critical infrastructure; those priorities are reflected in the CIP, with $528 million allocated over the next
five years. The CIP continues to allocate significant resources to upgrade and revitalize the Water Pollution
Control Plant (San José-Santa Clara Regional Wastewater Facility); meet growing passenger and activity
levels at the Norman Y. Mineta International Airport by investing in airfield and terminal improvements, and
increasing parking capacity; invest in the rehabilitation and enhancement of a variety of park assets and
recreational facilities; and continue the renovation of the City’s outstanding cultural facilities.

Directed by the Envision San José 2040 General Plan (General Plan), the CIP maintains critical investments
to sustain, enhance, and develop a wide array of public infrastructure to improve the systems’ reliability,
enhance recreational experiences, advance public safety, and ensure that San José is well positioned for
further economic growth and opportunity. Accordingly, this CIP allocates significant resources to upgrade
and revitalize the Water Pollution Control Plant (San José-Santa Clara Regional Wastewater Facility);
continues the investment in the pavement maintenance program; invests in and sets aside funding for the
rehabilitation and enhancement of a variety of park assets and recreational facilities; and continues the
renovation of the City’s outstanding cultural facilities. Grant resources are leveraged to implement projects
throughout the CIP, including Airport projects and local multimodal transportation projects. Grant funds also
support major regional projects, including the BART Phase I, and Diridon Station. In addition, investments
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in this CIP address emergency preparedness and flood-related needs, such as parks infrastructure repairs
and flood protection improvements.

Key components of the FY 2020-2024 Adopted Capital Inprovement Program include:

The City of San José’s FY 2020-2024 Adopted CIP continues to focus on the rehabilitation and revitalization
of existing infrastructure, making strategic investments impacting the entire community now and for years
to come. Projects delivered over the next five years will positively impact areas such as pavement
maintenance, the appearance and reliability of parks and recreational facilities, the reliability and
performance of the City’s wastewater treatment facility, and reduction of pollutants within storm sewers and
creeks. Just as important, projects now in their early planning phases will set the stage for large-scale
improvements in the years to come. The BART extension into Downtown, the modernization of Caltrain
service will dramatically alter transportation and economic development within and around the Diridon
Station Area. With the continued increase in passengers and airline service, City staff have begun planning
for future capital projects to accommodate anticipated growth at the Mineta San José International Airport.
The total capital improvement program has been developed to reflect the needs and priorities of the City
Council, our residents, businesses, and visitors within available funding levels.

Even with strong emphasis placed on rehabilitation and renewal, the City continues to lack the resources
required to fully maintain its existing infrastructure portfolio. The persistent gap between optimal levels of
capital investment and available resources, including grants and revenues from other agencies, results in
a growing backlog of deferred and unmet infrastructure needs.

The first series of General Obligation bond was issued in July 2019 under Measure T authorization. A key
component of the FY 2020-2024 Adopted CIP are the projects to be funded from bond proceeds including:

e Upgrade 911 communications, police, fire, and paramedics facilities to improve emergency and
disaster response;

Repair deteriorating bridges vulnerable to earthquakes;

Repave streets and potholes in the worst condition;

Prevent flooding and water quality contamination; and

Repair critical infrastructure.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The City’s Administration is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal controls that safeguard
the City’s assets from loss, theft, or misuse, and allow the compilation of adequate accounting data for the
preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. Internal
controls are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that these objectives are met.
The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that the cost of a control should not exceed its likely
benefits and that the evaluation of costs and benefits is subject to management estimates and judgments.

Single Audit

As a recipient of federal, state and county funding, the City is responsible for providing assurance that
adequate internal controls are in place to ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations relating
to these award programs. Internal controls are subject to periodic evaluation by management, the Office of
the City Auditor, and the City's external independent auditors.

As part of the City's single audit procedures, tests are performed to test the effectiveness of the internal

controls over major federal award programs and the City’s compliance with applicable laws and regulations
related to these award programs.
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Budgetary Controls

The City maintains budgetary controls through the City Council’'s adoption of an annual appropriation
ordinance and by maintaining an encumbrance accounting system. Expenditures for City operations and
other purposes identified in the annual budget cannot legally exceed the budgeted amounts approved by
the City Council.

The City also uses encumbrance accounting as another technique for accomplishing budgetary control. An
encumbrance is a commitment of a future expenditure earmarked for a purpose that reduces the amount
of budgetary authority available for general spending. At the end of the fiscal year, encumbered
appropriations are carried forward and become part of the following year's budget while appropriations that
have not been encumbered lapse.

The City continues to meet its responsibility for sound financial management as demonstrated by the
statements and schedules included in the financial section of this report.

Debt Management Policy

The City’s Debt Management Policy was adopted by the City Council on May 21, 2002 and most recently
revised on March 7, 2017, and is reviewed annually. The Debt Management Policy establishes the following
equally important objectives:

Minimize debt service and issuance costs;

Maintain access to cost-effective borrowing;

Achieve the highest practical credit rating;

Full and timely repayment of debt;

Maintain full and complete financial disclosure and reporting;

Ensure financial controls are in place with respect to proceeds of debt issuances; and
Ensure compliance with applicable State and Federal laws.
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AWARDS

The Government Finance Officers Association (“GFOA”) of the United States and Canada awarded its
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the City for its CAFR for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2018. This was the thirty-first consecutive year the City has received this prestigious award.
To qualify for the Certificate of Achievement, the governmental entity must publish an easily readable and
efficiently organized CAFR, the contents of which conform to program standards. Such report must satisfy
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, as well as all applicable legal

requirements.

The Certificate of Achievement is valid for only one year. The City believes this CAFR continues to conform
to the Certificate of Achievement Program requirements and will be submitting it to GFOA for consideration

of the annual award.

For the twenty-ninth consecutive year, the City received the GFOA Distinguished Budget Preparation Award
for its annual budget for the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2018. To qualify for this award, the government
unit must publish a budget document that meets program criteria as a policy document, a financial plan, an
operations guide, and a communications medium.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The preparation of this CAFR represents the culmination of a concerted team effort by the entire staff of
the Finance Department. Many members of the Department demonstrated exemplary personal
determination and dedicated many long days of focused attention to produce this document.

In addition, staff in all City departments should be recognized for responding so positively to the requests
for detailed information that accompanies each annual audit. The City also recognizes the contributions
and positive working relationship with Macias Gini & O’Connell LLP.

Finally, we wish to express our sincere appreciation to the Mayor and City Council for providing policy
direction and a firm foundation of support for the pursuit of excellence in all realms of professional
endeavors, especially their role in guiding the City to a secure financial condition that assures resources
are available to provide core services to the community.

Respectfully submitted,
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DAVID SYKES
City Manager

Ny

IAH. COOPER
irector of Finance
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

City Council
City of San José, California

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of San José,
California (City), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2019, and the related notes to the financial
statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of
contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We did not
audit the financial statements of the City of San José Federated City Employees’ Retirement System and
the City of San José Police and Fire Department Retirement Plan (collectively, “the Pension Trust
Funds”), which represent 87.2 percent, 114.8 percent, and 41.8 percent, respectively, of the assets, fund
balances/net position, and revenues/additions of the aggregate remaining fund information. Those
statements were audited by other auditors whose reports have been furnished to us, and our opinion,
insofar as it relates to the amounts included for the Pension Trust Funds, is based solely on the reports of
the other auditors. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

Macias Gini & O'Connell LLP
2121 N. California Boulevard, Suite 750
Walnut Creek, CA 94596 www.mgocpa.com



We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of other auditors, the financial statements referred to
above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental
activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of
the City as of June 30, 2019, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash
flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

Other Matters

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis; the schedules of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balance — budget
and actual for the General Fund, Housing Activities Fund, and Low and Moderate Income Housing Asset
Fund; the schedule of employer contributions — defined benefit pension plans; the schedule of changes in
the employer’s net pension liability and related ratios — defined benefit pension plans; the schedule of
investment returns — defined benefit pension plans; the schedule of the City’s proportionate share of the
net pension liability and related ratios — CalPERS; the schedule of employer contributions - CalPERS; the
schedule of changes in the employer’s net OPEB liability and related ratios — postemployment healthcare
plans; the schedule of employer contributions — postemployment healthcare plans; and the schedule of
investment returns — postemployment healthcare plans, as listed in the table of contents, be presented to
supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational,
economic, or historical context. We and other auditors have applied certain limited procedures to the
required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries,
the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial
statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the City’s basic financial statements. The introductory section, the combining and individual
fund financial statements and schedules listed as supplemental information, and the statistical section are
presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.

The combining and individual fund financial statements and schedules listed as supplemental information
are the responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America by us and other auditors. In our opinion, based on our audit, the
procedures performed as described above, and the reports of the other auditors, the combining and
individual fund financial statements and schedules listed as supplemental information are fairly stated, in
all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.



The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the
audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any
assurance on them.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated
November 14, 2019 on our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on our
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and
other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control
over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on
the effectiveness of the City’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the
City’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Mm'ats (ki [f OComel @

Walnut Creek, California
November 14, 2019



City of San José
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)
June 30, 2019

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) provides an overview of the City of San José’s (City)
activities and financial performance for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019. Readers are encouraged to
read the MD&A in conjunction with the basic financial statements that immediately follow, along with the
letter of transmittal at the beginning of the Introductory Section, and with other portions of this
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR). All amounts in the billions and millions have been
rounded to the nearest million and hundred thousand respectively. All percentages have been rounded to
the nearest one hundredth of a percent.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

e The government-wide statement of net position for the City’s governmental and business-type activities
indicates that as of June 30, 2019, total assets and deferred outflows of resources exceed total liabilities
and deferred inflows of resources by $4.055 billion. Of this amount, a deficit of $2.367 billion represents
unrestricted net position, which is comprised of a deficit balance of $2.658 billion for governmental
activities, and a positive balance of $290.1 million for business-type activities. In addition, the City’s
restricted net position totals $1.110 billion ($1.037 billion for governmental activities and $73 million for
business-type activities) based on the restrictions imposed by the enabling legislations or debt
covenants. Lastly, net position of $5.312 billion is the City’s net investment in capital assets, which
include $4.330 billion from governmental activities and $982 million from business-type activities.

e The net position increased by $115.3 million or 2.9 percent during FY 2019 to $4.055 billion from $3.939
billion. Governmental Activities accounted for $27 million of the increase mainly due to the increases in
property tax, sales tax, and other tax related revenues. Business-type activities accounted for $88.7
million of the increase primarily from a change in accounting principal with the implementation of GASB
75.

e Governmental funds reported a combined ending fund balance of $1.559 billion at June 30, 2019, which
is $135 million or 9.5 percent more than the June 30, 2018 balance. The increase was attributable to
an increase in the General Fund of $121.5 million, the Housing Activities Fund of $15 million, the Low
and Moderate Income Housing Asset Fund of $18.3 million, the Special Assessment Districts Fund of
$4.6 million, the Nonmajor Governmental Funds of $19.6 million, and offset by decrease in the San
José Financing Authority Debt Service Fund of $44 million.

e Unassigned fund balance of governmental funds is $111.2 million, which is 7.1 percent of the combined
governmental fund balances at June 30, 2019.

e Total long-term liabilities, excluding net pension and Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB),
decreased by $61.4 million to $2.485 billion at June 30, 2019, which represents a decrease of 2.4
percent compared to $2.546 billion at June 30, 2018. The primary factors leading to the decrease in
long-term liabilities for governmental activities of $97.6 million was primarily due to redemptions, loan
payoffs, and scheduled debt service payments totaling $89.8 million. Outside of the scheduled debt
service of $42.9 million, the majority of the reduction was the redemption of the City of San José
Financing Authority Series 2008C and 2008D Lease Revenue Bonds for $28.5 million from the sale of
the Hayes Mansion and Conference Center and final maturity of the New Market Tax Credit Financing
(NMTC) obligation for $18.4 million due to the termination of the program. The primary factors leading
to the increase in long-term liabilities for business-type activities of $36.3 million was due to the
scheduled debt service payments of $35.7 million offset by a draw from the Waste Water Revenue note
for $70.6 million.

e Net pension liability decreased by $63.3 million or 2 percent during FY 2019 to $3.129 billion from
$3.192 billion. Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions decreased by $215.2 million, and
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions increased by $76.3 million. The decrease in net
pension liability resulted from changes of assumptions and differences between expected and actual
actuarial experience in the City of San José Police and Fire Department Retirement Plan. More details
on the net pension liability are included in the Note IV.A.3 on page 140.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)
June 30, 2019

e As of June 30, 2019, total net OPEB liability was $923.3 million which included $840.5 million in
governmental activities and $82.8 million in business-type activities. The total net OPEB liability
decreased by $148 million or 13.8 percent due to changes of benefits and assumptions in both plans.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This discussion and analysis provides an introduction to the City’s basic financial statements, which are
comprised of four components:

Government-wide Financial Statements
Fund Financial Statements

Notes to Basic Financial Statements
Required Supplementary Information

In addition, this report also contains other supplementary information.
Government-wide Financial Statements

Government-wide Financial Statements provide readers with a broad overview of the City’s finances in
a manner similar to that of a private-sector business.

The statement of net position presents information on all assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities,
and deferred inflows of resources. The difference between total assets and deferred outflows of resources
and total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources is the City’s net position. Over time, increases or
decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the City’s financial position is improving
or deteriorating.

The statement of activities presents information showing how the net position changed during the most
recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to
the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are
reported in this statement for some items that will result in cash flows in future fiscal periods. Examples
include revenues pertaining to uncollected taxes and expenses pertaining to earned but unused vacation
and sick leave.

Both of these government-wide financial statements address functions that principally are supported by
taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) and other functions that intend to recover
all or in part a portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type activities). The
governmental activities of the City include general government, public safety, capital maintenance,
community services, sanitation, and interest and fiscal charges. The City’s business-type activities include
airport, wastewater treatment, water supply, parking operations, and clean energy program.

The government-wide financial statements include the primary government of the City and four separate
components for which the City is financially accountable.

Fund Financial Statements

Fund Financial Statements report information about groupings of related accounts used to maintain
control over resources segregated for specific activities or objectives. As do other state and local
governments, the City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate finance-related legal compliance.
Each City fund falls into one of three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, or fiduciary funds.
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Governmental funds account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental activities in the
government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide financial statements,
governmental funds financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources,
as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. Such information may
be useful in evaluating the City’s capacity to finance its programs in the near future.

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information
presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers
may better understand the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing decisions. Both the
governmental funds balance sheet and the governmental funds statement of revenues, expenditures and
changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate comparison between governmental funds and
governmental activities.

The governmental funds balance sheet and the governmental funds statement of revenues, expenditures
and changes in fund balances present information separately for the General Fund, the Housing Activities
Fund, the Low and Moderate Income Housing Asset Fund, the Special Assessment Districts Fund, and the
San José Financing Authority Debt Service Fund which are all classified as major funds. These statements
also report several individual governmental funds classified as nonmajor funds such as special revenue,
debt service, and capital project funds, which are combined into a single, aggregated presentation.
Individual fund data for each of the nonmajor governmental funds is provided in the form of combining
statements elsewhere in this CAFR.

Proprietary funds generally account for services charged to external or internal customers through fees.
Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as shown in the government-wide financial
statements for business-type activities, only in more detail. The City accounts for its airport, wastewater
treatment, water system, parking operations, and clean energy program in proprietary funds.

The City accounts for its public works program support, employee benefits, and vehicle maintenance and
operations as internal service funds. These services predominantly benefit governmental functions.
Therefore, they are included as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.
Individual fund data for each of the nonmajor internal service funds are provided in the form of combining
statements elsewhere in this CAFR.

Fiduciary funds account for resources held for the benefit of City employees and outside parties in a
similar manner as that for proprietary funds. Pension plan trust funds, private-purpose trust funds, and
agency funds are reported as fiduciary funds. The government-wide financial statements do not include
fiduciary funds as their resources are not available to support City programs.

Notes to Basic Financial Statements provide additional information that is essential to a full
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.

Required Supplementary Information includes the budgetary schedules for the General Fund, the
Housing Activities Fund, and the Low and Moderate Income Housing Asset Fund. In addition, pension and
other postemployment healthcare schedules present the City’s progress toward funding its obligations to
provide future pension and other postemployment healthcare benefits for its active and retired employees.

Combining and individual fund statements and schedules provide information for nonmajor
governmental funds, internal service funds, and fiduciary funds and are presented immediately following
the required supplementary information.
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GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

Analysis of net position: As noted earlier, net position may serve as a useful indicator of the City's
financial position. As of June 30, 2019, the City’s total assets and deferred outflows of resources exceed
total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources by $4.055 billion. The following table is a condensed
summary of the City’s net position for governmental and business-type activities:

Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2019 and 2018
(in thousands)

Gowvernmental Business-type
Activities Activities Totals
FY 2019 FY 2018 FY 2019 FY 2018 FY 2019 FY 2018
Assets:
Current and other assets......................... $ 1,891,362 $ 1,726,091 $ 970,098 $ 881,034 $ 2,861,460 $ 2,607,125
Capital assets................ . 5,228,207 5,316,928 2,260,663 2,123,324 7,488,870 7,440,252
Total assets... 7,119,569 7,043,019 3,230,761 3,004,358 10,350,330 10,047,377
Deferred outflows of resources:
Loss on refundings of debt....................... 648 721 8,128 8,616 8,776 9,337
Deferred outflows of resources related to
PENSIONS...ccvviiiieiiiiiieee e 645,244 824,288 73,153 109,303 718,397 933,591
Deferred outflows of resources related
to other postemployment benefits......... 80,020 50,616 7,757 7,163 87,777 57,779
Total deferred outflows of resources... 725,912 875,625 89,038 125,082 814,950 1,000,707
Liabilities:
Current and other liabilities.... . 253,969 200,994 183,625 90,074 437,594 291,068
Long-term liabilities........ . 1,136,322 1,233,965 1,348,445 1,312,194 2,484,767 2,546,159
Net pension liability. . 2,781,722 2,835,815 347,373 356,541 3,129,095 3,192,356
Net OPEB Liability..........coccvvviiiiiiiniinnnns 840,481 957,581 82,796 113,684 923,277 1,071,265
Total liabilities.............cccceeeieiiinnees 5,012,494 5,228,355 1,962,239 1,872,493 6,974,733 7,100,848
Deferred inflows of resources:
Deferred inflows of resources related to
PENSIONS...cooviiiiiiiiiiiieiiiie e, 80,589 3,980 250 513 80,839 4,493
Deferred inflows of resources related to
other postemployment benefits............. 42,877 3,415 12,304 125 55,181 3,540
Total deferred inflow of resources....... 123,466 7,395 12,554 638 136,020 8,033
Net position:
Net investment in capital assets.............. 4,330,279 4,349,559 982,045 930,631 5,312,324 5,280,190
RESEACIEA .evvviieiiiiieecvie e 1,036,765 1,000,459 72,890 72,750 1,109,655 1,073,209
Unrestricted..........eeeiviiinieeiiiieeciiieeees (2,657,523) (2,667,124) 290,071 252,928 (2,367,452) (2,414,196)
Total net position...........c.ccceuvvveieeennns $ 2,709,521 $ 2,682,894 $ 1,345,006 $ 1,256,309 $ 4,054,527 $ 3,939,203

At June 30, 2019, the City reported positive balances in net position on a total basis. Net investment in
capital assets (infrastructure, land, buildings, other improvements, vehicles, and equipment, less
outstanding debt used to acquire assets and deferred inflows and outflows related to debt) of $5.312 billion
comprises 131 percent of the City’s total net position. These capital assets facilitate providing services to
the San José community, but they are not liquid, and therefore they are not available for future spending.
During FY 2019, net investment in capital assets increased $32.1 million primarily due to an increase of
$51.4 million in business-type activities offset by a decrease of $19.3 million from governmental activities.
A portion of the City’s net position, $1.110 billion or 27.4 percent, are subject to legal restrictions for their
use, including $1.037 billion in governmental activities and $73 million in business-type activities. Of the
total net position at June 30, 2019, a deficit balance of $2.367 billion or 58.4 percent represents unrestricted
net position, which comprises a deficit balance of $2.658 billion for governmental activities, and a positive
balance of $290.1 million for business-type activities. The primary factor contributing to the deficit in
unrestricted net position is the City’s net pension and OPEB liabilities.
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During FY 2019, the City’s total net position increased by $115.3 million. Notable changes in the statement
of net position between June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2018 include:

Assets

e Capital assets increased by $48.6 million or 0.7 percent compared to the prior fiscal year.
Governmental capital assets decreased by $88.7 million and business-type capital assets increased
by $137.3 million. The decrease in governmental capital assets resulted from depreciation expense of
$226 million for major infrastructure and other assets, partially offset by additions to capital assets of
$159.7 million, which included $77.4 million of additional capital projects, $14.2 million of contributed
capital from donated infrastructure assets, $18.5 million in vehicles and equipment, and $48.7 million
from property acquisitions. The increase in business-type capital assets was primarily due to
depreciation expense of $83.2 million, offset by additions to capital assets of $220.8 million primarily
from the Airport and Wastewater Treatment Facility. As of June 30, 2019, the Airport completed
construction of phase 1 and 2 of their Terminal B ramp reconstruction and an interim boarding facility
to support remote passenger operations.

e Current and other assets increased by $254.3 million or 9.8 percent due to an increase of $165.2
million for governmental activities and an increase of $89.1 million for business-type activities. The
increase in governmental activities is mainly due to the increase in cash and investments and
receivables from the increase in taxes and special assessments and sales tax revenue. The increase
in current assets for business-type activities is mainly due to higher cash and investments and
receivables resulting from revenues exceeding expenses.

Liabilities

e Total long-term liabilities (excluding net pension and OPEB liabilities) decreased by $61.4 million
to $2.485 bhillion at June 30, 2019, which represents a decrease of 2.4 percent compared to $2.546
billion at June 30, 2018. The primary factors leading to the decrease in long-term liabilities for
governmental activities of $97.6 million was primarily due to the scheduled debt service payments of
$42.9 million, redemption of $28.5 million in Series 2008C and 2008D Lease Revenue Bonds, and
final maturity of the NMTC loans of $18.4 million. The primary factors leading to the increase in long-
term liabilities for business-type activities of $36.3 million were due to the scheduled debt service
payments of $35.7 million offset by a draw from the Waste Water Revenue note for $70.6 million.

e Current and other liabilities increased by $146.5 million or 50.3 percent due to an increase of $53
million for governmental activities and an increase of $93.6 million for business-type activities.

¢ Net pension liability decreased by $63.3 million or 2 percent during FY 2019 to $3.129 billion from
$3.192 billion. Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions decreased by $215.2 million, and
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions increased by $76.3 million. The decrease in net
pension liability resulted from changes of assumptions and differences between expected and actual
actuarial experience in the City of San José Police and Fire Department Retirement Plan. More details
on the net pension liability are included in the Note IV.A3 on page 140.

e As of June 30, 2019, total net OPEB liability was $923.3 million which included $840.5 million in
governmental activities and $82.8 million in business-type activities. The total net OPEB liability
decreased by $148 million or 13.8 percent due to changes of benefits and assumptions in both plans.
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Net Position

e Unrestricted net position for governmental activities improved by $9.6 million or 0.4 percent with a
deficit balance of $2.658 billion at June 30, 2019. The primary factors contributing to the reduction of
the deficit for governmental activities is the City’s net pension and OPEB liabilities. For business-type
activities, unrestricted net position increased by $37.1 million or 14.7 percent with a positive balance
of $290.1 million at June 30, 2019. The net increase in unrestricted net position in business-type
activities was primarily due to $112.3 million in fees, fines, and charges for services offset by $16.3
million decrease in the Airport's rate stabilization Fund and ten-year lookback distribution. A
description of the rate stabilization fund and ten-year lookback distribution is in Section IIl.E.2 on page
88.

Analysis of activities: The following table indicates the changes in net position for governmental and
business-type activities:

Statement of Activities
For the Years Ended June 30, 2019 and 2018
(in thousands)

Gowvernmental Business-type
Activities Activities Totals
FY 2019 FY 2018 FY 2019 FY 2018 FY 2019 FY 2018
Revenues:
Program revenues:
Fees, fines, and charges for senices.................... $ 435,418 $ 419,189 $ 645,318 $ 532,975 $ 1,080,736 $ 952,164
Operating grants and contributions... 108,361 113,938 720 894 109,081 114,832
Capital grants and contributions..................cceee... 111,278 97,441 24,655 16,362 135,933 113,803
General revenues:
Property and other taXes............cuvvvvvviiiviiiiiiinennnn. 497,317 461,964 - - 497,317 461,964
UtIIEY o 120,846 120,234 - - 120,846 120,234
Franchise............ccceeuen. 48,397 51,180 - - 48,397 51,180
Transient occupancy taxes 51,399 48,854 - - 51,399 48,854
BUSINESS tAXES....uuiiiiiiiiiiieeiieeeie e e e e e 77,011 70,673 - - 77,011 70,673
SAlES TAXES...ceiuiivieeeeeeiiie et 263,530 226,337 263,530 226,337
State of California in-lieu...............ccccceeene 505 551 - - 505 551
Unrestricted interest and investment income......... 24,165 6,688 23,498 6,322 47,663 13,010
Other revenue..........cccvvvveeviiiiiiee i, 34,707 36,485 627 4,961 35,334 41,446
Gain on sale of capital assets 44,528 - - - 44,528 -
Total FEVENUES......cceeiiieieie et 1,817,462 1,653,534 694,818 561,514 2,512,280 2,215,048
Expenses:
General gQoOVEIMMENT........cccoriuiiirieeaiiiiieee e 142,531 132,157 - - 142,531 132,157
Public safety 709,532 769,305 - - 709,532 769,305
COMMUNItY SEIVICES.......uvvviiieiiiiiiiieee i 308,345 329,222 - - 308,345 329,222
SANIALION. ...t 164,677 164,890 - - 164,677 164,890
Capital maintenance 422,170 494,007 - - 422,170 494,007
Interest and fiscal charges..............coooveeiiieiiiiennnn 46,720 57,002 - - 46,720 57,002
Norman Y. Mineta San José International Airport.... - - 224,387 207,675 224,387 207,675
Wastewater Treatment System - - 199,350 203,272 199,350 203,272
Municipal Water System - - 47,917 49,156 47,917 49,156
Parking SYStem.........cooviiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeiieceees - - 16,151 14,503 16,151 14,503
San José Clean ENergy..........ccccoovvvvviieeiiinnnnnenn. 98,909 1,116 98,909 1,116
Total eXpPenses...........ccvvvveevieinnns 1,793,975 1,946,583 586,714 475,722 2,380,689 2,422,305
Excess (deficiency) before transfers.. 23,487 (293,049) 108,104 85,792 131,591 (207,257)
TranSTerS....ccvvviie e 3,141 5,769 (3,141) (5,769) - -
Lookback Distribution...............cccoeeiiiiiiiiienne - - (16,266) - (16,266) -
Change in net position........ 26,628 (287,280) 88,697 80,023 115,325 (207,257)
Net position at beginning of year... 2,682,893 3,437,781 1,256,309 1,241,519 3,939,202 4,679,300
Change in accounting principle.. - (467,608) - (65,233) - (532,841)
Net position at beginning of year, as restated......... - 2,970,173 - 1,176,286 3,939,202 4,146,459
Net position at end of year............ccccceveeeviiiinnnnn, $ 2,709,521 $ 2,682,893 $ 1,345,006 $ 1,256,309 $ 4,054,527 $ 3,939,202
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Governmental activities: Net position for governmental activities increased by $26.6 million or 1 percent
during FY 2019 from $2.683 billion to $2.710 billion. Total expenses decreased by $152.6 million and total
revenues increased by $163.9 million. The major factors contributing to the increase in net position before
transfers from July 1, 2018 to June 30, 2019 are as follows:

Revenues

e Fees, fines, and charges for services increased by $16.2 million mainly due to a $9.3 million increase
in General Fund from fees related to the General Plan update, Public Information Services and
increases from other services, and a $5.7 million increase in General Fund from new revenues such
as small cell fees (cell tower/antenna installation).

e Property and other tax revenue increased by $35.4 million or 7.7 percent due to $16.7 million in
distributions from the County from the sales of properties by the City’'s Successor Agency to the
Redevelopment Agency (SARA), and an increase in assessed valuations based on a strong real estate
market and continuing improvement of the economy. Capital grants and contributions increased by
$13.8 million in current year due to a $27.9 million increase in capital asset additions from the transfer
of Diridon properties from the SARA to the City, $1.6 million transfer of the N. San Pedro Block G
property and a reduction of developer donated projects of $14 million from the prior year. Sales taxes
collected in General Fund increased by $37.2 million due to favorable economy. Construction excise
tax capital maintenance increased by $13.1 million due to the Road Maintenance and Road Repairs
Act SB1 and the Traffic Congestion Relief Fund (TCRF) funding. Transient occupancy tax receipts from
guests staying in the City’s local hotels increased by $2.5 million or 5.2 percent due to continuing higher
occupancy and room rates.

e Gain on sale of capital assets increased $44.5 million due to the sales of the Hayes Mansion and
Diridon Properties.

Expenses

e General government expenses increased $10.4 million or 7.9 percent during FY 2019 mainly due to an
increase of $37 million from overhead costs, a cost of living adjustment of 5 percent, and a
reclassification of $15 million from community service expenses. There was also a one-time reduction
in expenses of $16.8 million in FY 2018. The increase in expenses was offset by a $43 million decrease
in OPEB expense due to the implementation of the Voluntary Employee Beneficiary Association Plans
(VEBA). Please refer to footnote 1V.A.4 for information regarding the VEBA plans.

e Public safety expenses decreased by $59.8 million or 7.8 percent primarily due to a decrease of OPEB
expense of $56.8 million which resulted from the implementation of the VEBA plans. Please refer to
footnote 1V.A.4 for information regarding the VEBA plans.

e Community services expenses decreased by $20.9 million or 6.3 percent mainly due to the
reclassification of $15 million to general government expenses, a decrease in OPEB expense of $5.6
million from the implementation of the VEBA plans, and a decrease in pension expense of $2.8 million
due to a change of assumptions.

e Capital maintenance expenses decreased by $71.8 million or 14.5 percent primarily due to a reduction
in the Convention Center Exhibit Hall Lighting and Ceiling Upgrade Project of $18.3 million, the
pavement maintenance program of $15.4 million, and smaller projects totaling $15 million. In addition,
OPEB and pension expenses decreased $14.2 million collectively due to the implementation of the
VEBA plans (OPEB) and a change in assumptions (pension).
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¢ Interest and fiscal charges were down $10.3 million in FY 2019 due to the decrease of $6.2 million in
the San José Financing Authority Debt Service Fund. In FY 2018, 2008F had interest and other
payments of $2.4 million, 2001A had interest payment of $1.1 million, and 2001F had interest payment
of $4.8 million. In FY 2019, 2008F and 2001A were redeemed and the 2001F Bond only had an interest
payment of $1.6 million.

The chart below shows the primary components of governmental activities revenue sources for FY 2019.
Of the $1.821 billion in total revenues generated by governmental activities, 72.4 percent is attributable to
four categories: property and other taxes (27.3 percent), fees, fines, and charges for services (23.9
percent), sales taxes revenue (14.5 percent), and utility taxes (6.7 percent).

Governmental Activities - Revenues By Source

Unrestricted interest and

investment earnings
State of California In-lieu 1.3%

0.03%

Gain on sale of capital
assets
2.4%

Other revenue

0,
1.9% Transfers

/ 0.17%

Business taxes

4.2%
0 Fees, fines, and

charges for services
23.9%

Transient occupancy taxes
2.8%

Franchise fees

2.7%
Utility taxes
6.7% Operating grants &
contributions
6.0%
Sales taxes

14.5% Capital grants &
contributions

6.1%

Property and other taxes
27.3%
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The chart below shows the major categories of FY 2019 expenses for governmental activities. Of the $1.794
billion in total expenses incurred by governmental activities, 80.3 percent is attributable to three categories:
public safety (39.6 percent), capital maintenance (23.5 percent), and community services (17.2 percent).

Governmental Activities - Expenses

Interest and fiscal charges

2.6% General Government
Capital Maintenance | / 7.9%
23.5%
Public Safety
Sanitation 39.6%

9.2%

Community Services
17.2%

Business-type activities: Business-type activities net position increased by $88.7 million or 7.1 percent
to $1.345 billion in FY 2019.

The notable components of the changes in net position for business-type activities in FY 2019 are:

Airport change in net position from current year activities showed an increase of $13 million in FY 2019
compared to an increase of $7.9 million in FY 2018. The combination of increase in operating revenues,
capital contributions, and the restatement of beginning net position to reflect the changes in accounting
principle resulting from the implementation of GASB Statement Number 75 was more than the offset due
to an increase in net non-operating expenses, and the rate stabilization fund and ten-year lookback
distribution.

The Airport had a net operating income of $25 million, an increase of $2.9 million compared to prior year’s
operating income of $22.1 million. Operating revenues increased by 3.7 percent from $168.6 million in FY
2018 to $174.8 million in FY 2019 mainly due to an increase in passenger traffic. A total of approximately
14.9 million passengers traveled through the Airport in FY 2019 as compared to approximately 13.5 million
in FY 2018, resulting in passenger traffic growth of 10.4 percent.

Operating expenses in FY 2019 increased 2.3 percent, or $3.4 million, from $146.4 million in FY 2018 to
$149.8 million in FY 2019. Increases were experienced in salaries and fringe benefits, pension expenses,
higher costs for public safety employees, non-personnel expenses, and depreciation expenses.

Wastewater Treatment System net position increased by $65.1 million or 7.5 percent from $866.1 million
to $931.2 million. The increase was primarily due to revenues exceeding expenses (before capital
contributions) by $61.2 million. The largest portion, $725.9 million or 77.9 percent, of the net position was
its net investment in capital assets (e.g. land, buildings, and infrastructure) less outstanding debt that was
used to acquire those assets. Approximately $196.5 million, or 21.1 percent of the total net position,
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constitutes unrestricted net position, which may be used to finance day-to-day operations without
constraints established by debt covenants or other legal requirements.

Operating revenues decreased $3.9 million primarily due to lower contributions from outside users toward
the Water Pollution Control Plant’s (“Plant”) ongoing maintenance, replacement, and debt service costs by
$17.9 million, offset by a 3.0 percent sewer rate increase effective July 1, 2018, higher recycled-water
revenue due to a recycled-water rate increase, increased demand by $2.6 million, and higher
reimbursement from Cupertino Sanitary District for joint projects by $3.4 million.

Total operating expenses decreased by $4.9 million compared to the prior fiscal year. The decrease was
due to a net decrease of $16.8 million in pension expenses and other postemployment benefits per the
updated calculations of the total pension and OPEB liabilities and a decrease of $0.9 million of equalization
payment to the Santa Clara Valley Water District for the Silicon Valley Advanced Water Purification center;
offset by a $7.3 million increase in program management, preliminary engineering, planning, feasibility
study or development of various Plant projects, an increase of $3.1 million in personnel costs due to higher
salary costs and fewer vacancies, an increase of $0.6 million in direct overhead costs and an increase of
$1.5 million in Owner Controlled Insurance expenses to provide a centralized insurance program for losses
associated with onsite construction of the Capital Improvement Program at the Plant.

Net nonoperating revenues increased by $7.4 million primarily due to increases in fair value of investments.
Capital contributions increased by $0.6 million mainly due to an increase in donated assets from
developers.

Municipal Water System net position increased by $3.8 million or 4.6 percent from $83.5 million to $87.3
million. Operating revenues of $51.2 million increased by $2.6 million or 5.3 percent due to increases in
both user fee rates and additional consumption of recycled water. Operating expenses of $47.9 million
decreased by $1.2 million or 2.5 percent due to decreases in operations and maintenance costs and benefit
costs. The decrease in operating expenses was offset by increases in wholesale water prices in the potable
and recycled water programs.

Parking System net position increased by $2.7 million or 2.7 percent from $103.4 million to $106.1 million.
Operating revenues increased by $1.6 million or 8.7 percent from $17.6 million to $19.2 million.
Nonoperating revenue decreased by $2.8 million or 71.6 percent. The decrease is due to the recording of
$3.6 million as interest revenue as part of a debt settlement agreement between the SARA in FY 2018.
Operating expenses increased by $1.6 million or 11.4 percent reflecting higher operations and maintenance
Ccosts.

San José Clean Energy (SJCE) is the enterprise fund established in 2017-2018 to account for revenues
from the sale of electricity and the costs associated with the San José Clean Energy Program. Operating
revenues were $102.9 million and expenses were $98.6 million in FY 2019. In FY 2018, there were no
operating revenues and $1.1 million in operating expenses since it was a new fund and programs were not
fully operational at the time.
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY’S FUNDS

As noted earlier, the City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-
related legal requirements.

As of June 30, 2019, the City’s governmental funds reported combined fund balances of $1.559 billion
compared to $1.424 billion balances in FY 2018. The governmental fund balances are categorized as
nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned, or unassigned.

e $0.2 million consists of nonspendable fund balance related to advances and deposits that are not
intended to convert into cash and long-term in nature and do not represent currently available
resources.

e $1.016 billion is reported as restricted fund balance that includes restrictions imposed by external
parties or enabling legislation. This amount includes unspent bond proceeds, unspent grant
revenues, and restricted tax revenues.

e $169.6 million is reported as committed fund balance that had been limited by formal Council action
for a specific purpose.

e $262.5 million is reported as assigned fund balance that includes amounts that may be used for
specific purposes, but do not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or committed.

e $111.2 million is reported as unassigned fund balance that represents the residual classification for
the City’s General Fund and includes all spendable amounts not contained in the other
classifications.

General Fund: The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City. At June 30, 2019, the General
Fund’s unassigned fund balance is $143.9 million or 34.7 percent of the $414.5 million total General Fund
balance. Comparing unassigned fund balance and total fund balance to total fund expenditures may be
useful as a measure of the General Fund’s capacity to liquidate future obligations. At June 30, 2019,
unassigned fund balance represents 14.6 percent of total General Fund expenditures of $984.7 million,
while total fund balance represents 42.1 percent of total General Fund expenditures. At June 30, 2018, the
same measures were 8.1 percent and 28.9 percent respectively.

The General Fund ending fund balance increased by $121.5 million from $293 million to $414.5 million at
June 30, 2019.

In FY 2019, General Fund revenues of $1.068 billion were $89.4 million or 9.1 percent higher than FY 2018
revenues of $978.8 million. Taxes and special assessments revenues increased by $43.4 million or 7.6
percent. The increase was attributed to an increase of property taxes of $38.2 million and sales taxes of
$37.2 million.

Property taxes increased by $38.2 million in FY 2019, which is primarily due to an increase in assessed
valuations based on a strong real estate market, excess Educational Revenue Augmentation Fund (ERAF)
revenue, and $16.7 million in revenues from the County’s distribution from the sales of the SARA properties.
The property sales revenue is classified as Property Tax in the financial statements, but classified as other
revenue on a budgetary basis. Sales tax revenue increased by $37.2 million due to the favorable economy.

FY 2019 General Fund expenditures of $984.7 million were $28.6 million or 2.8 percent lower than FY 2018

expenditures of $1.013 billion. The decrease was primarily due to a $15.4 million reduction in the pavement
maintenance program, and a reduction in expenditures from several smaller projects totaling $15 million.
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Housing Activities Fund: The City’'s Housing Activities fund receives resources from the U.S. Department
of Housing and Urban Development and the California Department of Housing and Community
Development. At June 30, 2019, the fund’s loan receivable balance (net), which represents loans to
developers of various affordable housing projects and first time homebuyers, was $70.2 million. This
balance includes loans to developers for various projects, including Ford and Monterey, Taylor Oaks
Apartments, Donner Lofts, Japantown Seniors, The Metropolitan, Roundtable, Kings Crossing, Fourth
Street Apartments, Peacock Commons, Archer Studios, Curtner Studios, Homesafe, Markham Plaza,
Corde Terra Village Senior, Willow Glen Senior Housing, Santa Clara Inn, and Second Street Studios.
Restricted fund balance increased by $15 million to $148.2 million at June 30, 2019. The increase is
primarily due to revenues from intergovernmental ($15.1 million), and investment and other revenues ($20.6
million) exceeding expenditures for community services ($20.6 million). Intergovernmental revenues
increased by $7.0 million or 85.5 percent compared to prior year due to an $11 million Homeless Emergency
Aid Program (HEAP) grant offset by a one-time Coyote Creek Recovery grant of $5.4 million in FY 2018.
Other revenue increased by $9.1 million or 110 percent compared to prior year due to increases in the
Inclusionary In-Lieu fees and Affordable Housing Impact fee revenues.

Low and Moderate Income Housing Asset Fund: The Low and Moderate Income Housing Asset fund
was created pursuant to the Redevelopment Dissolution Law to administer the housing assets and functions
related to the Low and Moderate Income Housing Program retained by the City following the dissolution of
the former Agency. At June 30, 2019, the fund’s loan receivable balance (net) was $213.2 million. This
balance consists mainly of loans to developers for various projects including Almaden Family Apartments,
Belovida Apartments, Brookwood Terrace, Cinnabar Commons, Corde Terra Village, Las Ventanas, Oak
Tree Village, Pollard Plaza, Villas on the Park, Second Street Studios, and The Metropolitan (South).
Restricted fund balance increased by $18.3 million to $397.6 million from $379.3 million. The increase is
primarily due to repayments of developer loans.

Special Assessment Districts Fund: The Special Assessment Districts fund accounts for debt issuance
and capital improvements related to the specific purposes of eight special assessment and community
facilities districts located in different parts of the City. A total of $125.2 million in special assessment and
special tax bonds were outstanding at June 30, 2019. All bonds are secured by special assessments or
special taxes charged to the owners’ real property in the district issuing the debt, except for the Special
Hotel Tax Revenue Bond, Series 2011, which are secured by a first lien on the Convention Center Facilities
District N0.2008-1 special tax revenues and any of the Available Transient Occupancy Tax (Available TOT
as defined in the bond documents) as appropriated by City Council. The City is not obligated to advance
available surplus funds from the City Treasury to cure any deficiency in the Redemption Fund for these
bonds; provided, however, the City is not prevented, in its sole discretion, from so advancing funds.

Restricted fund balance increased by $4.6 million from $42 million to $46.6 million as of June 30, 2019. The
total revenues of $25.3 million were over total expenditures of $16.5 million for FY 2019. The net transfers
amount of negative $4.2 million resulted in a $4.6 million net positive change in fund balance. The lower
expenditures of $16.9 million, or 50.6 percent compared to the prior fiscal year were related to a reduction
of expenditures from the Convention Center Exhibit Hall Lighting and Ceiling Upgrade Project of $18.3
million.

City of San José Financing Authority Fund: The City’s Financing Authority Debt Service Fund accounts
for debt activity related to lease revenue bonds and commercial paper notes, which serves as a mechanism
for financing City public improvements and other eligible purposes. Restricted fund balance decreased by
$11.4 million from $11.4 million to none as of June 30, 2019. Unassigned fund balance decreased by $32.6
million from none to a deficit of $32.6 million as of June 30, 2019. The decrease in fund balance of $44
million was primarily due to an increase in short-term notes payable by $38.3 million from the commercial
paper transfer of $42.4 million to the South Hall Project and $6 million decrease from the dissolution of
Hayes Mansion . Principal payments decreased by $76.5 million or 63.0 percent due to the payoff different
bonds in FY 2018 and FY 2019. In FY 2018, the Fourth and San Fernando Project and Convention Center
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Refunding Project paid off $92.6 million in bonds. In FY 2019, the Hayes Mansion sale retired $28.5 million
in bonds.

Proprietary Funds: The City’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the
government-wide financial statements for business-type activities, but in more detail. At June 30, 2019, the
unrestricted net position was $29.2 million for the Airport, $196.5 million for the Wastewater Treatment
System, $13.1 million for the Municipal Water System, $48.4 million for the Parking System, and $2.9 million
for the San José Clean Energy fund. Net position for proprietary funds increased from $1.256 billion at
June 30, 2018 to $1.345 hillion at June 30, 2019, resulting in an increase of $88.7 million or 7.1 percent.

Other aspects of proprietary fund activities are discussed in the business-type activities section above.
GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS

The City’s Charter requires the City Manager to submit balanced operating and capital budgets to the City
Council prior to the beginning of a new fiscal year that begins each July 1st and ends on the following
June 30", Council approved the FY 2019 budget in June 2018.

During the year ended June 30, 2019, there was a $45.6 million decrease in the budgeted revenues
between the original and final amended operating budget for the General Fund. The decrease in budgeted
revenues included all revenue categories except for Utility Tax, Franchise Tax, State of California in-lieu,
Charges for Current Services, and Investment Income categories.

Actual budgetary basis expenditures of $1.03 billion were $43.2 million less than the amended budget and
$293.6 million less than the original budget due to planned expenditures not occurring in the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2019.

CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION

Capital Assets

The City’s capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, for its governmental and business-type activities
together amounted to $7.489 billion at June 30, 2019. This investment includes land, infrastructure,
structures and improvements, vehicles, equipment, intangible assets, and construction in progress. The
City’s decision to depreciate infrastructure capital assets results in recording a large non-cash depreciation
expense each year that offsets additions to capital assets. For the year end June 30, 2019, net capital
assets increased by $48.6 million ($88.7 million decreased in governmental activities and $137.3 million
increased in business-type activities) compared to net capital assets at June 30, 2018. The decrease in
capital assets of $88.7 million in governmental activities is primarily due to depreciation expense of $226
million and deletions of capital assets totaling $49.4 million, which included a $39.1 million sale of Hayes
Mansion and a $28.0 million Diridon property sale to Google. The decrease was offset by acquisitions of
capital assets of $159.7 million and land transfers totaling $27.1 million. The increase of $137.3 million in
capital assets in the business-type activities resulted from depreciation expense of $83.2 million, offset by
additions of capital projects of $168.4 million and additions of $52.4 million in other capital improvements
primarily at the Airport and the Wastewater Treatment Facility.

Total construction in progress (CIP) increased by $124.7 million from $230.6 million at June 30, 2018 to
$355.3 million at June 30, 2019. Construction in progress for the governmental activities increased by
$60.5 million primarily due to more CIP additions relative to those being placed into service. Of the larger
assets placed into service, one included the installation of upgraded Motorola dispatch consoles at various
Police facilities and the completion of a new trail located at Lonus Street, which resulted in decreases in
CIP of $3.6 million and $3.7 million, respectively. Business-type activities contributed an increase of $64.2
million to the total CIP as additions to the Airport and the Wastewater Treatment System totaling $168.4
million was offset by $103.7 million in Airport and Wastewater Treatment System projects that were
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completed and placed in service. The completed Airport projects include the following: completion of phase
1 and 2 of Terminal B ramp reconstruction and an interim boarding facility.

The City records infrastructure assets at historical cost in the government-wide financial statements and
depreciates assets from acquisition date to the end of the current fiscal year as required by GASB
Statement No. 34. For governmental fund financial statements recording purposes, capital asset purchases
are recorded as expenditures, rather than capitalizing and recording related depreciation.

Capital assets, net of depreciation, for governmental and business-type activities in the government-wide
financial statements are presented below to illustrate changes between June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2018
(in thousands):

Gowvernmental activities Business-type activities Total
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Land $ 455831 $ 409,022 $ 137,938 $ 137,938 $ 593,769 $ 546,960
Intangible assets - - 12,882 12,882 12,882 12,882
Construction in

progress 107,083 46,570 248,167 183,980 355,250 230,550
Buildings 940,112 1,000,352 1,057,678 1,046,008 1,997,790 2,046,360
Improvements, other

than buildings 222,652 224,407 672,242 650,662 894,894 875,069
Infrastructure 3,449,292 3,593,318 - - 3,449,292 3,593,318
Furniture and fixtures,

vehicles, equipment 53,237 43,259 131,756 91,854 184,993 135,113
Total capital assets $5,228,207  $5,316,928 $2,260,663  $2,123,324 $7,488,870  $7,440,252

Commitments outstanding as of June 30, 2019, related to governmental and business-type activities
construction in progress totaled approximately $10.7 million and $164.5 million, respectively. Additional
information about the City’s capital assets can be found in the Notes to Basic Financial Statements,
Note I1I.D.

Net General Obligation Bonded Debt Limit

The City Charter limits bonded indebtedness for General Obligation bonds to 15 percent of the total
assessed valuation of all real and personal property within the City. The total assessed value of taxable
property on the City’s 2018-2019 tax roll was $188.6 billion, which results in a total debt limit of $28.3 billion.
As of June 30, 2019, the City had $327.6 million of Net General Obligation bonds outstanding which
represents approximately 1.2 percent of the General Obligation bonds debt limit.

General Obligation Bonds and Other Bond Ratings

The City’s current general obligation credit ratings are Aa1/AA+/AA+ from Moody’s Investors Service
(“Moody’s”), Standard & Poor's (“S&P”), and Fitch Ratings (“Fitch”) respectively. These credit ratings have
remained the same from the prior year, and the City continues to be one of the highest rated large cities
(with population over 250,000) in California.

Moody's credit rating for the City of San José Financing Authority, lease revenue bond Series 2003A,

2006A, 2013A, and 2013B is Aa2. Moody’s rated the Series 2007A and 2011A lease revenue bonds at
Aa3. S&P and Fitch both have an underlying rating of AA. The outlook for all the three agencies is stable.
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For the City of San José Airport Revenue Bonds, S&P currently has an underlying rating of A with stable
outlook, Moody’s currently has an underlying rating of A2 with stable outlook. Fitch had an underlying rating
on Airport Revenue Bonds at A- with stable outlook in FY 2019. On September 27, 2019, Fitch upgraded
the rating to A with stable outlook.

Sewer revenue bonds issued by the San José -Santa Clara Clean Water Financing Authority have current
underlying ratings of AAA by S&P and Fitch, and a rating of Aa2 by Moody's. The outlook for all three
agencies is stable.

Outstanding Debt

The City's debt service obligations include general obligation bonds, revenue bonds, lease revenue bonds,
and special assessment and special tax bonds.

During the current year, the City’s outstanding long-term debt decreased by $40.9 million to $2.239 billion,
comprised of $910.1 million of governmental activities and $1.329 billion of business-type activities. The
decrease of $40.9 million is primarily due to the scheduled debt service payments and the redemption of
the Hayes Mansion 2008C and 2008D series bonds.

The table below identifies the net changes in each category (in thousands):

As of As of Net
June 30, 2019 June 30, 2018 Change
Governmental Activities:
General obligation bonds $ 327,591 $ 347530 % (19,939)
San José Financing Authority
Lease revenue bonds 458,821 505,519 (46,698)
Special assessment bonds w ith limited
governmental commitment 123,714 129,228 (5,514)
Sub-total 910,126 982,277 (72,151)
Business-Type Activities:
Revenue bonds 1,240,165 1,277,755 (37,590)
State of CA-Revolving Fund Loan - 1,772 (1,772)
Regional Wastew ater Facility - Notes payable 89,076 18,490 70,586
Sub-total 1,329,241 1,298,017 31,224
Total: $ 2,239,367 $ 2,280,294 3 (40,927)

Additional information about the City’s long-term obligations appears in the Notes to Basic Financial
Statements, Note IlI.F.
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ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGET

The City’s General Fund completed FY 2019 with better operating financial results than expected when
the FY 2019 Adopted Budget was developed. Although the local economic activity remains strong, the
City still faces fiscal challenges on a long-term basis to achieve a more desirable level of budget stability
while avoiding any reduction in services. In June 2019, the City Council approved a balanced General
Fund budget for FY 2020. Given the availability of one-time funding and the modest funding made
available, the FY 2020 Adopted Budget follows City Council direction to focus on targeted, strategic
spending as well as saving for the future. The budget takes a multi-year approach with one-time funding
set aside in FY 2020 to address the projected General Fund shortfall in FY 2021 on a one-time basis.
It also increases the Budget Stabilization Reserve, maintains existing service levels, enhances service
delivery in limited areas, and invests in the City’s infrastructure and technology. With limited resources,
it is critical that the City continues to innovate and leverage resources to achieve its service delivery
goals.

The FY 2020 Adopted Budget includes modest increases to staffing levels to support a variety of
activities and limited enhancements to other critical services. Overall, the level of staffing will increase
by a net 234 (a total of 87 positions are one-time funded), from 6,413 full-time equivalent positions in
the FY 2019 Adopted Budget to 6,647 positions in the FY 2020 Adopted Budget. This 3.6 percent
increase still leaves City staffing well below its peak of almost 7,500 positions in FY 2002 and well
below the average of large cities.

As reported in the GASB 67/68 Report as of June 30, 2018 prepared by the actuary for the Police and
Fire Department Retirement Plan (PFDRP), the net position of the Defined Benefit Pension Plan was
74 percent of the total pension liability. The total pension liability was $4.636 billion, and the fiduciary
net position was $3.496 billion, resulting in a net pension liability of $1.140 billion.

As reported in the GASB 67/68 Report as of June 30, 2018 prepared by the actuary for the Federated
City Employees’ Retirement System (FCERS), the net position of the Defined Benefit Pension Plan
was 50 percent of the total pension liability. The total pension liability was $4.057 billion, and the
fiduciary net position was $2.069 billion, resulting in a net pension liability of $1.988 billion.

For funding purposes, as of June 30, 2018, the most recent actuarial valuation date, FCERS’s OPEB
Plan had a 42.6 percent actuarial funded ratio for postemployment healthcare benefits. The actuary
reported total OPEB liability for postemployment healthcare benefits was $651.2 million and the
fiduciary net position was $277.3 million, resulting in a net OPEB liability of $374.0 million.

For funding purposes, as of June 30, 2018, the most recent actuarial valuation date, PFDRP’s OPEB
Plan had a 22.8 percent actuarial funded ratio for postemployment healthcare benefits. The actuary
reported total OPEB liability for postemployment healthcare benefits was $711.8 million and the
fiduciary net position was $162.5 million, resulting in a net OPEB liability of $549.3 million.
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e ForFY 2020, the City’s contribution rates for pension benefits and postemployment healthcare benefits,
as a percentage of payroll are as follows:

@
@

PFDRP ;) FCERS
Police Police Fire Fire
Contribution Rates Tier 1 Tier 2 Tierl Tier2 Tier 1 Tier 2
Retirement Pension 107.19% 14.06%  107.97% 1539%  111.40%  8.33%
Postemployment Healthcare Benefits 15.8% - @ 129% - @ 1.06% 7.06%

The rates above are the Retirement Board adopted rates based on the June 30, 2018, actuarial valuations.

Subsequent to the implementation of the revised Tier 2 pension benefits for sworn Police and Fire Tier 2 employees, the
City Manager exercised his discretion, pursuant to the Municipal Code, to terminate the defined benefit retiree healthcare
plan for these employees. Effective July 30, 2017, Police and Fire Tier 2 employees were no longer eligible for the defined
benefit retiree healthcare plan and, as such, will not make contributions to the plan. The City continues to pay its
contributions for the Tier 2 police and fire employees. Additional information about the City's Postemployment Healthcare
Benefits appears in the Notes to Basic Financial Statements, Note 1V. A.4 would not apply to FY 2019.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION

Forward-Looking Statements

” ” T

When used in this CAFR, the words or phrases “will likely result,” “are expected to,” “will continue,” “is
“anticipated, “estimate,” “project,” “forecast,” “expect,” “intend” and similar expressions identify “forward-
looking statements”, but are not the exclusive means of identifying forward-looking statements in the CAFR.
Such statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially
from those contemplated in such forward-looking statements. Any forecast is subject to such uncertainties.
Inevitably, some assumptions used to develop the forecasts will not be realized and unanticipated events
and circumstances may occur. Therefore, there are likely to be differences between forecasts and actual
results, and those differences may be material.

Readers are urged not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as
of the date of this CAFR. The City undertakes no obligation to revise or update any forward-looking
statements to reflect any event or circumstance that may arise after the date of the CAFR.

Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide our residents, taxpayers, customers, investors, and creditors
with a general overview of the City’s finances. All summaries of documents contained in this CAFR are
made subject to the provisions of such documents and do not purport to be complete statements of any or
all such provisions. Each reference in this CAFR to a document is qualified in its entirety by reference to
such document, which is on file with the City.

Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional financial
information should be addressed to the Director of Finance, 200 East Santa Clara Street, San José,
California 95113. Requests for documents may be directed to the City department designated in the CAFR
as the holder of a particular document or to the Director of Finance. This report can also be found online at
http://www.sanjoseca.gov.
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City of San José
Statement of Net Position

June 30, 2019
($000's)
Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Total
ASSETS
Equity in pooled cash and investments
held in City Treasury $ 1,179,855 683,268 1,863,123
Other cash and investments 15 - 15
Receivables (net of allowances
for uncollectibles) 148,721 78,381 227,102
Due from outside agencies 58 - 58
Prepaid expenses, advances and deposits - 104 104
Inventories 1,150 773 1,923
Notes receivable 10,020 - 10,020
Loans receivable (net of allowances
for uncollectibles) 287,582 - 287,582
Advances and deposits 722 1,460 2,182
Restricted assets:
Equity in pooled cash and investments
held in City Treasury 97,241 45,302 142,543
Cash and investments held with fiscal agent 88,392 133,298 221,690
Other cash and investments 17,507 2,255 19,762
Receivables (net of allowances
for uncollectibles) - 5,360 5,360
Prepaid bond insurance costs - 93 93
Prepaid bond insurance costs
(net of accumulated amortization) 307 1,941 2,248
Long-term receivables from SARA 28,687 17,863 46,550
Other assets 31,105 - 31,105
Capital assets (net of accumulated
depreciation):
Nondepreciable 562,914 398,987 961,901
Depreciable 4,665,293 1,861,676 6,526,969
Total assets 7,119,569 3,230,761 10,350,330
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Loss on refundings of debt 648 8,128 8,776
Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions 645,244 73,153 718,397
Deferred outflows of resources related to other
postemployment benefits 80,020 7,757 87,777
Total deferred outflows of resources 725,912 89,038 814,950
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 40,710 85,922 126,632
Accrued salaries, wages and payroll taxes 39,370 5,125 44,495
Interest payable 9,118 21,162 30,280
Due to outside agencies 485 - 485
Short-term notes payable 77,969 62,216 140,185
Unearned revenue 19,073 3,921 22,994
Advances, deposits, and reimbursable credits 7,609 5,279 12,888
Long-term payable to SARA 739 - 739
Other liabilities 58,896 - 58,896
Long-term obligations:
Due within one year 114,641 54,040 168,681
Due in more than one year 1,021,681 1,294,405 2,316,086
Net pension liability 2,781,722 347,373 3,129,095
Net other postemployment benefits liability 840,481 82,796 923,277
Total liabilities 5,012,494 1,962,239 6,974,733
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions 80,589 250 80,839
Deferred inflows of resources related to other
postemployment benefits 42,877 12,304 55,181
Total deferred inflows of resources 123,466 12,554 136,020
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 4,330,279 982,045 5,312,324
Restricted for:
Debt service 24,440 24,422 48,862
Capital projects 332,363 48,468 380,831
Community services 677,788 - 677,788
Public safety 2,174 - 2,174
Unrestricted (deficit) (2,657,523) 290,071 (2,367,452)
Total net position $ 2,709,521 1,345,006 4,054,527

The Notes to Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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City of San José
Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019

($000's)
Net (Expense) Revenue and
Program Revenues Changes in Net Position
Fees, Fines, and Operating
Charges for Grants and Capital Grants Governmental  Business -Type
Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions and Contributions Activities Activities Total
Governmental activities:
General government $ 142,531 26,656 1,160 - (114,715) - (114,715)
Public safety 709,532 88,391 8,070 - (613,071) - (613,071)
Community services 308,345 106,836 61,986 - (139,523) - (139,523)
Sanitation 164,677 154,094 63 - (10,520) - (10,520)
Capital maintenance 422,170 59,441 37,082 111,278 (214,369) - (214,369)
Interest and fiscal charges 46,720 - - - (46,720) - (46,720)
Total governmental activities 1,793,975 435,418 108,361 111,278 (1,138,918) - (1,138,918)
Business -Type activities:
Norman Y. Mineta San José
International Airport 224,387 223,267 720 18,747 - 18,347 18,347
Wastewater Treatment System 199,350 248,830 - 5,653 - 55,133 55,133
Municipal Water System 47,917 51,181 - 255 - 3,519 3,519
Parking System 16,151 19,185 - - - 3,034 3,034
San José Clean Energy 98,909 102,855 - - - 3,946 3,946
Total business-type activities 586,714 645,318 720 24,655 - 83,979 83,979
Total $ 2,380,689 1,080,736 109,081 135,933 (1,138,918) 83,979 (1,054,939)

General revenues:

Taxes and franchise fees:

Property and other taxes 497,317 - 497,317
Utility 120,846 - 120,846
Franchise 48,397 - 48,397
Transient occupancy 51,399 - 51,399
Business taxes 77,011 - 77,011
Sales taxes 263,530 - 263,530
State of California in-lieu 505 - 505
Unrestricted interest and investment income 24,165 23,498 47,663
Other revenue 34,707 627 35,334
Gain on sale of capital assets 44,528 - 44,528
Transfers 3,141 (3,141) -
Special item - rate stabilization fund and ten-year
lookback distribution - (16,266) (16,266)
Total general revenues, transfers and special item 1,165,546 4,718 1,170,264
Change in net position 26,628 88,697 115,325
Net position - beginning 2,682,893 1,256,309 3,939,202
Net position - ending $ 2,709,521 1,345,006 4,054,527

The Notes to Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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City of San José
Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds
June 30, 2019
($000's)

Low and Moderate
Income Housing

General Fund Housing Activities Asset
ASSETS
Equity in pooled cash and investments
held in City Treasury 435,353 47,009 148,821
Other cash and investments - - -
Receivables (net of allowance
for uncollectibles) 78,156 2,693 2,274
Due from outside agencies 58 - -
Due from other funds 1,653 - -
Notes receivable - - -
Loans receivables (net of allowance
for uncollectibles) 1,241 70,211 213,168
Advances and deposits 137 - -
Restricted assets:
Equity in pooled cash and investments
held in City Treasury 1,331 47,315 -
Cash and investments held with fiscal agent 1 - -
Other cash and investments - - -
Advances to other funds 3,297 - -
Advances receivable from SARA 12,742 - 15,945
Other assets - 2,300 26,901
Total assets 533,969 169,528 407,109
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 11,901 2,955 514
Accrued salaries, wages, and payroll taxes 34,437 118 274
Due to other funds - - -
Due to outside agencies 373 - -
Short-term notes payable - - -
Unearned revenue 6,548 - -
Advances, deposits, and reimbursable credits 37 - -
Advances from other funds - - -
Long-term advances from SARA - - 739
Other liabilities 53,432 - -
Total liabilities 106,728 3,073 1,527
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 12,742 18,265 7,934
FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable 153 - -
Restricted 1,370 148,190 397,648
Committed 100,147 - -
Assigned 168,961 - -
Unassigned 143,868 - -
Total fund balances 414,499 148,190 397,648
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources
and fund balances 533,969 169,528 407,109

The Notes to Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Special Financing Nonmajor Total
Assessment Authority Debt Governmental Governmental
Districts Service Funds Funds
- 466 529,540 1,161,189
- - 8 8
30,137 - 34,986 148,246
- - - 58
- - 2,035 3,688
- 10,000 20 10,020
- - 2,962 287,582
5 - 580 722
15,248 - 33,347 97,241
30,853 38,265 19,273 88,392
- - 17,018 17,018
- - - 3,297
- - - 28,687
- - 1,904 31,105
76,243 48,731 641,673 1,877,253
319 - 24,838 40,527
- - 3,229 38,058
- - 3,688 3,688
- 112 - 485
- 77,969 - 77,969
- - 11,959 18,507
1,578 - 5,994 7,609
- 3.297 - 3,297
- - - 739
317 - 5,147 58,896
2,214 81,378 54,855 249,775
27,400 - 1,888 68,229
- - - 153
46,629 - 422,000 1,015,837
- - 69,451 169,598
- - 93,500 262,461
- (32,647) (21) 111,200
46,629 (32,647) 584,930 1,559,249
76,243 48,731 641,673 1,877,253
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City of San José
Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet
to the Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2019
($000's)

Total fund balances-governmental funds (Page 27) $ 1,559,249

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are different
because:
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and
therefore are not reported in the funds. These assets consist of:

Land $ 455,831
Construction in progress 107,083
Infrastructure assets 11,560,910
Other capital assets 2,067,622
Accumulated depreciation (8,968,165)
Total capital assets 5,223,281

Long-term receivables are not available to pay for current period expenditures and,
therefore, are reported as deferred inflows of resources in governmental funds. 40,829

Prepaid bond insurance costs are expended in governmental funds when paid,
however, such costs are capitalized and amortized over the life of the
corresponding bonds for purposes of the statement of net position. 307

Refundings of debt reported as deferred outflows/inflows of resources are not financial
resources, therefore are not reported in the funds. Such costs are capitalized
and amortized over the life of the corresponding bonds for purposes of
the statement of net position. 648

Special assessments are reported as revenues when levied in government-wide
financial statements. In governmental funds, these assessments are reported as
deferred inflows of resources since they are not available. 27,400

Interest payable on long-term debt does not require the use of current financial
resources and, therefore, interest payable is generally not accrued as a liability
in the balance sheet of governmental funds. (9,118)

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the cost of public
works support, employee benefits, and vehicle maintenance and
operations to individual funds. The assets and liabilities are included
in governmental activities in the statement of net position. 20,571

Long-term obligations are not due and payable in the current period and therefore
are not reported in the funds. Those liabilities consist of:

Bonds, loan payables, and lease-purchase agreements $  (924,017)
Accrued vacation, sick leave and compensatory time (74,142)
Estimated liability for self-insurance (128,660)
Other (6,422)
Total long-term obligations (1,133,241)

Net pension liability and pension related deferred outflows and inflows of resources
are not due in the current period and therefore are not reported in the funds.
These amounts consist of:

Net pension liability $ (2,781,722)
Deferred outflows of resources 645,244
Deferred inflows of resources (80,589)
(2,217,067)
Other postemployment benefits liability and related deferred outflows and inflows of resources
are not due in the current period and therefore are not reported in the funds.
These amounts consist of:
Net other postemployment benefits liability $  (840,481)
Deferred outflows of resources 80,020
Deferred inflows of resources (42,877)
(803,338)
Net position of governmental activities (Page 24) $ 2,709,521

The Notes to Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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City of San José
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures
and Changes in Fund Balances
Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019

($000's)
Low and
Housing Moderate Income
General Fund Activities Housing Asset
REVENUES
Taxes and special assessments $ 611,752 - -
Sales taxes 263,530 - -
Licenses, permits, and fines 80,725 - -
Intergovernmental 8,349 15,105 -
Charges for current services 55,646 - -
Rent - - -
Investment income 7,303 3,313 21,045
Other revenue 40,888 17,285 8,253
Total revenues 1,068,193 35,703 29,298
EXPENDITURES
Current:
General government 137,732 - -
Public safety 622,250 - -
Community services 115,441 20,626 10,475
Sanitation 4,844 - -
Capital maintenance 89,758 - -
Capital outlay 12,464 - -
Debt service:
Principal 1,420 - -
Interest and fiscal charges 838 - -
Total expenditures 984,747 20,626 10,475
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 83,446 15,077 18,823
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 132,703 - -
Transfers in 18,751 - -
Transfers out (46,423) (69) (479)
Escrow payment to the County of Santa Clara (67,000) - -
Total other financing sources (uses) 38,031 (69) (479)
Net change in fund balances 121,477 15,008 18,344
Fund balances - beginning 293,022 133,182 379,304
Fund balances - ending $ 414,499 148,190 397,648

The Notes to Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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San José

Special Financing Nonmajor Total
Assessment Authority Debt Governmental Governmental
Districts Service Funds Funds

23,664 - 183,723 819,139

- - - 263,530

- - - 80,725

- - 78,874 102,328

- - 214,161 269,807

- - 60,974 60,974

1,292 983 15,823 49,759

315 - 18,547 85,288

25,271 983 572,102 1,731,550

- - 13,563 151,295

- - 1,603 623,853

- - 108,929 255,471

- - 158,427 163,271

915 - 144,783 235,456

1,391 - 124,321 138,176

5,580 44,940 21,082 73,022

8,590 23,590 16,111 49,129
16,476 68,530 588,819 1,689,673
8,795 (67,547) (16,717) 41,877

- - 28,240 160,943

4,300 69,724 104,025 196,800
(8,483) (46,210) (95,983) (197,647)
- - - (67,000)

(4,183) 23,514 36,282 93,096
4,612 (44,033) 19,565 134,973
42,017 11,386 565,365 1,424,276
46,629 (32,647) 584,930 1,659,249
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City of San José
Reconciliation of the Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds
to the Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019
($000's)

Net change in fund balances--total governmental funds (Page 31) $ 134,973

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:

Capital outlays are reported as expenditures in governmental funds. However, in the
statement of activities, the cost of capital assets is allocated over their estimated
useful lives as depreciation expense. In the current period, these amounts are:

Capital outlay $ 138,176
Depreciation expense (223,616)
Excess of depreciation expense over capital outlay (85,440)

The net effect of various miscellaneous transactions involving capital assets
(i.e. sales, retirements, trade-ins, donations)
Donated assets and other additions $ 19,922
Transfers from SARA 28,662
Transfers to SARA (1,600)
Proceeds from sale of capital assets (93,943)
Gain on disposal of assets 44,528
(2,431)

Decrease in long-term receivables are not current financial resources and therefore
are not reported in the governmental funds. (19,610)

Prepaid bond insurance costs are expended in governmental funds when paid, however, are
capitalized and amortized over the life of the corresponding bonds for the purposes
of the statement of activities. (19)

Amortization of deferred outflows of resources resulting from the deferred
loss on refunding of bonds (74)

Repayment of long-term obligation principal is reported as an expenditure in
governmental funds and, thus, has the effect of reducing fund balance because
current financial resources have been used. For the government-wide statements,
however, the principal payments reduce the liabilities in the statement of net
position and do not result in an expense in the statement of activities. The City's
long-term obligations were reduced because principal payments were made to
bondholders and HUD. 71,380

Accrued interest payable on long-term debt is reported in the government-wide
statement of activities, but does not require the use of current financial resources.
Amortization of bond premiums and discounts should be expensed as a component
of interest expense on the statement of activities. This amount represents the change

in accrued interest payable and the amortization of bond premiums and discounts
not reported in governmental funds.

Decrease in accrued interest payable $ 512
Amortization of premiums and discounts on bonds issued 1,971
Total net interest expense and amortization of discount/premium 2,483

Because some revenues will not be collected for several months after the City's fiscal year
end, they are not considered "available revenues" and are reported as deferred inflows
of resources in the governmental funds. (4,162)

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the cost of public works
support, employee benefits, and vehicle maintenance and operations to individual
funds. The change in net position is included in governmental activities in the
statement of activities. (85)
Some items reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of
current financial resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures
in governmental funds. These activities consist of:
Net increase in vacation, sick leave, and compensatory time $ (857)
Net decrease in estimated liability for self-insurance 6,666
Net decrease in other liabilities 18,321
Total expenditures 24,130

Changes to net pension liability and pension related deferred outflows and inflows of

resources do not require the use of current financial resources and, therefore,

are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds. (201,559)
Changes to other postemployment benefits liability and related deferred outflows and inflows of

resources do not require the use of current financial resources and, therefore,
are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds. 107,042

Change in net position of governmental activities (Page 25) $ 26,628

The Notes to Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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ASSETS
Current assets:
Equity in pooled cash and investments
held in City Treasury
Other cash and investments
Receivables (net of allowance
for uncollectibles)
Prepaid expenses, advances and deposits
Inventories

Total unrestricted current assets

Restricted assets:
Equity in pooled cash and investments
held in City Treasury
Cash and investments held with fiscal agent
Other cash and investments
Receivables (net of allowances
for uncollectibles)
Current portion of prepaid bond insurance

Total restricted assets
Total current assets

Noncurrent assets:
Prepaid bond insurance
(net of accumulated amortization)
Advances and deposits
Long-term receivable from SARA
Net other postemployment benefits asset
Capital assets (net of accumulated
depreciation):
Nondepreciable
Depreciable

Total noncurrent assets
Total assets

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Loss on refundings of debt
Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions
Deferred outflows of resources related to other
postemployment benefits
Total deferred outflows of resources

City of San José
Statement of Fund Net Position
Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2019

($000's)
Enterprise Funds
Norman Y. Mineta
San José Wastewater Municipal Internal
International Treatment Water Parking San José Service
Airport System System System Clean Energy Total Funds
159,170 449,410 24,997 38,414 11,277 683,268 18,666
- - - - - - 7
14,597 10,486 10,662 353 42,283 78,381 475
104 - - - - 104 -
- 773 - - - 773 1,150
173,871 460,669 35,659 38,767 53,560 762,526 20,298
34,836 8,308 - 2,158 - 45,302 -
133,294 - - - 4 133,298 -
- 2,255 - - - 2,255 489
5,360 - - - - 5,360 -
93 - - - - 93 -
173,583 10,563 - 2,158 4 186,308 489
347,454 471,232 35,659 40,925 53,564 948,834 20,787
1,941 - - - - 1,941 -
1,460 - - - - 1,460 -
- - - 17,863 - 17,863 -
- - - - 742 742 -
96,403 273,342 6,077 23,165 - 398,987 -
1,208,802 552,373 68,129 32,372 - 1,861,676 4,926
1,308,606 825,715 74,206 73,400 742 2,282,669 4,926
1,656,060 1,296,947 109,865 114,325 54,306 3,231,503 25,713
8,128 - - - - 8,128 -
18,111 47,018 5,215 2,005 804 73,153 -
2,427 4,564 440 152 174 7,757 -
28,666 51,582 5,655 2,157 978 89,038 -

The Notes to Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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City of San José
Statement of Fund Net Position (Continued)
Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2019

($000's)
Enterprise Funds
Norman Y. Mineta
San José Wastewater Municipal Internal
International Treatment Water Parking San José Service
Airport System System System Clean Energy Total Funds
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 22,995 25,343 448 900 35,027 84,713 183
Accrued salaries, wages, and payroll taxes 1,290 3,229 321 115 170 5,125 1,312
Interest payable 79 285 - - - 364 -
Short-term notes payable 52,216 - - - 10,000 62,216 -
Accrued vacation, sick leave and
compensatory time 1,842 3,829 185 161 125 6,142 -
Estimated liability for self-insurance 633 428 121 - 6,791 7,973 -
Advances and deposits payable 1,847 - - 94 - 1,941 -
Unearned revenue 3,826 - - - - 3,826 566
Total current liabilities unrestricted 84,728 33,114 1,075 1,270 52,113 172,300 2,061
Current liabilities payable
from restricted assets:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,209 - - - - 1,209 -
Interest payable 20,739 59 - - - 20,798 -
Unearned revenue 95 - - - - 95 -
Current portion of bonds payable, net 34,625 5,300 - - - 39,925 -
Total current liabilities payable from
restricted assets 56,668 5,359 - - - 62,027 -
Total current liabilities 141,396 38,473 1,075 1,270 52,113 234,327 2,061
Noncurrent liabilities:
Accrued vacation, sick leave and
compensatory time 397 441 - - - 838 3,081
Estimated liability for self-insurance 1,901 1,875 475 - - 4,251 -
Advance contributions from participating
agencies - 1,663 - - - 1,663 -
Advances, deposits, and reimbursable
credits - - 1,675 - - 1,675 -
Notes payable - 89,076 - - - 89,076 -
Bonds payable (net of premium/discount) 1,194,784 5,456 - - - 1,200,240 -
Net pension liability 105,487 215,610 18,693 7,583 - 347,373 -
Net other postemployment benefits liability 19,983 56,733 5,672 1,250 - 83,538 -
Total noncurrent liabilities 1,322,552 370,854 26,415 8,833 - 1,728,654 3,081
Total liabilities 1,463,948 409,327 27,490 10,103 52,113 1,962,981 5,142
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions 61 163 19 7 - 250 -
Deferred inflows of resources related to other
postemployment benefits 3,176 7,821 754 259 294 12,304 -
Total deferred inflows of resources 3,237 7,984 773 266 294 12,554 -
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 126,419 725,883 74,206 55,5637 - 982,045 4,926
Restricted for debt service 20,124 2,140 - 2,158 - 24,422 -
Restricted for capital projects and other
agreements 41,773 6,695 - - - 48,468 -
Unrestricted 29,225 196,500 13,051 48,418 2,877 290,071 15,645
Total net position $ 217,541 931,218 87,257 106,113 2,877 1,345,006 20,571
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City of San José
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position
Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019

($000's)
Enterprise Funds
Norman Y. Mineta
San José Wastewater Municipal Internal
International Treatment Water Parking San José Service
Airport System System System Clean Energy Total Funds
OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services $ 75,778 180,725 51,181 19,185 102,855 429,724 136,229
Rentals and concessions 23,717 13,976 - - - 37,693 -
Service connection, engineering
and inspection 64,560 4,050 - - - 68,610 -
Operating contributions from participating agencies - 45,605 - - - 45,605 -
Other 10,773 4,474 - - - 15,247 -
Total operating revenues 174,828 248,830 51,181 19,185 102,855 596,879 136,229
OPERATING EXPENSES
Operations and maintenance 75,724 133,946 42,722 6,781 95,811 354,984 138,613
General and administrative 25,042 33,533 2,397 6,820 2,603 70,395 -
Depreciation 49,026 29,616 2,798 1,748 - 83,188 2,415
Materials and supplies - 540 - 802 136 1,478 -
Total operating expenses 149,792 197,635 47,917 16,151 98,550 510,045 141,028
Operating income (loss) 25,036 51,195 3,264 3,034 4,305 86,834 (4,799)
NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Passenger facility charges 29,735 - - - - 29,735 -
Customer facility charges 18,704 - - - - 18,704 -
Operating grants 720 - - - - 720 -
Investment income 9,893 11,548 793 1,124 140 23,498 624
Interest expense (60,381) (1,690) - - (67) (62,138) -
Letter of credit fees - - - - (292) (292) -
Participating airline net revenue sharing (13,943) - - - - (13,943) -
Contributions for maintenance reserves - (25) - - - (25) -
Gain (loss) on disposal of capital assets (271) - - - - (271) 93
Other revenues (expenses), net 372 201 69 (15) - 627 9
Net nonoperating revenues (expenses) (15,171) 10,034 862 1,109 (219) (3,385) 726
Income (loss) before capital contributions,
transfers, and special item 9,865 61,229 4,126 4,143 4,086 83,449 (4,073)
Capital contributions 18,747 5,653 255 - - 24,655 -
Transfers in 673 327 - 31 - 1,031 4,200
Transfers out - (2,084) (584) (1,411) (93) (4,172) (212)
Special item - rate stabilization fund and
ten-year lookback distribution (16,266) - - - - (16,266) -
Changes in net position 13,019 65,125 3,797 2,763 3,993 88,697 (85)
Net position - beginning 204,522 866,093 83,460 103,350 (1,116) 1,256,309 20,656
Net position - ending $ 217,541 931,218 87,257 106,113 2,877 1,345,006 20,571

The Notes to Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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City of San José
Statement of Cash Flows
Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019
($000's)

Enterprise Funds

Norman Y. Mineta

San José Wi Municipal Internal
International Treatment Water Parking San José Service
Airport System System System Clean Energy Total Funds
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers and users $ 178,409 215,202 50,021 19,188 60,572 523,392 -
Cash received from interfund services provided - - - - - - 136,101
Payments to suppliers (32,827) (72,577) (39,670) (11,045) (55,150) (211,269) (114,324)
Payments for employees (32,652) (87,835) (7,124) (3,429) (2,915) (133,955) (24,367)
Payments for City services (21,945) - - - - (21,945) -
Payments to airlines (30,210) - - - - (30,210) -
Claims paid (141) - - - - (141) -
Other receipts 1,138 29,508 - - - 30,646 -
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 61,772 84,298 3,227 4,714 2,507 156,518 (2,590)
CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Transfer from other funds - - - 31 - 31 4,200
Transfer to other funds - (1,757) (584) (1,411) (93) (3,845) (212)
Operating grants 946 - - - - 946 -
Payments from other funds - - 22 - - 22 -
Net cash provided by (used in) noncapital
and related financing activities 946 (1,757) (562) (1,380) (93) (2,846) 3,988
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND
RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Passenger facility charges received 29,521 - - - - 29,521 -
Customer facility charges received 18,636 - - - - 18,636 -
Capital grants received 19,979 357 - - - 20,336 -
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (77,586) (132,164) (3,191) (1,053) - (213,994) (1,471)
Proceeds from commercial paper 55,000 - - - - 55,000 -
Proceeds from line of credit - 70,586 - - - 70,586 -
Principal payment on commercial paper (10,293) - - - - (10,293) -
Principal paid on debt (28,915) (6,737) - - - (35,652) -
Interest paid on debt (63,837) (1,642) - - (67) (65,546) -
Fees paid on letter of credit - - - - (292) (292) -
Advances and deposits returned 1,355 - - - - 1,355 -
Net cash provided by (used in) capital
and related financing activities (56,140) (69,600) (3,191) (1,053) (359) (130,343) (1,471)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sales and maturities of
investments 73,994 - - - - 73,994 -
Purchase of investments (69,511) - - - - (69,511) -
Interest received 8,658 11,007 771 1,124 140 21,700 624
Land and building rentals - 140 - - - 140 -
Net cash provided by investing activities 13,141 11,147 771 1,124 140 26,323 624
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 19,719 24,088 245 3,405 2,195 49,652 551
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning 267,521 435,886 24,752 37,167 9,086 774,412 18,611
Cash and cash equivalents - ending $ 287,240 459,974 24,997 40,572 11,281 824,064 19,162

The Notes to Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash
provided by (used in) operating activities
Operating income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net
cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation
Special item - rate stabilization fund and ten-year
lookback distribution
Participating airline net revenue sharing
Other nonoperating revenues
Decrease (increase) in:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses, advances and deposits
Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Accrued salaries, wages, and payroll
Accrued vacation, sick leave
and compensatory time
Estimated liability for self-insurance
Unearned revenue
Net pension liability, deferred outflows and
inflows of pension related resources
Net other postemployment benefits liability, deferred
outflows and inflows of postemployment benefits resources
Advances and deposits payable

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents
to the statement of net position:

Equity in pooled cash and investments
held in City Treasury
Unrestricted
Restricted
Cash and investments held with fiscal agent
Other cash and investments
Cash and cash equivalents

Noncash noncapital, capital and related financing,
and investing activities:

Disposal of capital assets

Capital contributions from developers

Amortization of bond discount/premium, and prepaid
bond insurance costs

Amortization of deferred outflows/inflows of resources
related to bond refundings

Change in capital related payables

Change in capital related receivables

Change in fair value of investments

City of San José
Statement of Cash Flows
Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019
($000's)

Enterprise Funds

Norman Y. Mineta

The Notes to Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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San José Wi Municipal Internal
International Treatment Water Parking San José Service
Airport System System System Clean Energy Total Funds
$ 25,036 51,195 3,264 3,034 4,305 86,834 (4,799)
49,026 29,616 2,798 1,748 - 83,188 2,415
(16,266) - - - - (16,266) -
(13,943) - - - - (13,943) -
1,139 - 69 48 - 1,256 9
3,007 (4,120) (1,229) (45) (42,283) (44,670) (136)
R (76) - - - (76) (5)
2 - - - - 2 -
18,278 1,634 (2,505) (260) 34,897 52,044 198
106 120 4 (27) 114 317 -
(89) (109) (18) (28) 109 (135) (160)
(487) (842) (300) - 6,791 5,162 -
(4,878) - - - - (4,878) (112)
6,210 18,418 2,251 646 (804) 26,721 -
(5,632) (11,538) (1,107) (404) (622) (19,303) -
263 - - 2 - 265 -
$ 61,772 84,298 3,227 4,714 2,507 156,518 (2,590)
$ 159,170 449,410 24,997 38,414 11,277 683,268 18,666
34,836 8,308 - 2,158 - 45,302 -
93,234 - - - 4 93,238 -
- 2,256 - - - 2,256 496
$ 287,240 459,974 24,997 40,572 11,281 824,064 19,162
$ (271) - - - - (271) -
- 5,296 255 - - 5,551 -
(3,492) 125 - - - (3,367) -
488 - - - - 488 -
(1,254) - - - - (1,254) -
1,231 - - - - 1,231 -
880 - - - - 880 -
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City of San José

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

Fiduciary Funds
June 30, 2019

ASSETS
Current assets:
Equity in pooled cash and investments held
in City Treasury
Cash and investments
Investments of retirement systems:
Investments:
Public equity
Short-term investment grade bonds
Private equity
Market neutral strategies
Bonds (immunized cash flows)
Core real estate
Commodities
Private debt
Emerging market bonds
Growth real estate
Treasury inflation protected securities
Cash and cash equivalents
Private real assets
International currency contracts, net
Sovereign bonds ex US
High yield debt
Total investments of retirement systems
Receivables:
Accrued investment income
Employee contributions
Employer contributions
Other
Restricted cash and investments held with fiscal agent
Total current assets

Noncurrent assets:
Advances to the City of San José
Accrued interest
Loans receivable, net
Advances and deposits
Prepaid bond insurance
Capital assets:
Nondepreciable
Depreciable, net
Total noncurrent assets
Total assets

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Loss on refundings of debt

($000's)
Pension
Trust Private-Purpose Agency
Funds Trust Funds

$ - 197 6,257

- 56,785 -

1,977,259 - -

1,200,172 - -

841,487 - -

436,565 - -

283,964 - -

247,400 - -

155,810 - -

261,777 - -

186,693 - -

154,017 - -

118,638 - -

92,517 - -

56,956 - -

104 - -

102,860 - -

17,678 - -

6,133,897 - -
10,563 - 38

2,980 - -

19,239 - -

40,719 298 -

- 117,797 -
6,207,398 175,077 6,295

- 739 -

- 1,076 -

- 4,121 -

- 5 -

- 1,809 -

- 2,892 -

6,069 50,598 -

6,069 61,240 -
6,213,467 236,317 6,295

$ - 38,089

The Notes to Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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City of San José
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position (Continued)
Fiduciary Funds
June 30, 2019

($000's)
Pension
Trust Private-Purpose Agency
Funds Trust Funds Fund
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ - 150 -
Due to brokers 8,792 - -
Accrued interest payable - 22,036 -
Unearned revenue - 8 -
Other liabilities 3,656 - 6,295
Total current liabilities 12,448 22,194 6,295
Long-term liabilities:
Due within one year - 141,514 -
Due in more than one year - 1,517,436 -
Total noncurrent liabilities - 1,658,950 -
Total liabilities 12,448 1,681,144 6,295
NET POSITION
Restricted for:
Employees' pension benefits 5,720,574 -
Employees' postemployment healthcare benefits 480,445 -
Redevelopment dissolution and other purposes - (1,406,738)
Total net position (deficit) $ 6,201,019 (1,406,738)
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City of San José

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

Fiduciary Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2019

($000's)

ADDITIONS
Redevelopment property tax revenues
Investment income:
Interest
Dividends
Net rental income
Net change in fair value of plan investments
Investment expenses

Total investment income
Contributions:
Employer
Employees
Total contributions
Charges for current services
Development fees
Gain on sale of revenue participation
Gain on sales of property and other assets
Grant revenue
Capital contribution from the City of San José
Other
Total additions

DEDUCTIONS
General and administrative
Project expenses
Pass through amounts to the County of Santa Clara
Payments to the County of Santa Clara for distributions to taxing entities
Transfer of properties to the City of San José
Depreciation
Allowance for loan losses
Interest on debt
Health insurance premiums
Refunds of contributions
Retirement and other benefits:

Death benefits

Retirement benefits
Veba transfer

Total deductions

Change in net position

Net position restricted for pension benefits,
postemployment healthcare benefits
and other purposes:

Beginning of year

End of year

The Notes to Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Pension
Trust Private-Purpose
Funds Trust Funds
$ - 226,744
41,147 1,229
20,920 -

- 101
175,418 -
(29,072) -
208,413 1,330
404,778 -

71,310 -
476,088 -

- 56

- 251

- 31

- 10,725

- 993

1,600

- 1,586

684,501 243,316
10,461 1,550

- 680

- 36,410

- 51,541

- 28,662

- 1,979

- 134

- 54,904

55,229 -
1,313 -
26,881 -
394,880 -

19 -
488,783 175,860
195,718 67,456

6,005,301 (1,474,194)
$ 6,201,019 (1,406,738)
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I. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
A. Reporting Entity

The City of San José, California (the “City”), was chartered on March 25, 1850, and has operated
under a Council-Manager form of government since 1916. The City has defined its reporting entity
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) in the United States of
America, which provide guidance for determining which governmental activities, organizations, and
functions should be included in the reporting entity. In evaluating how to define the City for financial
reporting purposes, management has considered all potential component units. The primary criteria
for including a potential component unit within the reporting entity are the governing body’s financial
accountability or whether the nature and significance of the relationship with the primary government
is misleading to exclude.

A primary government is considered to be financially accountable, if it appoints a voting majority of
an organization’s governing body and it is able to impose its will on the organization, or if there is a
potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to or impose specific financial
burdens on the primary government. A primary government may also be financially accountable if
an organization is fiscally dependent on the primary government regardless of whether the
organization has a separately elected governing board, a governing board appointed by a higher
level of government, or a jointly appointed board, and there is a potential for the organization to
provide specific financial benefits or impose specific financial burdens on the primary government.
Based upon the application of these criteria, the following is a brief description of each component
unit included within the City’s reporting entity. All such component units have been “blended” (or in
the case of the Successor Agency to the Redevelopment Agency of the City of San José reported as
a fiduciary fund) as though they are part of the primary government because the component unit’s
governing body is substantially the same as the City’s primary government and there is a financial
benefit or burden relationship between the City and the component unit, management of the City has
operational responsibilities for the component unit, and/or the component units provide services
entirely, or almost entirely, to the City or otherwise exclusively, or almost exclusively, benefits the
City, even though it does not provide services directly to it, or the City is entirely or almost entirely
responsible for the repayment of the debt of the component unit.

¢ Successor Agency to the Redevelopment Agency of the City of San José — The Successor
Agency to the Redevelopment Agency of the City of San José (the “SARA”) was created by State
statute, referred to in these notes as the Redevelopment Dissolution Law, to serve as a custodian
for the assets and to wind down the affairs of the SARA. The SARA is subject to the direction
and oversight of a board consisting of the Mayor and the other members of the City Council
(“SARA Board”). The SARA is also, pursuant to the Redevelopment Dissolution Law, subject to
the direction and oversight of an oversight board.

Beginning July 1, 2018, pursuant to Health and Safety Code section 34179(j), the individual
oversight boards within Santa Clara County no longer existed and were combined into one
county-wide oversight board (the “Oversight Board”). The Oversight Board is comprised of seven
member representatives with one member appointed by each of the following: County Board of
Supervisors, the city selection committee established pursuant to Section 50270 of the
Government Code, the independent special district selection committee established pursuant to
Section 56332 of the Government Code, the County Superintendent of Education, the Chancellor
of the California Community Colleges, a public appointment made the County Board of
Supervisors, and the recognized employee organization representing the largest number of
successor agency employees in the county. The Oversight Board is staffed by the County of
Santa Clara Auditor-Controller and tasks have been delegated among the County Finance
Agency, the Office of the County Executive, the Clerk of the Board of Supervisors, and Office of
the County Counsel.
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In general, the SARA’s assets can only be used to pay the enforceable obligations in existence
at the date of dissolution (including the completion of any unfinished projects that were subject
to legally enforceable contractual commitments). In general, the SARA is allocating revenue in
the amount that is necessary to pay the estimated annual installment payments on enforceable
obligations of the former Redevelopment Agency of the City of San José (the “Agency”) until all
enforceable obligations of the Agency have been paid in full and all assets have been liquidated.
Based upon the nature of the SARA’s custodial role, the SARA is reported in a fiduciary fund
(private-purpose trust fund).

San José — Santa Clara Clean Water Financing Authority — The San José — Santa Clara
Clean Water Financing Authority (the “Clean Water Financing Authority”) was created pursuant
to a Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement between the City and the City of Santa Clara. The
purpose was to finance the acquisition of, and additions and improvements to the existing San
José — Santa Clara Water Pollution Control Plant (the “Plant”), currently known as the
San José — Santa Clara Regional Wastewater Facility (the “RWF”). The Clean Water Financing
Authority is governed by a five-member Board of Directors; three are members of the San José
City Council and two are members of the City Council of the City of Santa Clara. The Clean
Water Financing Authority and the cities of San José and Santa Clara entered into an
Improvement Agreement and subsequent amendments to the Improvement Agreement (the
“Improvement Agreement”), which requires each city to make base payments that are at least
equal to each city’s allocable share of debt service requirements of the Clean Water Financing
Authority’s outstanding revenue bonds. Under the Improvement Agreement, the City of San José
is entirely responsible for the repayment of the Clean Water Financing Authority’s outstanding
revenue bonds. The Clean Water Financing Authority is blended in the Wastewater Treatment
System Enterprise Fund for financial reporting purposes.

City of San José Financing Authority — The City of San José Financing Authority (the
“Financing Authority”) was created by a Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement between the City
and the Agency. The Financing Authority was created for the purpose of facilitating the financing
of public improvements and facilities within the City and is authorized to issue bonds for this
purpose. The Financing Authority is governed by an 11-member Governing Board, which
consists of the members of the City Council. The Financing Authority is blended in the San José
Financing Authority Debt Service Fund for financial reporting purposes.

San José Diridon Development Authority — The San José Diridon Development Authority (the
“Diridon Authority”) was created in March 2011 by a Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement
between the City and the Agency. The Diridon Authority was created for the purposes of
overseeing the development of properties within the area of the City surrounding the San José
Diridon Station, and is authorized to issue bonds for this purpose. The Diridon Authority is
governed by an 11-member Governing Board, which consists of the members of the City Council.
The Diridon Authority did not have any activity in fiscal year 2018-19 (also known as “FY 2019”).

Separate financial reports for City departments and component units for the FY 2019, containing
additional information and more detailed information regarding financial position, changes in financial
position, and, where applicable, cash flows, are available from the City’s Director of Finance, 200
East Santa Clara Street; 13" Floor, San José, CA 95113-1905, for the following:

. Federated City Employees’ Retirement System (the “FCERS”)
o Police and Fire Department Retirement Plan (the “PFDRP”)

o Successor Agency to the Redevelopment Agency of the City of San José
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o Norman Y. Mineta San José International Airport (the “Airport”)
o San José — Santa Clara Clean Water Financing Authority

B. Financial Statement Presentation

Government-wide Financial Statements. The government-wide financial statements, i.e. the
statement of net position and the statement of activities, display information about the primary
government and its component units. These statements include the financial activities of the overall
government, except for fiduciary funds or component units that are fiduciary in nature. Eliminations
have been made to prevent the double counting of internal activities. For example, the direct expense
charges based on actual use are not eliminated, whereas indirect expense allocations made in the
funds are eliminated. These statements distinguish between the governmental and business-type
activities of the City. Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes,
intergovernmental revenues and other non-exchange transactions, are reported separately from
business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees charged to external parties.

The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues
for each business-type activity of the City and each function of the City’s governmental activities.
Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a business-type activity or
governmental function and, therefore, are clearly identifiable to a particular activity or function.
Program revenues include 1) fees, fines and charges paid by the recipients of goods or services
offered by the programs and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meet the operational or
capital requirements of a particular program. Revenues that are not classified as program revenues,
including all taxes, are presented as general revenues.

Fund Financial Statements. The fund financial statements provide information about the City’s
funds, including its fiduciary funds. Separate statements for each fund category, such as
governmental, proprietary and fiduciary, are presented. The emphasis of fund financial statements
are on the major governmental and enterprise funds of the City and are reported separately in the
accompanying financial statements. All remaining governmental funds are aggregated and reported
as nonmajor funds in the accompanying financial statements.

Fund accounting is designed to demonstrate legal compliance and to aid financial management by
segregating transactions related to certain government functions or activities. A fund is a separate
accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts.

The City reports the following major governmental funds:

The General Fund is the City’s primary operating fund. It accounts for all revenues and
expenditures necessary to carry out basic governmental activities of the City that are not
accounted for through other funds.

The Housing Activities Fund is a special revenue fund that accounts for all of the City’s
affordable housing activities funded by federal and state grants, as well as various fees.

The Low and Moderate Income Housing Asset Fund is a special revenue fund that was
created to administer the housing assets and functions related to the Low and Moderate Income
Housing Program retained by the City following the dissolution of the Agency on February 1,
2012. This fund is primarily funded by loan repayment program income generated from the
former Agency’s housing assets.
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The Special Assessment Districts Fund is a capital project fund that accounts for the capital
project and debt activities related to debt issued to finance public improvements benefiting
properties against which special assessments or special taxes are levied.

The San José Financing Authority Debt Service Fund is a debt service fund that accounts for
the debt activities related to capital projects funded with Financing Authority debt.

The City reports the following major enterprise funds:

The Norman Y. Mineta San José International Airport Fund accounts for the activities of the
City owned commercial service and general aviation airport.

The Wastewater Treatment System Fund accounts for the financing, construction and
operations of the Plant, the regional water reclamation program (known as South Bay Water
Recycling), and the San José Sewage Collection System and the Clean Water Financing
Authority.

The Municipal Water System Fund accounts for the operations of the five water system
operating districts: North San José, Evergreen, Coyote, Edenvale, and Alviso.

The Parking System Fund accounts for the operations of the City owned parking garage
facilities, parking lots, and parking meters located within the City.

The San José Clean Energy Fund accounts for the City’'s Community Choice Energy program
known as San José Clean Energy (“SJCE”), which allows the City to procure electricity for the
City and businesses and residents in San José with more renewable energy options.

The City also reports the following types of funds:

The Internal Service Funds are used to account for the public works support services provided
to City-wide capital programs; the cost of operating an automotive maintenance facility used by
other City departments; and employee benefits including medical, vision, dental, and
unemployment insurance costs on a cost-reimbursement basis.

The Pension Trust Funds account for the accumulated resources to be used for retirement
annuity and postemployment healthcare payments to members of the FCERS and the PFDRP,
collectively, the “Retirement Systems”.

The Private-Purpose Trust Funds account for the custodial responsibilities that are assigned to
the SARA with the passage of the Redevelopment Dissolution Law and for the James Lick Fund,
which holds resources in trust for the support of the EMQ Families First Agency (a.k.a. Eastfield
Ming Quong).

The Agency Fund accounts for assets held by the City in a custodial capacity with respect to the
San José Arena.

Document Summaries. All summaries of documents contained in the notes to the financial
statements are made subject to the provisions of such documents and do not purport to be complete
statements of any or all such provisions. Each reference is qualified in its entirety by reference to
such document, which is on file with or may be obtained from the City’s Director of Finance at the
address set forth in Note I.A.
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C. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting

The basis of accounting determines when transactions are reported in the financial statements. The
government-wide, proprietary and fiduciary funds (excluding agency funds) financial statements are
reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.
Agency funds do not have a measurement focus but are reported using the accrual basis of
accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities
are incurred, regardless of when the related cash flows take place. Non-exchange transactions, in
which the City gives (or receives) value without directly receiving (or giving) equal value in exchange,
include property and sales taxes, grants, entitlements and donations. On an accrual basis, revenue
from property taxes is recognized in the fiscal year for which the taxes are levied. Revenues from
sales and use, transient occupancy and utility user taxes are recognized when the underlying
transactions take place. Revenues from grants, entitiements and donations are recognized in the
fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements have been satisfied.

Governmental funds are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and
modified accrual basis of accounting. This focus is on the determination of, and changes in financial
resources, and generally only current assets and current liabilities are included in the balance sheet.
Revenues are recognized in the accounting period in which they become both measurable and
available to finance expenditures of the fiscal period. For this purpose, the City considers revenues
as available if they are collected within sixty days after the end of the current fiscal period.
Expenditures are generally recorded when a liability is incurred. However, principal and interest on
long-term debt and certain estimated liabilities, such as compensated absences and self-insurance
claims, are recorded when payment is due.

In governmental funds, revenues from taxes, franchise fees, investment income, state and federal
grants and charges for services associated with the current fiscal period are all considered to be
susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues in the current period. All other
revenue items are considered measurable and available only when cash is received by the City.

Proprietary funds distinguish between operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items.
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and
delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal
operating revenues of the City’s enterprise funds are charges to customers for sales and services.
In addition, the Wastewater Treatment System Fund’s on-going contributions from other participating
agencies for their allocation of the Plant's operating and maintenance expenses, their share of debt
service, and other commitments towards the Plant's improvements are also included as operating
revenues. Operating expenses for enterprise funds include the cost of sales and services,
administrative expenses and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting
this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.

Under the terms of grant agreements, the City funds certain programs by a combination of specific
cost-reimbursement grants, categorical block grants and general revenues. Thus, when program
expenses are incurred, there are both restricted and unrestricted net position available to finance the
program. It is the City’s policy to first apply restricted cost-reimbursement grant resources to such
programs, followed by restricted categorical block grants, and then by unrestricted general revenues.
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D. Use of Estimates

A number of estimates and assumptions relating to the reporting of revenues,
expenditures/expenses, assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of
resources, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities were used to prepare these financial statements
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Actual
results could differ from those estimates and assumptions.

E. New Pronouncements

During the year ended June 30, 2019, the City implemented the following Governmental Accounting
Standards Board (the “GASB”) Statements:

In November 2016, the GASB issued Statement No. 83, Certain Asset Retirement Obligations. This
statement addresses accounting and financial reporting for certain asset retirement obligations
(AROs). An ARO is a legally enforceable liability associated with the retirement of a tangible capital
asset. A government that has legal obligations to perform future retirement activities related to its
tangible capital assets should recognize a liability based on the guidance in this Statement. This
statement establishes criteria for determining the timing and pattern of recognition of a liability and a
corresponding deferred outflow of resources for AROs. This statement requires that recognition
occur when the liability is both incurred and reasonably estimable. The determination of when the
liability is incurred should be based on the occurrence of external laws, regulations, contracts, or
court judgments, together with the occurrence of an internal event that obligates a government to
perform asset retirement activities. Laws and regulations may require a government to take actions
to retire certain tangible capital assets at the end of the useful lives of those capital assets, such as
decommissioning nuclear reactors and dismantling and removing sewage treatment plants. Other
obligations to retire tangible capital assets may arise from contracts or court judgments. Internal
obligating events include the occurrence of contamination, placing into operation a tangible capital
asset that is required to be retired, abandoning a tangible capital asset before it is placed into
operation, or acquiring a tangible capital asset that has an existing ARO. The application of
Statement No. 83 did not have any effect on the City’s financial statements.

In April 2018, the GASB issued Statement No. 88, Certain Disclosures Related to Debt, Including
Direct Borrowings and Direct Placements. This statement defines debt for purposes of disclosure in
notes to financial statements as a liability that arises from a contractual obligation to pay cash or
other assets that may be used in lieu of cash in one or more payments to settle an amount that is
fixed at the date the contractual obligation is established. This statement requires that additional
essential information related to debt be disclosed in notes to financial statements, including unused
lines of credit; assets pledged as collateral for the debt; and terms specified in debt agreements
related to significant events of default with finance-related consequences, significant termination
events with finance-related consequences, and significant subjective acceleration clauses. For notes
to financial statements related to debt, this statement also requires that existing and additional
information be provided for direct borrowings and direct placements of debt separately from other
debt.

This statement defines direct borrowings and direct placements as having terms negotiated directly
with the investor or lender and are not offered for public sale. The application of Statement No. 88
had an impact on the reporting related to several debts incurred in connection with both governmental
and business-type activities. (See Note III.F).
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In June 2018, the GASB issued Statement No. 89, Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred before the
End of a Construction Period. This statement requires that interest costs incurred before the end of
a construction period be recognized as an expense in the period in which the cost is incurred for
financial statements prepared using the economic resources measurement focus. As a result,
interest cost incurred before the end of a construction period will not be included in the historical cost
of a capital asset reported in a business-type activity or enterprise fund, and fiduciary fund. The City
has updated the Capitalized Interest policy to no longer capitalize interest for the Wastewater
Treatment System Fund which had an immaterial impact to the financial statements. Application of
Statement No. 89 is effective for the City’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2021, and will be applied to all
remaining funds in subsequent years.

The City is currently analyzing its accounting practices to determine the potential impact on the
financial statements for the upcoming GASB Statements:

In January 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities. This statement establishes
criteria for identifying fiduciary activities of all state and local governments and describes four fiduciary
funds that should be reported, if applicable: (1) pension (and other employee benefit) trust funds, (2)
investment trust funds, (3) private-purpose trust funds, and (4) custodial funds. The statement also
provides for recognition of a liability to the beneficiaries in a fiduciary fund when an event has
occurred that compels the government to disburse fiduciary resources. Application of statement
No. 84 is effective for the City’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2020.

In June 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 87, Leases. This statement increases the usefulness
of governments’ financial statements by requiring recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities
for leases that previously were classified as operating leases and recognized as inflows of resources
or outflows of resources based on the payment provision of the contract. It establishes a single model
for lease accounting based on the foundational principle that leases are financings of the right to use
an underlying asset. Under this statement, a lessee is required to recognize a lease liability and an
intangible right-to-use lease asset, and a lessor is required to recognize a lease receivable and a
deferred inflow of resources, thereby enhancing the relevance and consistency of information about
governments’ leasing activities. Application of Statement No. 87 is effective for the City’s fiscal year
ending June 30, 2021.

In August 2018, the GASB issued Statement No. 90, Majority Equity Interests — an Amendment of
GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 61, to improve the consistency and comparability of reporting a
government’s majority equity interest in a legally separate organization and to improve the relevance
of financial statement information for certain component units. This statement requires that a
component unit in which a government has a 100 percent equity interest account for its assets,
deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources at acquisition value at
the date the government acquired a 100 percent equity interest in the component unit. Application
of Statement No. 90 is effective for the City’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2020.

In May 2019, the GASB issued Statement No. 91, Conduit Debt Obligations. This statement provides
a single method of reporting conduit debt obligations by issuers and eliminates diversity in practice
associated with (1) commitments extended by issuers, (2) arrangements associated with conduit debt
obligations, and (3) related note disclosures. This statement achieves those objectives by clarifying
the existing definition of a conduit debt obligation; establishing that a conduit debt obligation is not a
liability of the issuer; establishing standards for accounting and financial reporting of additional
commitments and voluntary commitments extended by issuers and arrangements associated with
conduit debt obligations; and improving required note disclosures. Application of Statement No. 91
is effective for the City’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2022.
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F. Assets, Deferred Outflows of Resources, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and
Net Position or Equity

1. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Restricted and unrestricted pooled cash and investments held in the City Treasury and other
unrestricted investments, invested by the City Treasurer, are considered cash equivalents for
purposes of the statement of cash flows because the City’s cash management pool and funds
invested by the City Treasurer possess the characteristics of demand deposit accounts. Other
restricted and unrestricted investments with maturities less than three months at the time of purchase
are also considered cash equivalents for purposes of the statement of cash flows.

2. Equity in Pooled Cash and Investments Held in City Treasury

Most cash balances of the City’s funds and some of its component units are pooled and invested by
the City Treasurer unless otherwise dictated by legal or contractual requirements. Income and losses
arising from the investment activity of pooled cash are allocated to the participating funds and
component units on a monthly basis, based on their proportionate shares of the average weekly cash
balance.

3. Deposits and Investments

Investments are accounted for in accordance with the provisions of GASB Statement No. 72, Fair
Value Measurement and Application. The City categorizes its fair value measurements within the
fair value hierarchy established by GAAP in the United States of America. The following levels
indicate the hierarchy of inputs used to measure fair value and the primary valuation methodologies
used for financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis:

e Level 1-Investments whose values are based on quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets
in active markets that a government can access at the measurement date.

e Level 2 - Investments whose values are based on inputs — other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 — that are observable for an asset, either directly or indirectly.

e Level 3 - Investments whose values are based on unobservable inputs for an asset and may
require a degree of professional judgment.

Pooled Cash and Investments held in City Treasury. The City reports its investments held in the
City Treasury at fair value. The fair value is based primarily on quoted market information and using
pricing applications and models obtained from fiscal agents or other sources. Income from some
investments is assigned to the General Fund. The assignment of the income from these investments
is supported by legal or contractual provisions approved by the City Council. For the year ended
June 30, 2019, the total investment income from these investments assigned and transferred to the
General Fund was approximately $1,693,000.

Retirement Systems. The Retirement Systems’ investment policies authorize various types of
investments. These investments are reported at fair value. Securities traded on a national or
international exchange are valued at the last reported sales price on the last business day of the
fiscal year at current exchange rates, if applicable. Investments that do not have an established
market, such as private equity, commingled real estate funds and certain pooled fund investments,
are reported at estimated fair value based on the most recently available investor reports or audited
financial statements issued by the manager of those funds. The fund manager provides an estimated
unrealized gain/loss of the fund based on the most recently available audited financial statements
and other fund information. Purchases and sales of securities are reflected on the date of trade.
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Investment income is recognized as earned. Rental income from real estate activity is recognized
as earned, net of expenses.

Other Investments. Non-pooled investments are generally carried at fair value. However,
investments in investment agreements are carried at cost. Income from non-pooled investments is
recorded based on the specific investments held by the fund. The investment income is recorded in
the fund that earned the income.

4. Inventories
Inventories of proprietary funds are reported at cost.
5. Loans Receivable, net

Long-term loans receivable, which consist of the principal amount of the loan plus accrued borrower’'s
deferred interest is reported in the governmental fund financial statements with an offset to
unavailable revenue for the deferred interest accrued and to restricted fund balance for the principal
amount of the loan. Long-term loans receivable reported in the governmental activities on the
government-wide statement of net position is not offset by unavailable revenue as it is recorded on
an accrual basis. Long-term loans receivable are recorded at their net realizable value.

6. Special Assessment Districts

Special assessments are recorded as receivables when liens are placed on properties. Special
assessments not considered available are recorded as receivables and offset by deferred inflows of
resources in the governmental fund financial statements. In general, special assessment and special
tax bonds are fully secured by liens against the privately owned properties benefited by the
improvements for which the bonds were issued. There is no reserve for delinquent receivables since
priority liens exist against the related properties and management believes full value will ultimately
be received by the City. Surplus funds remaining at the completion of a special assessment district
project are disposed of in accordance with the City Council’s resolutions and with the applicable laws
of the State of California. A liability is recorded for the balance remaining until a final legal
determination has been made.

7. Advances and Deposits

Amounts deposited mainly in connection with eminent domain proceedings are reported as advances
and deposits. In the governmental fund statements, noncurrent portions of these are offset equally
by either a credit or a classification of fund balance in the nonspendable, restricted or committed
account. In the business-type activities, the amount is related to the deposit with the insurance
company to fund the potential claims under the Airport’'s Owner Controller Insurance Program (OCIP).

8. Other Assets

Other assets primarily consist of real properties acquired outright and/or through foreclosure in
connection with the housing rehabilitation program and an asset associated with the City’s New
Market Tax Credit Financing (“NMTCF”) program. These assets are recorded at the lower of cost or
estimated net realizable value. The NMTCF program terminated in fiscal year 2018-19 (see Note
IV.B.4).

9. Prepaid Bond Insurance, Original Issue Discounts and Premiums, and Refundings

Prepaid bond insurance costs are amortized using the straight-line method over the life of the bonds.
Amortization of these balances is recorded as a component of interest expense.
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In the government-wide, proprietary fund and fiduciary fund financial statements, long-term debt and
other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable financial statements. Bond
premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized on a straight line basis over the life of the bonds.
Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount. Gains or losses from
refunding of debt are reported as deferred outflows or inflows of resources and amortized over the
shorter of the life of the refunded debt or refunding debt. Amortization of these balances is recorded
as a component of interest expense.

In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts,
as well as bond issuance costs, during the current period. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld
from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures.

10. Restricted Assets

Assets that are restricted for specific uses by bonded debt requirements, grant provisions or other
requirements are classified as restricted because their use is limited by applicable bond covenants
or agreements.

11. Capital Assets

Capital assets include land, buildings, improvements, vehicles and equipment, infrastructure, and all
other tangible assets that are used in operations and that have initial useful lives in excess of one
year. Capital assets are reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activity columns
in the government-wide statement of net position, the proprietary funds’ statements of net position,
and the private-purpose trust fund’s statement of fiduciary net position.

Capital assets are defined as assets with an initial individual cost of more than $5,000 for general
capital assets and $100,000 for major infrastructure assets, and an estimated useful life in excess of
one year. Such assets are recorded at historical cost if purchased or constructed. Donated capital
assets are recorded at acquisition value at the time received. Capital outlay is recorded as
expenditures of the governmental funds and as assets in the government-wide financial statements
to the extent the City’s capitalization threshold is met. For Norman Y. Mineta San José International
Airport Fund, interest incurred during the construction phase of capital assets is reflected in the
capitalized value of the asset constructed, net of interest earned on the investment proceeds of
taxable and tax-exempt debt over the same period. For the Wastewater Treatment System Fund,
interest cost incurred before the end of a construction period is recognized as an expense in the
period in which the cost is incurred. Amortization of assets acquired under capital leases is based
on the shorter of the lease term, when the lease does not transfer ownership or include a bargained
purchase option, or the estimated useful life of the asset and is included in depreciation.

Buildings, improvements, infrastructure, vehicles and equipment, and furniture and fixtures are
depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

Buildings 5—-40 years
Improvements, other than buildings 10 - 50 years
Infrastructure 25 - 50 years
Vehicles and equipment 2 - 40 years
Furniture and fixtures 10 years

Capital assets which are used for general governmental purposes and are not available for
expenditure are accounted for and reported in the government-wide financial statements. Capital
assets that meet the definition of the major infrastructure networks or extend the life of existing
infrastructure networks are capitalized as infrastructure. Infrastructure networks include roads,
bridges, drainage systems, and lighting systems.
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12. Compensated Absences — Accrued Vacation, Sick Leave, and Compensatory Time

Vacation, sick leave, compensatory time, and related benefits are accrued as determined by the
agreements between the City and the respective employees’ collective bargaining group. For
governmental funds, compensated absence obligations are recorded in the appropriate
governmental funds when due. The portion not currently due is recorded in the government-wide
financial statements. For proprietary funds, compensated absences are expensed when earned by
employees. Atyear-end, the accrued but unpaid compensated absence obligations are recorded as
current and noncurrent liabilities in the appropriate proprietary funds.

Vacation hours may be accumulated up to two times an employee’s annual accrual rate, which will
vary by years of service and bargaining unit, but it generally does not exceed a maximum of 400
hours for non-sworn employees and 360 hours for employees represented by the San José Police
Officer's Association (“SJPOA”). Employees represented by the International Association of
Firefighters, Local 230 (“IAFF”), may accumulate vacation hours up to 400 hours for employees on a
40-hour workweek and 576 hours for employees on a 56-hour workweek.

Employees in FCERS who retire with at least 15 years of service, or 20 years for police officers and
firefighters in PFDRP, may be eligible to receive, upon retirement, sick leave payouts based on
percentages of accumulated unused sick leave hours as determined by the respective collective
bargaining agreements for represented employees. Similar terms are applicable to eligible
unrepresented employees. Eligibility for sick leave payouts depends on the employee’s hire date.

The tables below summarizes the eligibility terms for sick leave payout and the terms governing the
amount of the payout.

Eligible for
Hire Date Sick Leave
Bargaining Unit (on or after) Payout?
Association of Building, Mechanical, ABMEI September 30, 2012 No
and Electrical Inspectors
Association of Engineers and AEA September 30, 2012 No
Architects, IFPTE Local 21
Association of Legal Professionals ALP September 30, 2012 No
Association of Maintenance Supervisory AMSP September 30, 2012 No
Personnel, IFPTE Local 21
City Association of Management CAMP September 30, 2012 No
Personnel, IFPTE Local 21
Confidential Employees’ Organization, CEO September 30, 2012 No
AFSCME Local 101
International Brotherhood of Electrical IBEW September 30, 2012 No
Workers, Local No. 332
International Union of Operating OE#3 September 30, 2012 No
Engineers, Local No. 3
Municipal Employees’ Federation, MEF September 30, 2012 No
AFSCME Local 101
San José Police Officers’ Association SJPOA July 7, 2013 No
San José Fire Fighters, IAFF Local 230 IAFF September 14, 2014 No
Unrepresented Employees Unit 99 September 30, 2012 No

Unit 81/82
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Bargaining Unit

Hire Date
(on or before)

Sick Leave
Balance'
Frozen as of:

Rate of
Pay?
Frozen as of:

Association of Building,
Mechanical, and Electrical
Inspectors

ABMEI

September 29, 2012

June 22, 2013

June 22, 2013

Association of Engineers and
Architects, IFPTE Local 21

AEA

September 29, 2012

June 22, 2013

June 22, 2013

Association of Legal
Professionals

ALP

September 29, 2012

June 22, 2013

June 22, 2013

Association of Maintenance
Supervisory Personnel,
IFPTE Local 21

AMSP

September 29, 2012

June 22, 2013

June 22, 2013

City Association of
Management Personnel,
IFPTE Local 21

CAMP

September 29, 2012

June 22, 2013

June 22, 2013

Confidential Employees’
Organization, AFSCME Local
101

CEO

September 29, 2012

June 22, 2013

June 22, 2013

International Brotherhood of
Electrical Workers, Local No.
332

IBEW

September 29, 2012

June 22, 2013

June 22, 2013

International Union of
Operating Engineers, Local
No. 3

OE#3

September 29, 2012

June 22, 2013

June 22, 2013

Municipal Employees’
Federation, AFSCME Local
101

MEF

September 29, 2012

June 22, 2013

June 22, 2013

San José Police Officers’
Association

SJPOA

July 6, 2013

July 6, 2013

July 6, 2013

San José Fire Fighters, IAFF
Local 230

IAFF

September 13, 2014

June 20, 2015

June 21, 2014

Unrepresented Employees

Unit 99
Unit 81/82

September 29, 2012

June 22, 2013

June 22, 2013

T For purposes of Sick Leave Payout. Employees will continue to accrue sick leave hours after the “Sick Leave
Balance Frozen as of” date, but such accrued sick leave may not be used for sick leave payout purposes. If
an employee reduces their sick leave balance below what it was as of the “Sick Leave Balance Frozen as of”
date, such employee will not be able to restore their sick leave balance for sick leave payout purposes.

2 For purposes of Sick Leave Payout. Employees may receive pay increases subsequent to the “Rate of Pay
Frozen as of” date, but the employee’s sick leave payout will be based on their rate of pay as of the “Rate of
Pay Frozen as of” date.

Compensatory time is generally provided to employees who work overtime and earn compensatory
time off at the rate of one and one half the number of overtime hours worked in lieu of pay. The Fair
Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”) provides that general employees may accrue up to 240 hours of
compensatory time, and employees responsible for law enforcement or fire suppression such as
those represented by SJPOA, IAFF, and in the Public Safety Communication Dispatcher
classifications may accrue up to 480 hours of compensatory time.
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13. Interfund Transactions

Interfund transactions are reflected as loans, services provided, reimbursements and/or transfers.
Loans and balances related to unsettled service transactions are reported as receivables and
payables as appropriate, are subject to elimination upon consolidation of similar fund types. The
current portion of interfund loans and unsettled service transactions are reported as “due to/from
other funds” and the noncurrent portion is reported as “advances to/from other funds”. Any residual
balances outstanding between the governmental activities and the business-type activities are
reported in the government-wide financial statements as “internal balances”.

Services provided are deemed to be at market or near market rates and are treated as revenues and
expenditures/expenses in the fund receiving revenue or being charged. Reimbursements are defined
as when one fund incurs a cost, charges the appropriate benefiting fund and reduces its related cost
as a reimbursement. All other interfund transactions are treated as transfers. Transfers between
governmental or proprietary funds are netted as part of the reconciliation to the government-wide
presentation.

14. Self-Insurance

The City is self-insured for workers’ compensation, general liability, auto liability, and certain other
risks, except as described in Note Ill.F.12. The City’s workers’ compensation activities are funded
and accounted for separately in the fund financial statements based upon the activities of each fund.
The current portion of claims liability is accounted for in the General Fund and the enterprise funds
on the basis of settlements reached or judgments entered within the current fiscal year. In the
government-wide financial statements and the enterprise fund financial statements, the estimated
liability for all self-insurance liability claims is recorded as a liability.

15. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources

Deferred resources related to pension expense, OPEB expense, and unamortized portions of the
gain and loss on refunding debt are reported as deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources.
In addition to this, when an asset is recorded in governmental fund financial statements but the
revenue is not available, a deferred inflow of resources is reported until such time as the revenue
becomes available.

16. Pensions

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability and deferred outflows/inflows of resources related
to pensions and pension expense, the fiduciary net position of the City’s defined benefit retirement
plans (PFDRP, FCERS, and the California Public Employees’ Retirement System (“CalPERS”)), and
additions to/deductions from the Retirement Systems’ and CalPERS’ fiduciary net positions have
been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the plans. For this purpose, benefit
payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in
accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.

17. Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB)

For purpose of measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred outflows/inflows of resources related to
OPEB, and OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the PFDRP and FCERS
OPEB plans and additions to/deductions from the OPEB plans’ fiduciary net position have been
determined on the same basis as they are reported by the plans. For this purpose, benefit payments
(including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance
with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.
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18. Net Position

The government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements utilize a net position presentation.
Net position is categorized as net investment in capital assets, restricted, and unrestricted.

Net Investment In Capital Assets — This category groups all capital assets, including
infrastructure, into one component of net position. Accumulated depreciation and the outstanding
balances of debt and deferred outflows/inflows of resources associated with the debt that are
attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of these assets reduce the balance
in this category.

Restricted Net Position — This category represents net position that has external restrictions
imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors or laws or regulations of other governments and
restrictions imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. At June 30,
2019, the government-wide statement of net position reported restricted net position of
$1,036,765,000 in governmental activities and $72,890,000 in business-type activities. Of these
amounts $351,596,000 and $28,192,000, respectively, are restricted by enabling legislation.

Unrestricted Net Position — This category represents net amounts that do not meet the criteria
for “restricted” or “net investment in capital assets”. When both restricted and unrestricted
resources are available for use, it is the City's policy to use restricted resources first, and then
use unrestricted resources as needed.

19. Fund Balances

Under GASB Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions,
the financial statements reporting for governmental funds classify fund balances based primarily on
the extent to which the City is bound to honor constraints on the specific purposes for which those
funds can be spent. Fund balance for the City’s governmental funds consists of the following
categories:

Nonspendable Fund Balance — includes amounts that are not in a spendable form, such as
inventories, prepaid items, and long-term loans and notes receivables. It also includes amounts
that are legally or contractually required to be maintained intact or required to be retained in
perpetuity.

Restricted Fund Balance — includes amounts reported as restricted when constraints placed on
the use of resources are either (1) externally imposed by creditors (such as through debt
covenants), grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments; or (2) imposed
by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

Committed Fund Balance — includes amounts that have been limited to specific purposes as
defined in the City Charter or through adoption of an ordinance by the City Council, the highest
level of decision making authority of the City. These commitments may be changed or lifted, but
only by the same formal action that was used to impose the constraint originally. City Council
action to commit fund balance must occur within the fiscal reporting period while the amount
committed may be subsequently determined.

Assigned Fund Balance — includes amounts that are intended to be used by the City for specific
purposes that are neither restricted nor committed through City Council budgetary action, which
include the approval of appropriations and revenue sources pertaining to the next fiscal year's
budget. On June 21, 2011, the City Council adopted a resolution establishing the City’'s
Governmental Fund Balance Financial Reporting Policy, which states that assigned fund
balances are intended to be used for specific purposes through City Council budgetary actions.
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Intent is expressed by (a) the City Council or (b) the City Manager to which the City Council has
delegated the authority to assign amounts to be used for specific purposes.

e Unassigned Fund Balance — includes amounts within the General Fund, the residual resources,
either positive or negative, in excess of what can be properly classified in one of the other four
fund balance categories. Unassigned amounts are technically available for any purpose. Other
governmental funds may only report a negative unassigned balance that was created after
classification in one of the other four fund balance categories.

In circumstances when an expenditure is made for a purpose for which amounts are available in
multiple fund balance categories, fund balance is depleted in the order of restricted, committed,
assigned, and unassigned.

20. Property Taxes

Property taxes are collected on behalf of and remitted to the City by the County of Santa Clara (the
“County”). The amount of property tax levied is restricted by Article 13A of the California State
Constitution (commonly referred to as Proposition 13). The County assesses property values, levies,
bills, and collects the related property taxes as follows:

Secured Unsecured
Valuation/lien dates January 1 January 1
Levy dates October 1 July 1

Due dates (delinquent after) 50% on November 1 (December 10)  July 1 (August 31)
50% on February 1 (April 10)

The City has elected to participate in the “Teeter Plan” offered by the County whereby cities receive
100% of secured property and supplemental property taxes levied in exchange for foregoing any
interest and penalties collected on the related delinquent taxes. Accordingly, property taxes levied
for the fiscal year are recorded as revenue when received from the County.

General property taxes are based either on a flat 1% rate applied to the fiscal 1976 full value of the
property or on 1% of the sales price of the property on sales transactions and construction that occur
after the fiscal 1976 valuation. The assessed value increases each year by an inflationary rate not
to exceed the percentage change for the California Consumer Price Index (“CPI"), or 2%, whichever
is less.”

The City’s net assessed valuation for the year ended June 30, 2019, was approximately $182.7
billion, an increase of approximately 6.7% from the previous year. The City’s tax rate was
approximately $0.173 per $100 of assessed valuation, which included the 1% basic levy and
additional levies for general obligation bonds Measures “O” and “P” (2000) and Measure “O” (2002).

21. Wastewater Treatment System

The Wastewater Treatment System is an enterprise of the City and is comprised of the Plant,
including South Bay Water Recycling and the San José Sewage Collection System. The Clean Water
Financing Authority was established to provide financing for the capital programs of the Plant
including the regional water reclamation program.

The Plant provides wastewater treatment services to the City and to six other sewage collection
agencies. The City's sewer service rates pay for the City's share of the Plant operations,
maintenance, and administration and capital costs.
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In 1959, the City and the City of Santa Clara entered into an agreement to jointly own and operate
the Plant. Under the agreement, the City serves as the administering agency and is responsible for
operating and maintaining the Plant. The cities share in the capital and operating costs on a pro rata
basis determined by the ratio of each city's assessed valuation to the sum of both cities’ assessed
valuations. Annually, these percentages are determined and applied to the capital and operating
costs on an accrual basis. For the year ended June 30, 2019, the City's portion of the capital and
operating costs was approximately 80.4% and the City's interest in the net position of the Plant was
approximately 78.5%.

Il. Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability
A. Deficit Net Position

Prior to February 1, 2012, the California Redevelopment Law provided tax increment financing as a
source of revenue to redevelopment agencies to fund redevelopment activities. Once a
redevelopment area was adopted, the former Agency could only receive tax increment to the extent
that it could show on an annual basis that it had incurred indebtedness that must be repaid with tax
increment. Due to the nature of the redevelopment financing, the former Agency liabilities exceeded
assets. Therefore, the Agency historically carried a deficit, which was expected to be reduced as
future tax increment revenues were received and used to reduce its outstanding long-term debt. This
deficit was transferred to the SARA on February 1, 2012. At June 30, 2019, the SARA has a deficit
of $1,407,284,000, which will be reduced when future redevelopment property tax revenues are
distributed from the Redevelopment Property Tax Trust Fund administered by the County of Santa
Clara Auditor-Controller to pay SARA’s annual enforceable obligations.

B. Deficit Unrestricted Net Position — Governmental Activities

At June 30, 2019, the City reported negative balances in unrestricted net position for its governmental
activities in the amount of $2,657,523,000 after adjusting for implementation of GASB Statement
No. 68 for Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pension since FY 2015 and GASB Statement
No. 75 for Accounting and Financial Reporting for OPEB since FY 2018.

C. Deficit Fund Balance — Major Governmental Funds

At June 30, 2019, the City reported a deficit fund balance of $32,647,000 for the San José Financing
Authority Debt Service fund, which was primarily due to the sale of the Hayes Mansion property and
the retirement of the Series 2008C and 2008D debts.
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lll. Detailed Notes on All Funds
A. Cash, Deposits and Investments

As of June 30, 2019, total City cash, deposits and investments, at fair value, are as follows (in

thousands):
Fiduciary Funds
Governmental Business-Type Pension Private-Purpose Carrying
Activities Activities Trust Trust Agency Value
Equityin pooled cash and investments $ 1179855 § 683,268 $ 197 § 6,257 $ 1,869,577
Cash and investments - - 56,785 - 56,785
Restricted assets:
Equityin pooled cash and investments 97,241 45,302 - - - 142,543
Cash and investments with fiscal agents 88,392 133,298 - 117,797 - 339,487
Other cash and investments 17,507 2,255 - - - 19,762
Investments of retirement systems - 6,133,897 - - 6,133,897
Total deposits and investments $ 1382995 § 864,123 $ 6,133897 § 174779  § 6257 $ 8,562,051
Deposits $ (51,558)
Investments 8,613,609
Total deposits and investments $ 8,562,051

Under the City’s cash management policy, investments are converted to cash as checks are
presented for payment. At June 30, 2019, the carrying amount of collateralized deposits has been
reduced by the amount of outstanding checks, resulted in the negative cash and deposits of $51.6
million.

Pooled Cash and Investments Held in City Treasury. The City maintains a cash and investment
pool that is available for use by all funds and certain component units. Each fund’s portion of this
pool is displayed on the accompanying governmental fund balance sheets and proprietary fund and
fiduciary fund statements of net position as “Equity in pooled cash and investments held in City
Treasury.”

Other Cash and Investments. The City has other cash and investments outside the City Treasury
that are invested pursuant to various governing bond covenants, San José Municipal Code or
California Government Code provisions.

Other cash and investments consist primarily of deposits and investments with trustees related to the
issuance of bonds and to certain loan programs operated by the City. These investments are made
either in accordance with bond covenants, and are pledged for payment of principal, interest, and
specified capital improvements or in accordance with trust and grant agreements.

Investments of Retirement Systems. The Retirement Systems’ funds are invested pursuant to
policy guidelines established by the respective Boards. The objective of each investment policy is to
maximize the expected return of the funds at an agreed upon level of risk. The Retirement Boards
have established percentage guidelines for types of investments to ensure the portfolio is diversified.
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Investment Risk. The investments are subject to certain types of risk, including interest rate risk,
credit risk, concentration of credit risk, custodial credit risk and foreign currency risk. These risks are
addressed separately for the investments related to governmental and business-type activities and
those related to the Retirement Systems, as follows:

1. Governmental and Business-Type Activities

Interest Rate Risk. Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market rates will adversely affect the
fair value of an investment. Generally, debt investments with fixed coupons for longer terms are
subject to more variability in their value as a result of changing interest rates. The City manages its
exposure to interest rate risk by capping the weighted average maturity of the investment portfolio at
two years. Also, the City sets the maximum maturity for every investment at the time of purchase by
asset class, with the longest not to exceed five years.

In practice, the City purchases a combination of shorter-term and longer-term investments and times
the cash flows to meet liquidity needs for operations. The average maturity of the City’s pooled cash
and investments at June 30, 2019, was approximately 661 days.

Credit Risk. Credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligations to the
holder of the investment. When investing, the City applies the Prudent Investor Standard and acts
with care, prudence and diligence to safeguard the principal, maintain liquidity and seek reasonable
yields. The City’s investment policy has strict rating requirements. The City manages credit risk by
selecting high quality securities, diversifying the portfolio and establishing monitoring procedures.

Investment in Local Agency Investment Fund. The City is a voluntary participant in the California
Local Agency Investment Fund (“LAIF”) that is governed by the California Government Code under
the oversight of the Local Investment Advisory Board (“Board”). The Board consists of five members
as designated by state statute. The fair value of the City’s investment in the LAIF pool is reported in
the accompanying financial statements at amounts based upon the City’s pro-rata share of the fair
value provided by LAIF, for the entire LAIF portfolio (in relation to the amortized cost of that portfolio).
The balance available for withdrawal is based on the accounting records maintained by LAIF, which
are recorded on an amortized cost basis, which is different from the fair value of the City's position in
the LAIF pool.

LAIF is part of the State’s Pooled Money Investment Account that allows cities, counties and special
districts to place money into the fund. LAIF operating account allows a maximum of 15 transactions
per account in a calendar month. The transaction amount shall be no less than $5,000 and in
increments of a thousand dollars. LAIF allocates interest earnings once every quarter. The interest
earnings can be withdrawn in exact amount at any time. LAIF bond accounts have no restrictions on
the amounts allowed on deposit, but are limited to one withdrawal every 30 days.

At June 30, 2019, the City’s pooled and fiscal agent investments in LAIF were approximately
$167,429,000 and the SARA’s investments in LAIF was approximately $56,337,000. The weighted
average maturity of LAIF was 173 days at June 30, 2019. The total amount recorded by all public
agencies in LAIF at June 30, 2019 was approximately $24.6 billion. LAIF is part of the State’s Pooled
Money Investment Account (“PMIA”). The PMIA is not registered with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”), but is required to invest according to the California Government Code. The
total amount recorded by all public agencies in PMIA at June 30, 2019 was approximately $105.7
billion and of that amount, 70.72% was invested in U.S. Treasuries and agencies, 22.15% in
depository securities, 6.37% in commercial paper, and 0.74% in loans.
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Concentration of Credit Risk. Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the
magnitude of a government’s investment in a single issuer. The City’s investment policy sets forth
the policies regarding concentration of credit risk.

The City Council adopted an investment policy related to the City’s cash and investment pool (the
"Policy”) on April 2, 1985, which is subject to annual review and was reviewed and amended on
March 19, 2019. The Policy specifically prohibits trading securities for the sole purpose of speculating
or taking an un-hedged position on the future direction of interest rates. Per the Policy, the
investments conform to Sections 53600 et seq. of the California Government Code and the applicable
limitations contained within the Policy.

The following table identifies the investment types that are authorized by the Policy as of June 30,
2019:

Maximum
Maximum Maximum Percentage Investment in
Authorized Investment Type Maturity  or Dollar of Portfolio  One Issuer

U.S. Treasury Obligations 5 years None None
U.S. Government Agency Issues 5 years None None
Supranationals 5 years 20% * None
Bankers' Acceptances 180 days 20% * 5% *
Insured Time Deposits 3 years * $10 million * 5% *
Uninsured Time Deposits 18 months * $10 million * 5% *
Commercial Paper 270 days 20% * 5% *
Negotiable Certificates of Deposit 1year* 20% * 5% *
Repurchase Agreements 92 days * 50% * 10% *
Reverse Repurchase Agreements 30 days * Lessez)?ggf/os*mllllon None
Corporate Medium Term Notes 3 years * 30% 5% *
California Local Agency Investment Fund N/A State Treasurer Limit None
Money Market Mutual Funds N/A 20% 10%
Municipal Bonds - Category 1 (City) 5 years 10% * 5% *
Municipal Bonds - Category 2 (State of CA) 5 years 5% * 5% *
Municipal Bonds - Category 3 (CA Issuers) 5 years 20% * 5% *
Municipal Bonds - Category 4 (Other 49 States) 5 years 20% * 5% *
Investment Agreements None None None
Mortgage Backed Securities (MBS) and .

Collateralized Mortgage Obligations (CMO) 5 years 10% None
Asset Backed Securities (ABS) 5 years 5% * None

* Represents where the Policy is more restrictive than the California Government Code.
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Other restrictions on investments are summarized as follows:

Purchases of United States government agency securities are limited to issues of Federal
Agriculture Mortgage Corporation (Farmer Mac), Federal Farm Credit Banks, Federal Home
Loan Banks, Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, and the Federal National Mortgage
Association. Investment in Farmer Mac may not exceed 10% of the total portfolio.

Purchases of Supranationals are limited to International Bank for Reconstruction and
Development, International Finance Corporation and Inter-American Development Bank.
Securities shall be rated “Aa3, AA or AA” or higher by Moody’s, S&P, or Fitch, respectively. No
rating may be lower than any of the ratings listed in the preceding sentence at the time of
purchase.

Purchases of Bankers’ Acceptances (“BAs”) are limited to issues by domestic U.S. or foreign
banks. The outstanding debt of the bank or its holding company must be rated “A3, A-, or A-" or
higher by Moody’s, S&P, or Fitch, respectively. No rating may be lower than any of the ratings
listed in the preceding sentence at the time of purchase.

Deposits up to $10,000,000 may be invested in banks and savings and loans and deposits shall
not exceed the net worth of that depository. Depositories must have a short-term rating of “P1,
A1, or F1” or better by two of the three nationally recognized rating services: Moody’s, S&P, or
Fitch, respectively. The outstanding debt of the bank or its holding company must be rated “A3,
A-, or A-” or higher by Moody’s, S&P, or Fitch, respectively. Deposits shall be either insured by
the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) or collateralized in the manner prescribed
by State law for depositories.

Commercial paper eligible for investment must be rated “P1, A1 or F1” or better by two of the
three nationally recognized rating services; Moody’s, S&P, or Fitch, respectively. Issuing
corporations must be organized and operating within the United States, have total assets in
excess of $500,000,000 and shall issue debt, other than commercial paper, if any, that is rated
“A3, A- or A-" or higher, by Moody’s, S&P, or Fitch, respectively.

Negotiable certificates of deposit are limited to banks and savings and loans with an issuer short-
term rating of “P1, A1, F1” or better by two of the three nationally recognized rating services:
Moody’s, S&P, or Fitch, respectively. The outstanding debt of the bank or its holding company
must be rated “A3, A-, or A-" or higher by Moody’s, S&P or Fitch, respectively. No rating may be
lower than any of the ratings listed in the preceding sentence at the time of purchase.

Repurchase agreements are to be executed only with primary dealers of the Federal Reserve
Bank of New York and financial institutions, which have entered into the City’s Master
Repurchase Agreement and any subsequent amendments to the Master Repurchase
Agreement. Securities accepted as collateral for the repurchase agreement are limited to U.S.
Treasury or U.S. Federal Government Agencies permitted under the Policy. The market value
of the securities that have been accepted as collateral shall, at the time of transfer, equal at least
102 percent of face value of the repurchase agreement. For other than overnight investments,
the securities transferred shall be marked to market on a daily basis and maintained at a market
value to at least 102 percent of the repurchase agreement’s face value.

Reverse repurchase agreements under the Policy are limited to the lesser of $25,000,000 or 20%
of the portfolio value and to those occasions where unanticipated short-term cash requirements
can be met more advantageously by initiating a reverse repurchase agreement than by selling a
security into the secondary market prior to maturity.
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Corporate medium term notes eligible for investment must be rated “A3, A- or A-” or better by
two of the three nationally recognized rating services; Moody’s, S&P, or Fitch, respectively.

Funds invested in LAIF, a State of California managed investment pool, may be made up to the
maximum dollar amount per separate legal entity in conformity with account balance limits
authorized by the California State Treasurer. The current maximum amount authorized by the
State Treasurer is $65,000,000.

Investments in money market mutual funds are limited to those funds registered with the SEC
and for which either one of the credit criteria are met: (1) obtained the highest ranking or highest
letter and numerical rating provided by no less than two nationally recognized rating services or
(2) retained an investment advisor registered with the SEC or exempt from the SEC registration
requirements with no less than five years of experience investing in securities and obligations
authorized by California Government Code Section 53601 and managing money market mutual
funds with assets under management in excess of $500,000,000. Investments by the funds are
restricted to U.S. Treasury and U.S. Government Agency backed securities permitted under the
Policy and must be maintained at no less than $1.00 per share.

Municipal bonds under the Policy are limited to a total of no more than 20% of the portfolio value.
The Policy establishes four municipal bond categories: (1) bonds issued by the City or its
agencies (as defined in the Policy), (2) by the State of California, (3) by other California local
agencies, and (4) by any of the other 49 states. Eligible securities must be rated “A3, A- or A-” or
better by two of the three nationally recognized rating services; Moody’s, S&P, or Fitch,
respectively.

Investment agreements may be used for the investment of bond proceeds in accordance with
the permitted investment provisions of the specific bond indentures and in accordance with other
safeguards outlined in the Policy to reduce the risk associated with a provider’s inability to meet
its contractual obligations.

Mortgage backed securities and collateralized mortgage obligations must be rated “AA-“ or better
by a nationally recognized rating service.

Asset backed securities must be rated “AA-“ or better by a nationally recognized rating service.

The Policy permits the Director of Finance to authorize investments that depart from the Policy’s
numerical limits if such an action is in the best interest of the City and is otherwise consistent with the
Policy and applicable City, state and federal laws. Whenever a deviation or exception to the Policy
occurs, it must be reported to the City Manager within 3 business days and to the City Council within
10 days of its discovery.
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The following schedule indicates the interest rate risk, credit risk and concentration of credit risk of
the City’s investments, as of June 30, 2019 (in thousands). The credit ratings listed are for and S&P,
respectively.

Maturity
Credit Under 30 31-180 181-365 1-5 Carrying
Type of Investment Rating Days Days Days Years Value
Pooled investments in the City Treasury:
Treasury Notes AAA/N/A $ 10000 $ - $ 44922 $§ 56933 $ 111855
Treasury Discounts N/A 9,990 9,946 - - 19,936
Federal Home Loan Banks AAA [ AA+ 73,735 - 35,875 81,599 191,209
Federal Home Loan Banks - Callable AAA [ AA+ - - - 16,198 16,198
Federal National Mortgage Association AAA | AA+ - - 3,645 29,481 33,126
Federal National Mortgage Association - Callable N/A/ AA+ - - 29,865 - 29,865
Federal Farm Credit Banks Bonds AAA [ AA+ 10,000 - 19,938 65,980 95,918
Federal Farm Credit Banks Bonds - Callable AAA [ AA+ - - - 23,211 23,211
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation AAA [ AA+ - - 8,035 59,872 67,907
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation - Callable AAA/ AA+ - 7,551 - 148,466 156,017
Farmer MAC Interest Bearing N/A - - 36,956 49,854 86,810
Supranational AAA T AAA - 23,681 - 193,281 216,962
Corporate Medium Term Notes AAA/BBB+ - 81,094 59,362 414,573 555,029
Corporate Floaters AAA/ A+ - 10,054 - 8,477 18,531
Negotiable Certificates of Deposit N/A - 115,146 45115 - 160,261
Commercial Paper N/A - 34,739 - - 34,739
Municipal Bonds AAA/AA 27,840 - 16,313 185,153 229,306
Money Market Mutual Funds N/A 16 - - - 16
California Local Agency Investment Fund Not Rated - 34,724 - - 34,724
Total pooled investments in the City Treasury 131,581 316,935 300,026 1,333,078 2,081,620
Investments with fiscal agents:
Treasury Bills N/A - 1,807 - 7,092 8,899
Federal Agricultural Mortgage Corporation N/A - - - 5,395 5,395
Federal Farm Credit Banks Aaa [ AA+ - - 782 - 782
Federal Home Loan Banks Aaa | AA+ - - - 26,685 26,685
Federal National Mortgage Association N/A 5,499 5,499
Money Market Mutual Funds Aaa / AAA 43,993 - - - 43,993
California Local Agency Investment Fund Not Rated - 132,705 - - 132,705
Total investments with fiscal agents 49,492 134,512 782 39,172 223,958
Total Citywide investments (excluding Retirement
Systems and the SARA) $ 181,073 § 451,447 § 300,808 $ 1,372,250 2,305,578
Trust Funds:
Total investments in Retirement Systems (See page 69) 6,133,897
Total investments in the SARA (See page 175) 174,134
Total investments $ 8,613,609

Investments with these issuers represent more than 5% of the City's pooled investments held in the City's Treasury.
Investments with these issuers represent more than 5% of the City's investments held outside the City's Treasury pool.
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Fair Value Measurement Categorization. The City categorizes its fair value measurements within
the fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles.
Mutual Funds and LAIF are valued by net asset value. The inputs and techniques used for securities
are not necessarily an indication of risk associated with investing in these securities. The City’s
investments in Money Market Mutual Funds and LAIF are not subject to fair value hierarchy.

The City has the following recurring fair value measurements as of June 30, 2019:

Pooled Investmentin the City Treasury
Investments by fair value level

Treasury Notes
Treasury Discounts
Federal Home Loan Banks
Federal Home Loan Banks - Callable
Federal National Mortgage Association
Federal National Mortgage Association - Callable
Federal Farm Credit Banks Bonds
Federal Farm Credit Banks Bonds - Callable
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation

Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation - Callable

Farmer MAC Interest Bearing
Supranational
Corporate Medium Term Notes
Corporate Floaters
Negotiable Certificates of Deposit
Commercial Paper
Municipal Bonds

Total Investments by fair value level

Investment not subject to fair value hierarchy
California Local Agency Investment Fund
Money Market Mutual Funds

Total Investments not suject to fair value hierarchy

Total Pooled Investments in the City Treasury

Investments with fiscal agents:
Investments by fair value level:
Treasury Bills
Federal Agricultural Mortgage Corporation
Federal Farm Credit Banks
Federal Home Loan Banks
Federal National Mortgage Association
Total Investments by fair value level:

Investment not subject to fair value hierarchy
California Local Agency Investment Fund
Money Market Mutual Funds

Total Investments not suject to fair value hierarchy

Total Investments with fiscal agents

Total Citywide investments (excluding Retirement

Systems and the SARA)

Trust Funds:

Total investments in Retirement Systems (See page 69)

Total investments in the SARA (See page 175)

Total investments

Money Market

Fair Value Measurement Using

Quoted Prices

in Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs
Carrying Value
6/30/19 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
$ 111,855 § 111,855 § - $ -
19,936 19,936 - -
191,209 - 191,209 -
16,198 - 16,198 -
33,126 - 33,126 -
29,865 - 29,865 -
95,918 - 95,918 -
23,211 - 23,211 -
67,907 - 67,907 -
156,017 - 156,017 -
86,810 - 86,810 -
216,962 - 177,692 39,270
555,029 - 555,029 -
18,531 - 18,531 -
160,261 - 160,261 -
34,739 - 34,739 -
229,306 - 229,306 -
2,046,880 131,791 1,875,819 39,270
34,724
16
34,740
2,081,620 131,791 1,875,819 39,270
8,899 8,899 - -
5,395 - 5,395 -
782 - 782 -
26,685 - 26,685 -
5,499 - 5,499 -
47,260 8,899 38,361 -
132,705
43,993
176,698
223,958 8,899 38,361 -
2,305,578 $ 140,690 §$ 1,914,180 § 39,270
6,133,897
174,134
S 8613609
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Securities classified in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using prices quoted in active
markets for those securities. Government agency securities classified in Level 2 of the fair value
hierarchy are valued using Interactive Data (IDC) institutional bond pricing techniques. Corporate
notes and Supranational classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using evaluated
pricing applications and models, which gather the information from market sources and integrate
relative credit information, observed market movements, and sector news. Commercial paper
classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using a matrix pricing technique based
upon yields and effective maturity. Municipal bonds classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy
are valued using JJ Kenny municipal pricing technique. Negotiable certificates of deposit classified
in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using IDC CD pricing, a Multi-dimensional relational
model and/or Option Adjusted Spread (OAS).

Custodial Credit Risk. Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of
a depository financial institution, the City will not be able to recover its deposits or will not be able to
recover collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The custodial credit risk
for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty (e.g., broker - dealer) to
a transaction, the City will not be able to recover the value of its investment or collateral securities
that are in the possession of another party. The California Government Code requires that a financial
institution secure its deposits made by state or local governmental units by pledging securities in an
undivided collateral pool held by the depository regulated under state law (unless so waived by the
governmental unit). The market value of the pledged governmental securities and/or first trust deed
mortgage notes held in the collateral pool must be at least 110% and 150% of the City's deposits,
respectively. The collateral is held by the pledging financial institution's trust department and is
considered held in the City's name. As of June 30, 2019, the City’s deposits were collateralized at
110%. All investments in the City Treasury were in the City’s name. Neither deposits nor investments
held by the City were subject to custodial credit risk.

Concentration of Credit Risk. Concentration of credit risk is the risk that the failure of any one issuer
would place an undue financial burden on the City. The City mitigates the concentration of credit risk
by diversifying the portfolio and limiting investments in any one issuer to no more than 5% of the total
portfolio unless discussed otherwise in the above table. Investments issued by or explicitly
guaranteed by the U.S. government and investments in mutual funds, external investment pools, and
other pooled investments are exempt from this requirement.

As of June 30, 2019, the City’s pooled investments in the City Treasury have investments in U.S.
Agencies that represents 5% or more of the total pooled investments in the following:

Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 10.76%
Federal Home Loan Banks 9.96%
International Bank for Reconstruction & Development 7.46%
Federal Farm Credit Banks 5.72%

In addition, the following major funds hold investments with trustees that represent 5% or more of the
funds’ investments outside the City Treasury as of June 30, 2019:

Airport:
Federal Home Loan Banks 11.92%

Foreign Currency Risk. The risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely affect the fair value
of an investment. As of June 30, 2019, the City’s Policy does not permit investments in the pool to
hold foreign currency; as such the investments in the City’s investment pool were not subject to
foreign currency risk.
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2. Retirement Systems

Investment Policies — The City’s Municipal Code delegates authority to the Boards of Administration
of PFDRP and FCERS (“the “Retirement Boards”) to invest monies of the respective plans as
provided in the Municipal Code. Each Retirement Board has adopted detailed investment guidelines
consistent with the conditions and limitations set forth in the Municipal Code.

For the year ended June 30, 2019, the investment policy for the PFDRP Defined Benefit Pension
Plan, as shown in the following table, which the PFDRP’s Board reviewed and approved on April 4,
2019. The new asset allocation was prepared to align with the long-term expected returns of the
underlying asset classes and PFDRP’s adopted actuarial assumed rate of return as utilized as of the
June 30, 2019 measurement date.

The PFDRP’s investment allocation for the Defined Benefit Pension Plan is as follows:

PFDRP - Pension

Target Target
Asset Asset
Asset Class Allocation Asset Class Allocation

Public equity 31% Emerging market bonds 3%
Short-term investment grade bonds 20% Growth real estate 3%
Private equity 8% Private real assets 3%
Market neutral strategies 7% Sovereign bonds ex US 3%
Bonds (immunized cash flows) 5% Commodities 2%
Core real estate 5% Treasury inflation-protected securities 2%
Private debt 4% Cash and cash equivalents -
Venture / growth capital 4%

On April 4, 2019, PFDRP’s Board adopted the following asset allocation for the 115 healthcare trusts
of the PFDRP Postemployment Healthcare Plan. The Postemployment Healthcare Plan investment
policy was originally approved August 7, 2014. The new asset allocation was prepared to align with
the long-term expected returns of the underlying asset classes and PFDRP’s adopted actuarial
assumed rate of return as utilized as of the June 30, 2019 measurement date.

PFDRP - Postemployment Healthcare

Target

Minimum Asset Maximum

Asset Class Allocation Allocation Allocation
Global equity 25% 43% 50%
Real assets 12% 22% 25%
Global tactical asset allocation - 20% 25%
Global fixed income 5% 15% 25%
Cash and cash equivalents - - 5%

Note: The real assets category includes allocations to commodities, real estate, and other infrastructure assets.
The global tactical asset category is currently comprised of two global tactical asset allocation managers who
run unconstrained global portfolios.

For the year ended June 30, 2019, the investment policy for the FCERS Defined Benefit Pension
Plan was updated, as shown in the following table, which FCERS’ Board approved on April 18, 2019.
The new asset allocation was prepared to align with the long-term expected returns of the underlying
asset classes and FCERS’ adopted actuarial assumed rate of return as utilized as of the June 30,
2019 measurement date.
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The FCERS’ Defined Benefit Pension Plan investment asset allocation is as follows:

FCERS - Pension

Target Target
Asset Asset
Asset Class Allocation Asset Class Allocation

Public equity 30% Commodities 3%
Short-term investment grade bonds 20% Emerging market bonds 3%
Private equity 10% Growth real estate 3%
Market neutral strategies 7% Private real assets 3%
Bonds (immunized cash flows) 5% Treasury inflation-protected securities 2%
Core real estate 5% Cash and cash equivalents -
Venture / growth capital 5% International currency contracts, net -
Private debt 4%

On April 19, 2018, the FCERS’ Board adopted a new asset allocation for the 115 healthcare trust of
the Postemployment Healthcare Plan. The Postemployment Healthcare Plan investment policy was
originally approved on March 21, 2013. The new asset allocation was prepared to align with the long-
term expected returns of the underlying asset classes and FCERS’ adopted actuarial assumed rate
of return as utilized as of the June 30, 2019 measurement date.

FCERS - Postemployment Healthcare

Target
Minimum Asset Maximum
Asset Class Allocation Allocation Allocation
Global equity 40% 55% 54%
Fixed income 20% 28% 40%
Real assets 15% 17% 30%

Note: The real assets asset class allocates to commodities, natural resources, infrastructure, and real estate.

At June 30, 2019, the Retirement Systems held the following investments (in thousands):

PFDRP FCERS Total
Securities and other:

Fixed income:
Short-term investment grade bonds $ 722,360 $ 477,812 $ 1,200,172
Treasury inflation-protected securities 74,200 44,438 118,638
Sovereign bonds ex US 102,860 - 102,860
Emerging market bonds 116,277 70,416 186,693
High yield debt 17,678 - 17,678
Bonds (immunized cash flows) 178,976 104,988 283,964
Cash and cash equivalents 51,340 41177 92,517
Total fixed income 1,263,691 738,831 2,002,522
Commodities 79,835 75,975 155,810
Core real estate 148,683 98,717 247,400
Growth real estate 101,577 52,440 154,017
International currency contracts, net 65 39 104
Market neutral strategies 263,211 173,354 436,565
Private debt 189,201 72,576 261,777
Private equity 460,412 381,075 841,487
Private real assets 34,679 22,277 56,956
Public equity 1,185,780 791,479 1,977,259

Total investments $ 3,727,134 $ 2406763 $ 6,133,897
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Investments are subject to certain types of risks, including interest rate risk, custodial credit risk,
credit quality risk, foreign currency risk, and concentration of credit risk. The following describes
those risks:

Interest Rate Risk — The fair value of fixed income investments fluctuates in response to changes
in market interest rates. Increases in prevailing interest rates generally translate into decreases in
fair value of those instruments. The fair value of interest-sensitive instruments may also be affected
by the creditworthiness of the issuer, prepayment options, and other general interest rate conditions.
Certain fixed income investments have call provisions that could result in shorter maturity periods.
The Retirement Systems do not have a policy regarding interest rate risk. However, the Retirement
Systems do settle on a transaction plus one day basis (T+1), therefore limiting the Retirement
Systems’ exposure to counterparty risk.

The following tables provide the segmented time distribution for fixed income investments based on
expected maturity (in months and years) as of June 30, 2019 (in thousands):

PFDRP
0-3 3-6 6 months - 1-5 5-10 More than Total
months months 1 year years years 10 years Fair Value Cost
Short-term investment grade bonds § 722360 § - $ - $ - -8 - § 72360 § 722342
Treasury inflation-protected securities 2,17 - 9,312 62,717 - - 74,200 73,190
Sovereign bonds ex US - - - 35,724 27,602 39,534 102,860 103,681
Emerging market bonds - - 116,277 - 116,277 91,077
High yield debt 90 - - 17,588 - - 17,678 2,555
Bonds (immunized cash flows) 5,802 9,320 15,209 148,645 - - 178,976 178,363
Cash and cash equivalents 51,340 B . . . . 51340 51340
Total fixed income § 781763 § 9320 § 24521 § 264674 § 143879 § 39534 § 1263691 § 1,222,548
FCERS
0-3 3-6 6 months - 1-5 5-10 More than Total
months months 1 year years years 10 years Fair Value Cost
Treasury inflation-protected securies ~ § 1,406 § - § 5562 § 37470 § - $ - 0§ 44438 § 44485
Short-term investment grade bonds 477,812 - - - - 477,812 477,810
Emerging market bonds - - - 70,416 - 70,416 67,147
Bonds (immunized cash flows) 4,861 7,400 12,327 80,400 - - 104,988 104,587
Cash and cash equivalents N7 - - - - M7 40,246
Total fixed income § 525256 § 7400 § 17889 § 117870 § 70416 § - 0§ 73883 § 734215

Custodial Credit Risk — Custodial credit risk is the risk that the Retirement Systems will not be able
to recover the value of their investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an
outside party, if that outside party fails. The Retirement Systems do not have a policy regarding
custodial credit risk. As of June 30, 2019, all of the Retirement Systems’ investments are held in the
Retirement Systems’ names and/or are not exposed to custodial credit risk.

Credit Quality Risk — The Retirement Systems’ investment policies allow for investments in a wide
variety of domestic and international debt securities that may carry a high rating, low rating, or be
unrated. Investment managers may, as part of their investment strategy, invest in securities where
the issuer’s ability or willingness to pay is limited. At times, these debt securities may be converted
into other debt, equity, or hybrid securities that have different risk and return characteristics than the
securities initially purchased. The Retirement Systems may hedge against the possible adverse
effects of currency fluctuations on the Retirement Systems’ portfolios of international fixed income
obligations when it is considered appropriate. This is typically achieved using forward currency
contracts. Short-term investments may consist of commercial paper rated at least A1 or P1,
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repurchase agreements, short-term U.S. securities, and other money market investments. Nationally
recognized statistical rating organizations provide ratings of debt securities’ quality based on a variety
of factors, such as the financial condition of the issuers, which provide investors with some idea of
the issuer’s ability to meet its obligations.

The table provides information for the portfolios as of June 30, 2019 concerning credit risk (in
thousands) and reflect only securities held in the Retirement Systems’ names.

PFDRP FCERS
S&P Quality Fair Value as a Fair Value as a
Rating Fair Value % of Total Fixed Income Fair Value % of Total Fixed Income
AAA $ 16,917 1.34% $ - 0.00%
AA+ 297,773 23.56% 631,994 85.54%
AA 703,117 55.64% - 0.00%
A+ 1,008 0.08% - 0.00%
A 34,080 2.70% - 0.00%
A- 841 0.07% - 0.00%
BBB 10,171 0.80% - 0.00%
BB+ 716 0.06% - 0.00%
BB 34 0.00% - 0.00%
Not Rated 199,034 15.75% 106,837 14.46%
Total $ 1,263,691 100.00% $ 738,831 100.00%

Foreign Currency Risk — This is the risk that changes in the exchange rates will adversely affect
the fair value of underlying investments. To mitigate this risk, the Retirement Systems’ investment
policies permit individual investment managers to mitigate the impact of currency fluctuation on the
underlying asset value. The Retirement Systems’ investment managers enter into international
forward currency contracts, which are commitments to purchase or sell stated amounts of
international currency. The Retirement Systems utilize these contracts to control exposure and
facilitate the settlement of international security purchase and sale transactions. At
June 30, 2019, the Retirement Systems’ net positions in these contracts are recorded at fair value as
international currency contract investments. The fair values of international currency contracts are
determined by quoted currency prices from national exchanges. The Retirement Systems’
commitments relating to international currency contracts are settled on a net basis.
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The following tables provide information as of June 30, 2019, concerning the fair value of investments
that are subject to foreign currency risk (in thousands):

PFDRP
International
Global Currency Growth
Public Fixed Contracts, Real Total
Currency Name Cash Equity Income Net Estate Exposure

Australian dollar $ 8 $ 7,183 $ 2827 §$ - $ - $ 10,018

Canadian dollar 40 8,446 2,743 - - 11,229

Chinese yuan renminbi - - - 65 - 65

Danish krone 2 722 757 - - 1,481

Euro member countries 81 22,005 54,538 - 23,096 99,720

Hong Kong dollar - 2,176 - - - 2,176

Japanese yen 46 8,368 32,877 - - 41,291

Korean (South) won - 13,461 - - - 13,461

Mexican peso 42 - 1,059 - - 1,101

Norwegian krone 14 911 350 - - 1,275

Poland zloty 22 - 878 - - 900

Singapore dollar 2 - 1,216 - - 1,218

South African rand 9 - 785 - - 794

Swedish krona 7 3,035 506 - - 3,548

Swiss franc - 25,031 - - - 25,031

United Kingdom pound 32 27,714 9,017 - - 36,763

Total $ 305 § 119,062 $ 107,553 § 65 $ 2309 $ 250,071

FCERS
International
Currency Growth
Public Contracts, Private Real Total

Currency Name Cash Equity Net Equity Estate Exposure
Australian dollar $ - $ 3,965 $ - $ - $ - $ 3,965
British pound - 16,354 - - - 16,354
Canadian dollar 1 4,850 - - - 4,851
China yuan renminbi - - 39 - - 39
Danish krone - 399 - - - 399
Euro currency 101 12,772 - 1,194 11,698 25,765
Hong Kong dollar - 1,185 - - - 1,185
Japanese yen - 4,612 - - - 4,612
Korean won - 8,137 - - - 8,137
Norwegian krone - 503 - - - 503
Swedish krona - 1,675 - - - 1,675
Swiss franc - 15,137 - - - 15,137
Taiwanese new dollar 8 - - - - 8
Total $ 110 $ 69589 $ 39 $ 1194 § 11,698 $ 82,630

Investment Concentration Risk — The Retirement Systems’ investment policies specify that
investments shall be diversified with the intent to minimize the risk of large investment losses. The
total portfolio shall be constructed in a way to provide prudent diversification with regard to the
concentration of holdings in individual asset classes, issues, issuers, geographies or industries. In
addition, assets will be assigned to a variety of investment managers that employ a range of
investment management strategies. No single investment management firm shall be authorized to
manage more than 15% of the applicable plan’s assets without approval by the applicable Retirement
Board, with the exception of passive management, where the applicable plan's assets are not held
in the applicable plan's name at the applicable plan's custodial bank. In such cases, there is no
concentration limit. As a general rule, assets placed with an investment manager should not
represent more than 10% of the total assets of the applicable plan managed by that firm, without prior
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approval of the applicable Retirement Board. As of June 30, 2019, none of the Retirement Systems
held investments in any one issuer, excluding U.S. Government guaranteed investments, that
represented 5% or more of the total applicable plan’s net position or total investments.

Derivatives — The Retirement Systems’ investment policies allow for investments in derivative
instruments that comply with the Retirement Systems’ objectives of providing a cost effective means
of managing portions of a portfolio and to manage risk through hedging activities. The Retirement
Systems are currently authorized to use derivative strategies to equitize cash during portfolio
transitions until physical securities are in place and to reproduce or replicate a physical holding that
corresponds to the applicable Retirement Board’s approved policy benchmark. In addition to the
Retirement Systems’ internal derivative policies, it is understood that the mandates of certain
investment managers retained by the Retirement Systems may use derivatives.

Derivative investments are reported at fair value. Derivative instruments traded on a national or
international exchange are valued at the last reported sales price on the last business day of the
fiscal year at current exchange rates, if applicable. Futures contracts are marked-to-market at the
end of each trading day, and the settlement of gains or losses occur on the following business day
through variation margins. As a result, futures have no fair value as of June 30, 2019. The fair value
of international currency forwards represents the unrealized gain or loss on the related contracts,
which is calculated based on the difference between the specified contract exchange rate and the
exchange rate at the end of the reporting period.

The fair values and notional amounts for derivative instruments outstanding as of June 30, 2019,
classified by type, and the changes in fair value of such derivative instruments for the year then ended
as reported in the financial statements are as follows (in thousands):

PFDRP
Net Appreciation/(Depreciation) in Fair Value of
Investments through June 30, 2019 Fair Value at June 30, 2019 Notional
Investment Derivative Instruments Classification Amount Classification Amount Amount/Shares
Fixed income futures long Investment income $ (51) Futures $ - $ -
Fixed income futures short Investment income 28 Futures - -
FX forwards Investment income (4,770)  Long-term instruments 65 6,244
Index futures long Investment income 2,892  Futures - 10
Index futures short Investment income (1,112) -
Rights Investment income 3 Common stock - -
Total derivative instruments $ (3,010) $ 65
FCERS
Net Appreciation/(Depreciation) in Fair Value of
Investments through June 30, 2019 Fair Value at June 30, 2019 Notional
Investment Derivative Instruments Classification Amount Classification Amount Amount/Shares
Fixed income futures long Investment income $ (208) $ $ -
Fixed income futures short Investment income 30 - -
FX forward Investment income 255  Long-term instruments 39 3,774
Index futures long Investment income (452) Futures - 3
Index futures short Investment income (668) Futures - -
Total derivative instruments $ (1,043) $ 39
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Derivative investments are also subject to counterparty credit risk (non-exchange traded). The
following describes the risks applicable to the investment derivative instruments that are reported as
of June 30, 2019.

Counterparty Credit Risk — The Retirement Systems are exposed to credit risk on derivative
instruments that are in asset positions and non-exchange traded. The Retirement Systems’
investments in forward currency contracts bear counterparty credit risk in that parties to the contracts
may fail to perform according to the terms of the contract.

As of June 30, 2019, PFDRP had total commitments in forward currency contracts to purchase and
sell international currencies were $6,244,000, with fair values of $6,262,000 and $6,197,000,
respectively, held by counterparties with an S&P rating of at least AA-.

As of June 30, 2019, FCERS had total commitments in forward currency contracts to purchase and
sell international currencies were $3,774,000, with fair values of $3,785,000 and $3,746,000,
respectively, held by counterparties with an S&P rating of A and above.

Fair Value Measurements — The Retirement Systems categorize their fair value measurements
within the fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles. The fair value
hierarchy, which has three levels, is based on the valuation inputs used to measure an asset’s fair
value and gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities (level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (level 3
measurements). The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for an asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly. Inputs to the valuation include: 1) quoted prices for similar
assets or liabilities in active markets; 2) quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in
markets that are not active; 3) inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or
liability; and 4) market-corroborated inputs.

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for an asset or liability where there are little market activities.
The inputs into the determination of fair value are based upon the best information in the
circumstances and may require management judgment or estimation.
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The Retirement Systems have the following recurring fair value measurements as of June 30, 2019:

PFDRP Fair Value Measurement Using
Net Asset
(In Thousands) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Value (NAV)

Investments by fair value level

Bonds (immunized cash flows) $ 178,976 $ 96,983 $ 81,993 $ -8 -
Cash and cash equivalents 51,340 51,340 - - -
Commodities 79,835 - - - 79,835
Core real estate 148,683 6,304 - - 142,379
Emerging market bonds 116,277 - - - 116,277
Growth real estate 101,577 - - - 101,577
High yield debt 17,678 89 - - 17,589
International currency contract, net 65 65 - - -
Market neutral strategies 263,211 - - - 263,211
Private debt 189,201 - 10,332 8,493 170,376
Private equity 460,412 - - 2,580 457,832
Private real assets 34,679 - - - 34,679
Public equity 1,185,780 341,883 - - 843,897
Short-term investment grade bonds 722,360 722,360 - - -
Sovereign bonds exUS 102,860 - 102,860 - -
Treasuryinflation-protected securities 74,200 74,200 - - -
Total investments measured at fair value level $ 3,727,134 $ 1,293,224 § 195,185 §$ 11,073 § 2,227,652

FCERS Fair Value Measurement Using
Net Asset
(In Thousands) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Value (NAV)

Investments by Fair Value Level

Bonds (immunized cash flows) $ 104,988 $ 56,533 $ 48,455 $ - $ -
Cash and cash equivalents 41177 41177 - - -
Commaodities 75,975 - - - 75,975
Core real estate 98,717 - - - 98,717
Emerging market bonds 70,416 - - - 70,416
Growth real estate 52,440 - - - 52,440
International currency contracts, net 39 39 - - -
Market neutral strategies 173,354 - - - 173,354
Private debt 72,576 - 5,166 9,551 57,859
Private equity 381,075 - - 2,511 378,564
Private real assets 22,277 - - - 22,277
Public equity 791,479 244,781 - - 546,698
Short-term investment grade bonds 477,812 477,812 - - -
Treasury inflation-protected securities 44,438 44,438 - - -
Total investments measured at fair value $ 2,406,763 $ 864,780 $ 53621 $ 12,062 $ 1,476,300

Equity and Fixed Income Securities

Equity securities classified in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using prices quoted in
active markets issued by pricing vendors for these securities. Debt and equity securities classified in
Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using prices determined by the use of matrix pricing
techniques maintained by the various pricing vendors for these securities. Matrix pricing is used to
value securities based on the securities' relationship to benchmark quoted prices for similar securities
that are observable in the market place. Debt and equity securities classified in Level 3 are securities
whose inputs to valuation techniques are unobservable by the market place. Many of these securities
are priced by the issuers or industry groups for these securities. Fair value is defined as the quoted
market value on the last trading day of the period. These prices are obtained from various pricing
sources by the custodian bank for PFDRP or FCERS as applicable.
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Alternative Investments

For PFDRP, alternative investments include public equity, private equity, core real estate, growth real
estate, high yield debt, market neutral strategies, emerging market bonds, commaodities, private debt,
and private real assets. For FCERS, alternative investments include public equity, private equity,
market neutral strategies, core real estate, commodities, emerging market bonds, private debt,
growth real estate, and private real assets. These are investments for which exchange quotations
are not readily available and are valued at estimated fair value, as determined in good faith by the
General Partner (“GP”) of each investment firm retained by the Retirement Systems. These
investments are initially valued at cost with subsequent adjustments that reflect third party
transactions, financial operating results and other factors deemed relevant by the GP. The assets in
the Retirement Systems’ alternative investment programs are classified as Level 3 assets or at the
NAV Level. A more detailed explanation of the Level 3 and NAV valuation methodologies follows.

Investments in non-public equity securities are valued by the GP using one or more valuation
methodologies outlined in GASB Statement No.72, Fair Value Measurement and Application,
depending upon the availability of data required by each methodology. In some cases, the GP may
use multiple approaches to estimate a valuation range. For the immediate time period following a
transaction, the determination of the fair value for equity securities, in which no liquid trading market
exists, can generally be approximated based on the transaction price (absent any significant
developments). Thereafter, or in the interim, if significant developments relating to such portfolio
company or industry occur which may suggest a material change in value, the GP should value each
investment by applying generally accepted valuation methods including: (1) the market approach
(such as market transaction and comparable public company multiples, which are based on a
measurement of the company's historical and projected financial performance with typical metrics
including enterprise value / latest 12 months earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization (“EBITDA”) or projected fiscal year EBITDA) or (2) the income or discounted cash flow
approach.

The determination of fair value using these methodologies should take into consideration a range of
factors, including but not limited to, the price at which the investment was acquired, the nature of the
investment, local market conditions, trading values on public exchanges for comparable securities,
current and projected operating performance and financing transactions subsequent to the
acquisition of the investment. Because of the subjective nature of estimated fair value of the private
investments, such value may differ significantly from the values that would have been used had a
ready market existed for these investments. These financial instruments have been classified as
Level 3 or NAV in the fair value hierarchy, provided that the NAV is calculated and used as a practical
expedient method to estimate fair value in accordance with GAAP requirements. These investments
are not categorized within the fair value hierarchy.
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The following tables present the category, fair value, unfunded commitments, redemption frequency
and redemption notice period for investments for which fair value is presented using the NAV as of

June 30, 2019:

PFDRP

Investments Measured at the NAV as of

Unfunded

Redemption Frequency

Redemption Notice

June 30,2019 (In Thousands) Fair Value Commitments (if Currently Eligible) Period
Commodities 79,835 § - Daily 3 Days
Core real estate 142,379 14,880 Quarterly, N/A 14 -60 Days, N/A
Emerging market bonds 116,277 - Daily, Quarterly 1-45 Days
Growth real estate 101,577 77,123 N/A N/A
High yield debt 17,589 - Quarterly 60 Days
Market neutral strategies 263,211 - Weekly, Monthly, Quarterly 14 - 75 Days
Private debt 170,376 88,855 N/A N/A
Private equity 457,832 - Daily, N/A 30 Days, N/A
Private real assets 34,679 15,188 N/A N/A
Public equity 843,897 - Daily, Monthly, Quarterly 1-90 Days
Total investments measured at the NAV 2,227,652 $ 196,046

FCERS
Investments Measured at the NAV as of Unfunded Redemption Frequency Redemption Notice
June 30,2019 (In Thousands) Fair Value Commitments (if Currently Eligible) Period
Commodities 75975 § - Daily 3 Days
Core real estate 98,717 - Quarterly, N/A 14 -60 Days, N/A
Emerging market bonds 70,416 - Daily, Quarterly 1-45 Days
Growth real estate 52,440 37,760 N/A N/A
Market neutral strategies 173,354 - Weekly, Monthly, Quarterly 14 - 75 Days
Private debt 57,859 88,580 N/A N/A
Private equity 378,564 - Daily, N/A 30 Days, N/A
Private real assets 22,277 7,652 N/A N/A
Public equity 546,698 - Daily, Monthly, Quarterly 1-90 Days
Total investments measured at the NAV 1,476,300 $ 133,992

Public equity

For PFDRP, this type includes investments in eight commingled investment funds, three long / short
limited partnership funds and three separate accounts. Public equities are shares of ownership of
a firm listed on an exchange; PFDRP holds global public equities in order to benefit from their total
return (capital appreciation plus current yield) over a long-term horizon. Five commingled funds
offer daily liquidity with one day notice and one is monthly with two weeks’ notice. One long / short
fund offers monthly redemptions with three month notice. The remaining two long / short funds offer
quarterly liquidity with notice periods ranging from one to two months.

For FCERS, this type includes investments in eight commingled investment funds and three long /
short limited partnership funds. Public equities are shares of ownership of a firm listed on an
exchange; FCERS holds global public equities in order to benefit from their total return (capital
appreciation plus current yield) over a long-term horizon. Seven commingled funds offer daily
liquidity with one day notice and one is monthly with two weeks’ notice. One long / short fund offers
monthly redemptions with three month notice, one offers quarterly redemptions with one month
notice, and one offers quarterly redemptions with two months’ notice, subject to a 12.5% quarterly
gate.
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Private equity

For PFDRP, this type includes investments in one commingled investment fund and eighteen
private equity limited partnership funds, which generally invest in privately held companies. These
investments cannot be redeemed early from the funds. Instead, the nature of the investments in
this type is that distributions are received through the liquidation of the underlying assets of the fund.
The only way to exit these funds is through a sale in a secondary market. The commingled
investment offers daily liquidity with a thirty day notice.

For FCERS, this type includes investments in one commingled investment fund and nine private
equity limited partnership funds, which generally invest in privately held companies. These
investments cannot be redeemed early from the funds. Instead, the nature of the investments in
this type is that distributions are received through the liquidation of the underlying assets of the fund.
The only way to exit these funds is through a sale in a secondary market. The commingled
investment offers daily liquidity with a thirty day notice.

Market neutral strategies

For PFDRP and FCERS, this type includes their respective investments in eleven limited
partnership hedge funds that invest both long and short in a wide array of securities, including listed
and OTC derivatives, and typically use leverage and hedging to capture directional market
movements or relative market mispricing. The redemption frequencies range from weekly to
quarterly with notice periods of two weeks to 75 days. Three funds have 25% investor-level
redemption gates, one fund has a 20% fund level gate, one fund has a fund-level gate of 8.33%,
and one fund had a 2-year lock that was in effect until August 31, 2020.

Private debt

For PFDRP, this type includes investments in ten private debt limited partnership funds. These
investments cannot be redeemed early from the funds. Instead, the nature of the investments in
this type is that distributions are received through the liquidation of the underlying assets of the fund.
The only way to exit these funds is through a sale in a secondary market.

For FCERS, this type includes investments in seven private debt limited partnership funds. These
investments cannot be redeemed early from the funds. Instead, the nature of the investments in this
type is that distributions are received through the liquidation of the underlying assets of the fund.
The only way to exit these funds is through a sale in a secondary market.

Bonds (immunized cash flows)

For PFDRP and FCERS, this type includes their respective investments in one separate account.
Bonds (immunized cash flows) are investments in cash flows of US governments and corporations
where the payout of cash flows are matched against a forecasted liability stream. The goal of an
immunized cash flow portfolio is to ensure the Retirement Systems have adequate liquidity to meet
cash outflows.
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Core real estate

For PFDRP and FCERS, this type includes their respective investments in one open-end real estate
fund, one closed-end real estate fund and two real estate limited partnership funds. Core real estate
funds typically invest in physical properties. The goal of core real estate is to produce price
appreciation and income for the Retirement Systems while maintaining a low correlation to stocks
and bonds held by the Retirement Systems. The closed-end real estate funds cannot be redeemed
early from the funds. Instead, the nature of the investments in this type is that distributions are
received through the liquidation of the underlying assets of the fund. The only way to exit both the
closed end fund and the limited partnership fund is through a sale in a secondary market. The
open-end real estate funds offer quarterly redemptions with notice periods of two weeks and three
months.

Emerging market bonds

For PFDRP, this type includes investments in two limited partnership funds. Emerging market
bonds funds typically invest in contractual cash flows of governments and other sovereign entities,
corporations, securitizations, and derivatives thereof in emerging market countries with a sovereign
rating less than BBB-. One partnership has quarterly redemption period with a notice period of 45
days; the other has a daily redemption period with 1 day notice period.

For FCERS, this type includes investments in two limited partnership funds. Emerging market
bonds funds typically invest in contractual cash flows of governments and other sovereign entities,
corporations, securitizations, and derivatives thereof in emerging market countries with a sovereign
rating less than BBB-. One partnership has quarterly redemption period with a notice period of 45
days; the other has a daily redemption period with 1 day notice period.

Growth real estate

For PFDRP and FCERS, this type includes their respective investments in thirteen limited
partnership real estate funds which generally invest in physical properties. The goal of growth real
estate is to produce the Retirement Systems price appreciation and income while maintaining a low
correlation to stocks and bonds. The only way to exit these funds is through a sale in a secondary
market.

Sovereign bonds ex US

For PFDRP, this type includes investments in one commingled fund. Foreign bond funds typically
invest in contractual cash flows of governments and other sovereign entities in developed market
countries with a sovereign rating greater than BBB-. The commingled fund offer daily liquidity with
notice periods of one day.

Commodities

For PFDRP and FCERS, this type includes their respective investments in one limited partnership
commodities funds. Commodities are physical or tangible assets that have value due to their
substance and properties. The goal of commodities is to help the portfolio maintain purchasing
power through periods of inflation. The commodities funds offer daily liquidity with three business
days’ notice.
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Treasury inflation-protected securities

For PFDRP and FCERS, this type includes their respective investments in one commingled
investment fund. Treasury inflation-protected securities (“TIPS”) funds typically invest in contractual
cash flows of US governments where the amount of principal outstanding is indexed to inflation.
The goal of TIPS is to help the portfolio maintain purchasing power through periods of inflation. The
commingled funds offer daily liquidity with notice periods of one day.

Private real assets

For PFDRP and FCERS, this type includes their respective investments in three limited partnership
real asset funds. Private real assets are physical or tangible assets that have value due to their
substance and properties. The goal of real assets is to help the portfolio maintain purchasing power
through periods of inflation. The only way to exit these funds is through a sale in a secondary
market.

High yield debt
For PFDRP, this type includes investments in one commingled investment fund. High yield debt
funds typically invest in contractual cash flows of corporations, securitizations, and derivatives thereof

with a credit rating less than BBB-. The commingled fund has a quarterly redemption period with
notice periods of 60 days.
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B. Receivables, Net of Allowances

At June 30, 2019, receivables of the City’s major individual funds and nonmajor funds taken in
aggregate, including the applicable allowance for uncollectible accounts, are as follows (in
thousands):

Low and Moderate Special Internal Total
Receivables - General Housing Income Assessment Nonmajor Service Governmental
Governmental Activities: Fund Activities Housing Asset Districts Funds Funds Activities
Taxes $ 62,075 § - § -8 - 9§ 10251 § -3 72,326
Accrued interest 2,536 680 2,246 122 4,759 154 10,497
Grants 1,106 1,963 - - 4910 - 7,979
Special assessments - - - 27,400 - - 27,400
Other 36,057 53 28 2,620 18,798 323 57,879
Less: allowance for uncollectibles (23,618) (3) - (5) (3,732) (2) (27,360)
Total receivables, net $ 78156 § 2693 § 2214 § 30137 § 34986 § 475§ 148,721
Norman Y. Mineta
San José Wastewater Municipal San José Total
Receivables - International Treatment Water Parking Clean Business-Type
Business-Type Activities: Airport System System System Energy Activities
Accounts $ 16,161 § 8215 § 11655 § 130§ 221 % 78,382
Accrued interest 1,753 2,669 169 248 62 4,901
Grants 2,326 - - - - 2,326
Less: allowance for uncollectibles (283) (398) (1,162) (25) - (1,868)
Total receivables, net $ 19,957 § 10486 § 10662 § 353§ 42,283 § 83,741

Special assessment receivables in the amount of $27,400,000 are not expected to be collected within
the subsequent year.

C. Loans Receivable, Net of Allowances

The composition of the City’s loans receivable balance for governmental funds, net of the allowance
for uncollectible accounts, as of June 30, 2019 is as follows (in thousands):

Low and Moderate Nonmajor Total
General Housing Income Governmental Governmental
Type of Loan Fund Activities Housing Asset Funds Activities
Housing Program Developer, rehabilitation,
second mortgage and relocation loans $ - $ 50612 § 474869 § - $ 525,481
Loans funded by federal grants - 83,231 - 5,023 88,254
Economic development, real estate developer
and other loans 1,241 - - - 1,241
Less: allowance for uncollectibles - (63,632) (261,701) (2,061) (327,394)
Total loans, net $ 1,241 $ 70,211 $ 213,168 $ 2,962 $ 287,582

The City uses funds generated from the loan repayment program income as well as other state and
federal funding sources to offer financial assistance to qualified developers, individuals, and families
by providing loans at “below market” interest rates.
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Typical loans and related terms are summarized as follows:

Loan Type Interest Rates Due
New construction and permanent 0-4% up to 55 years
Multi-unit rental rehabilitation 3% 5 or more years
First time home buyer 4% 7 to 40 years
Home improvement 3-6% 1 to 30 years

Loans are secured by first, second, third or lower in lien-property deeds of trust except for first time
homebuyer loans, which are all secured by second deeds of trust. Interest and principal are typically
due in installments, except for first time homebuyer loans, which do not require payments until their
maturity dates.

The City has also invested in multi-family rental housing projects serving very low to moderate income
individuals through subordinate loans with terms of up to 55 years. Generally, these loans are to be
repaid through fixed payments or net cash flow payments from project operations and the term and
potential risk of each loan varies. Because of the net cash flow feature of these subordinate loans,
there is greater risk of variability in the timing of payments and, potentially, a lower probability of
eventual repayment on these subordinate loans than on other loan types.

The City maintains a valuation allowance against loans receivable comprised of an allowance for risk
and an allowance for present value discount. The allowance for risk is maintained to provide for
losses that can be reasonably anticipated. The allowance is based upon continuing consideration of
changes in the character of the portfolio, evaluation of current economic conditions, and such other
factors that, in the City’s judgment, deserve recognition in estimating potential loan losses. The
allowance for risk takes into consideration maturity dates, interest rates, and other relevant factors.

In accordance with City policy, loans are funded at below market rates of interest and include
amortized net cash flow deferred repayment terms. This policy exists to enhance the well-being of
the recipients or beneficiaries of the financial assistance, who, as described above, are very low, low,
or moderate-income individuals or families, or developers of housing for such individuals or families.

Accordingly, for financial statement purposes, the City has established an allowance account against
the loans receivable balance containing a present value discount. The present value discount gives
recognition to the economic cost of providing loans at interest rates below market, and represents an
estimate of the present value of projected net cash flows to the City from the loan portfolio. The
present value discount attributable to the loans will be recognized as interest income only as such
loans are repaid in full because of the deferred nature of the loan portfolio and the high level of
uncertainty relating to the likelihood that cash flows will occur as projected. The difference between
the individual outstanding loan balances and the calculated net present value of the loans results in
the allowance for present value discount. Losses are recognized as an addition to the allowance and
any subsequent recoveries are deducted from the allowance.

The City’s management believes the combined amount of the aforementioned risk and present value
discount allowances is adequate to reflect the net realizable value of the Community Development
Block Grant (‘CDBG”) loans, Home Investment Partnership Program (“HOME”) loans, and Low and
Moderate Income Housing Asset Fund loans receivable as of June 30, 2019.

In the normal course of operations for housing programs, the City has outstanding commitments to
extend credit, which have been encumbered as of June 30, 2019. These commitments involve
elements of credit and interest rate risk similar to those described above for outstanding loans
receivable. As of June 30, 2019, amounts committed to extend credit under normal lending
agreements totaled approximately $12,141,000.
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D. Capital Assets

1. Summary Schedule

The following is a summary of capital assets activity for the year ended June 30, 2019 (in

thousands):

Governmental activities:
Capital assets, not being depreciated:
Land
Construction in progress
Total capital assets, not being depreciated
Capital assets, being depreciated:
Buildings
Improvements, other than buildings
Infrastructure
Vehicles and equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Total capital assets, being depreciated
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings
Improvements, other than buildings
Infrastructure
Vehicles and equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Total accumulated depreciation
Total capital assets, being depreciated, net
Governmental activities capital assets, net
Business-type Activities:
Capital assets, not being depreciated:
Land
Intangible assets
Construction in progress
Total capital assets, not being depreciated
Capital assets, being depreciated:
Buildings
Improvements, other than buildings
Vehicles and equipment
Total capital assets, being depreciated
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings
Improvements, other than buildings
Vehicles and equipment
Total accumulated depreciation
Total capital assets, being depreciated, net
Business-type activities capital assets, net

Balance Balance
July 1,2018 Additions Deletions  Transfers June 30,2019
$ 409,022 $ 48,701 $ 28,954 $ 27,062 $ 455,831

46,570 77,430 - (16,917) 107,083
455,592 126,131 28,954 10,145 562,914
1,654,217 146 38,053 2,364 1,618,674
278,832 441 - 6,179 285,452
11,543,605 14,177 - 3,128 11,560,910
143,121 18,459 2,963 5,246 163,863
27,498 311 - - 27,809
13,647,273 33,534 41,016 16,917 13,656,708
653,865 42,290 17,593 - 678,562
54,425 8,375 - - 62,800
7,950,287 161,331 - - 8,111,618
100,240 13,867 2,960 - 111,147
27,120 168 - - 27,288

8,785,937 226,031 20,553 - 8,991,415

4,861,336 (192,497) 20,463 16,917 4,665,293
$ 5,316,928 $ (66,366) $ 49,417 $ 27,062 $ 5,228,207
$ 137938 § -3 - 8 - 8 137,938

12,882 - - - 12,882
183,980 168,423 - (104,236) 248,167
334,800 168,423 - (104,236) 398,987

1,673,091 3,990 2,284 48,525 1,723,322

1,292,092 36,745 - 16,749 1,345,586

278,805 11,640 813 38,962 328,594
3,243,988 52,375 3,097 104,236 3,397,502
627,083 40,574 2,013 - 665,644
641,430 31,914 - - 673,344
186,951 10,700 813 - 196,838

1,455,464 83,188 2,826 - 1,535,826

1,788,524 (30,813) 271 104,236 1,861,676
$ 2,123,324 $ 137,610 $ 271 $ - $ 2,260,663
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2. Depreciation

Depreciation expense charged to various governmental and business-type activities of the City for
the year ended June 30, 2019 is as follows (in thousands):

Governmental activities:

General government $ 9,212
Public safety 10,246
Capital maintenance 169,139
Community services 35,019
Capital assets held by City's internal service funds 2,415

Total depreciation expense - governmental activities $ 226,031

Business-type activities:

Norman Y. Mineta San José International Airport $ 49,026
Wastewater Treatment System 29,616
Municipal Water System 2,798
Parking System 1,748

Total depreciation expense - business-type activities $ 83,188

3. Capitalized Interest

Interest costs that are related to the acquisition of buildings and improvements and equipment
acquired with tax-exempt and taxable debt are capitalized for business-type activities. The amount
of interest to be capitalized is calculated by offsetting interest expense incurred from the date of the
borrowing until completion of the project, with interest earned on invested taxable and tax-exempt
debt proceeds over the same period. Capitalized interest cost is prorated to completed projects
based on the completion date of each project. However, the City decided to early implement GASB
Statement No. 89 that was issued in June 2018. This statement requires that interest costs incurred
before the end of a construction period be recognized as an expense in the period in which the cost
is incurred for financial statements prepared using the economic resources measurement focus. As
a result, interest cost incurred before the end of a construction period will not be included in the
historical cost of a capital asset reported under business-type activities. The City has updated the
Capitalized Interest policy to no longer capitalize interest for the Wastewater Treatment System Fund
which had an immaterial impact to the financial statements. Application of Statement No. 89 is
effective for the City’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2021, and will be applied to all remaining funds in
subsequent years.

4. Construction Commitments

Commitments outstanding as of June 30, 2019, related to governmental and business-type activities
construction in progress totaled approximately $10,734,000 and $164,544,000, respectively.
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E. Leases
1. Operating Leases as Lessee

The City has commitments under various operating lease agreements requiring annual rental
payments, which are described as follows:

Governmental Activities

The City has ongoing commitments under operating lease agreements for business equipment, office
facilities and land necessary for City operations, which expire at various dates through 2024. Each
governmental fund includes the expenditures related to such lease agreements. There are both
cancelable and non-cancelable lease agreements. Rental expenditures reported by the General
Fund and the Nonmajor Governmental Funds under these operating lease agreements for the year
ended June 30, 2019 amounted to approximately $2,185,000 and $50,000, respectively.

The future minimum lease payments anticipated under the existing lease commitments, as of
June 30, 2019, are as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Nonmajor Total
Ending Governmental Governmental
June 30, General Fund Funds Activities
2020 $ 2,258<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>